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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Da (Chairman)
Mr. BAI Tao (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. WANG Jianfei
Mr. FUNG Wai Shing (resigned with effect from 5 March 2021)
Mr. TAN Yingzhong (Chief Financial Officer)
 (appointed with effect from 1 April 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Sik Yuen
Prof. SHA Zhenquan
Mr. JING Dacheng

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LAU Sik Yuen (Chairperson)
Prof. SHA Zhenquan
Mr. JING Dacheng

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Prof. SHA Zhenquan (Chairperson)
Mr. BAI Tao
Mr. JING Dacheng

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Prof. SHA Zhenquan (Chairperson)
Mr. BAI Tao
Mr. JING Dacheng

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. OR Chun Wai Dennis

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. BAI Tao
Mr. OR Chun Wai Dennis

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1–1111, Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS OF THE GROUP’S 
SUBSIDIARIES IN CHINA

Unit Nos. 2201 to 2208
Level 22, South Tower, Poly International Plaza
No. 1 Pazhou Avenue East, Haizhu District
Guangzhou City, The PRC
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 5706, 57th Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER 
OFFICE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House, 3rd Floor, 24 Shedden Road
P.O. Box 1 586, Grand Cayman KY1–1110
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND 
TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited
Suites 3301–04, 33/F
Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King’s Road,
North Point, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest 
 Entity Auditor
801–806 Silvercord, Tower 1, 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui 
Kowloon, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR

David Lo & Partners
Suite 402, 4th Floor, Nan Fung Tower,
88 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd
China Great Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd
Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd
Jincheng Bank Co., Ltd
Bank of Dongguan Co., Ltd

STOCK CODE

00866

WEBSITE

http://www.qinfagroup.com
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Summary of the Group’s results, assets, liabilities and equity 
for the last five financial years is set out below:

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December
�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë �Z�g�S�^�Ë �Z�g�S�V�Ë �Z�g�S�¬�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©       

Turnover ���8�X 2,247,363 2,799,520 3,652,869 3,005,671 716,187
Gross profit �ã�; 355,315 406,558 390,674 686,628 36,503
Results from operating 
 activities

�¾���z
��8�6
(3,946,158) 287,071 2,024,200 5,065,153 319,922

(Loss)/profit before 
 taxation

	ð�ü�Ã�€�f�&�•�J�P�;
(4,312,998) (4,506) 1,759,082 4,686,441 (127,033)

Income tax credit/
 (expense)

�Ô
{�ü�ê�5�J�€
š�Õ�•
876,128 85,229 (75,614) (962,091) (189,694)

(Loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f�&�•�J�P�; (3,436,870) 80,723 1,683,468 3,724,350 (316,727)
(Loss)/profit attributable 
 to:

�Ð�&�€�f�&�•�J�P�;�j

 Equity shareholders 
  of the Company

 �I�®�!�Æ	B�5�Þ�[
(2,901,499) 81,421 1,504,509 3,158,349 (330,542)

 Non-controlling 
  interests

 �¢
›�p�Æ	B
(535,371) (698) 178,959 566,001 13,815       

(3,436,870) 80,723 1,683,468 3,724,350 (316,727)

Coal handling and 
 trading volume 
 (’000 tonnes)

�i�•�¾���¿
q�ø
Ž
 �€�w�š�•

5,964 7,602 10,167 7,062 2,123       

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

As at 31 December
�õ�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë �Z�g�S�^�Ë �Z�g�S�V�Ë �Z�g�S�¬�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©       

Total assets ���*�<�= 5,297,925 9,354,633 9,874,769 10,298,242 5,662,432
Total liabilities ��
À�<�= (8,194,009) (8,789,369) (9,391,923) (11,502,859) (10,583,739)
Total (deficit)/equity �€�f�Y�•�J�Æ	B�<�X (2,896,084) 565,264 482,846 (1,204,617) (4,921,307)       

�I
«� �õ�@���ž�H	Ì�A�Ë���Y�8�6�e���*�e��
À
�¿�Æ	B�Ü���½�h�j

�8�6

���*�e��
À�¿�Æ	B
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors” or the 
“Board”) of China Qinfa Group Limited (the “Company”), 
I hereby present the annual result of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 
2020.

2020 is undoubtedly a year full of severe challenges with the 
global economy overshadowed by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
In view of the macroeconomic situation, companies across the 
globe are inevitably facing a difficult business environment, 
while we believe that this is the moment when efficient 
management strategies will make a difference, for which the 
management has set clear and precise targets, in an attempt 
to lead the team to create opportunities for the Group.

In 2020, the Group concentrated its resources on the coal mine 
project in Indonesia, which will be the key to our expansion 
in overseas markets in the future. Over the past year, our 
technical team in Indonesia has been very enthusiastic in 
advancing the construction of the coal mine there, with the 
acquisition of the Indonesian coal mine continuing to make 
significant progress. In addition, the Group managed to 
maintain an agreeable growth in the domestic coal market, 
securing new contracts with new customers and partners that 
aimed for long-term relationships.

Looking forward, to ensure the sustainable development of our 
business, we will steer the Group towards a new direction of 
development. In the face of the macroeconomic uncertainties 
and volatility of the coal market, the management will adjust 
its strategies in a prudent and flexible manner to take on 
the current and future challenges with enhanced financial 
flexibility, which will be the key concern of the Board.
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“Integrity and Diligence” has been the management principle 
of the Group, pursuant to which we will continue to closely 
monitor the operational details of our businesses and review 
its effectiveness from time to time. In addition to actively 
extending our business reach into new areas, the Group will 
focus on maintaining its leading position with sustainable 
growth in its core business, the coal market, and strive to 
become an industry leader.

Finally, I would like to thank all our staff and the Board 
members for their invaluable efforts, contributions and 
dedication in the past year. Most importantly, on behalf of 
the Group, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our 
trustable shareholders, customers and partners for their 
continued support. The Group has been committed to creating 
significant value for our shareholders, and I look forward to 
reporting to you again on the Group’s latest development and 
sharing with you the results we have achieved in our future 
reports.

Xu Da

Chairman
31 March 2021
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The Group is a leading non-state owned thermal coal supplier 
in China, and it operates an integrated coal supply chain, 
including coal mining, purchase and sales, filtering, storage, 
blending of coal in the PRC and shipping transportation 
business. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the 
Group continued to focus on these business activities and 
expanded its integrated coal supply chain through upward 
vertical integration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In early 2020, in response to the coronavirus disease 2019 
(“COVID-19”) outbreak, the Chinese government actively took a 
number of measures since late January. In line with the national 
epidemic prevention policy, the Group briefly suspended coal 
mine operations in February; however, with due regard to 
the safety of employees and as far as practicable, the Group 
gradually resumed coal mine production and coal sales in 
March and resumed work sooner than expected. For the year 
ended 31 December 2020, the production volumes of raw 
coal and commercial coal were 8.78 million tonnes and 5.71 
million tonnes respectively, representing a decrease of 12.4% 
as compared with the Group’s production volumes in 2019, but 
still at a relatively high level.

Coal price had a low start followed by an upward trend 
throughout the year

Overall, coal price had a drop in the first half of year 2020 
followed by an upward trend for the most part of the year 
2020. The average coal selling prices and the coal industry’s 
earnings continued the upward trend in last year. During the 
first quarter, the coal industry was affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic and various industries continued to shut down, 
resulting in generally low coal consumption and weak support 
from demands of coal downstream industries. In addition, the 
completion of the de-capacity task and the gradual release of 
advanced capacity contributed to the overall easing of supply 
and demand in the coal industry, resulting in a significant 
downward trend in coal prices. However, with the pandemic 
under control, the domestic economy improved and coal 
downstream enterprises resumed work and production. As a 
result, raw coal prices picked up in the third quarter and rose 
to a high level for the year in the fourth quarter.
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Indonesia coal mine project

The acquisition of the coal mine of PT Sumber Daya Energi 
(“SDE”) in Indonesia will be one of the most important 
investment project of the Group. The Group’s coal mine 
acquisition project with parties in Indonesia is progressing the 
various government approvals for the acquisition of the SDE. 
The Group has dispatched its domestic experts and technical 
team to Indonesia to carry out preliminary exploration work and 
plan the implementation of the project.

In addition, pursuant to the conditional sale and purchase 
agreement dated 7 August 2020 (the “CSPA”), the closing 
date between the Group and the vendor shall be before 
31 December 2020. Given the current circumstances and 
since additional time is required to satisfy certain conditions 
precedent in the revised provisions, the vendor and the 
purchaser have agreed in writing to further extend the closing 
date to 30 June 2021. On 31 March 2021, the Group made a 
disclosure announcement to update the market and the Board 
seeks to complete each process in full compliance with the 
regulations and with minimum risk.
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As of 31 December 2020, the Group owned and operated five 
coal mines in the PRC. The table sets forth certain information 
about these coal mines.

Location Ownership Site area
Production 

capacity Operation status

�®�Ã
�¹�Þ

�õ�±�â �&�� �[�*	•�b ���6�K�1

(sq. km)
(million 
tonnes)

�€�;�Ù�®�"�• �€�õ�¬�š�•      

Huameiao Energy
 – Xingtao Coal

Shuozhou Shanxi 80% 4.25 1.5 Under operation


6�Õ
ó	•�U – �3�×�i�8 �†���ä�È ���6�•

Huameiao Energy 
 – Fengxi Coal

Shuozhou Shanxi 80% 2.43 0.9 Under operation


6�Õ
ó	•�U – 
¹���i�8 �†���ä�È ���6�•

Huameiao Energy
 – Chongsheng Coal

Shuozhou Shanxi 80% 2.88 0.9 Under operation


6�Õ
ó	•�U – 
^�º�i�8 �†���ä�È ���6�•

Shenda Energy 
 – Xinglong Coal

Xinzhou Shanxi 100% 4.01 0.9 Under development 
 (Temporarily 
 suspended)

	Z�:	•�U – �3
¤�i�8 �†���Š�È 
š�ï�•�€�r	þ�•

Shenda Energy 
 – Hongyuan Coal

Xinzhou Shanxi 100% 1.32 0.9 Under development 
 (Temporarily 
 suspended)

	Z�:	•�U – �ƒ�Ã�i�8 �†���Š�È 
š�ï�•�€�r	þ�•
      

The Group engaged an independent mineral industry 
consultant to estimate the total coal reserves and resources as 
of 31 December 2020 in accordance with the JORC Code.

�I
«� �‰�Ì�S
œ�ù�m�$�8�¥
*�ì�½JORC �_�Æ��
���Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y�<�i�•�·
Ž
�¿���U
Ž�f
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COAL CHARACTERISTICS

Characteristics and typical commercial coal quality of the 
commercial coal produced by the Group’s operating mines are 
as follows:

Huameiao 
Energy – 

Xingtao Coal

Huameiao 
Energy – 

Fengxi Coal

Huameiao 
Energy – 

Chongsheng 
Coal

Shenda 
Energy –

Xinglong 
Coal

Shenda 
Energy –

Hongyuan 
Coal

Coal Quality Characteristic �i�/	$�D

6�Õ
ó	•�U – 

�3�×�i�8

6�Õ
ó	•�U – 


¹���i�8

6�Õ
ó	•�U – 


^�º�i�8
	Z�:	•�U – 

�3
¤�i�8
	Z�:	•�U – 

�ƒ�Ã�i�8       

Coal Seam �i�4 4, 8, 9, 10, 11 4, 9, 11 4, 9, 11 2, 5 2, 5, 6
Moisture (%) �å�±(%) 7–10 8–12 8–12 8.5 8.5
Ash (db, %) �ò�±(db�d %) 20–28 20–28 20–28 21.45 30–72
Sulfur (db, %) �^�?
Ž�€ db�d %�• 1.4–1.9 1.2–1.6 1.6–2.5 1.52 1.45
Calorific Value (average, 
 kcal/kg, net, ar)

	÷�ï� �=�€�;�i�e�w���J�w�4�e
 ���=�ear �• 4,650–5,200 4,600–5,150 4,600–5,150 4,838 4,187
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OPERATING DATA
 
Reserves and Resources

Huameiao 
Energy – 

Xingtao
Coal

Huameiao 
Energy – 

Fengxi
Coal

Huameiao 
Energy –

Chongsheng 
Coal

Shenda 
Energy – 
Xinglong 

Coal

Shenda 
Energy – 

Hongyuan 
Coal Total


6�Õ
ó
	•�U –

�3�×�i�8


6�Õ
ó
	•�U –


¹���i�8


6�Õ
ó
	•�U –


^�º�i�8

	Z�:
	•�U –

�3
¤�i�8

	Z�:
	•�U –

�ƒ�Ã�i�8 �<��        

Reserves �·
Ž
Reserves as of 1 January  
 2020 (Mt)

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú�Y
 �·
Ž�€�õ�¬�š�•

 –  Proven reserves  –  �Š
ž�ü�·
Ž 16.37 4.45 4.21 – – 25.03
 –  Probable reserves  –  �����·
Ž 4.02 7.25 6.50 13.50 10.46 41.73

Total reserves as of 1 January
  2020 (Mt)

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú�Y
 �<�·
Ž�€�õ�¬�š�• 20.39 11.70 10.71 13.50 10.46 66.76

Less:   Total raw coal production  
 for the year (Mt)

�¯�j  �Ë�«�a�i�<�*
Ž  
 �€�õ�¬�š�• (3.30) (2.84) (2.65) – – (8.79)        

Reserves as of 31 December
  2020 (Mt)

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü
 �g�d�S�Ú�Y�·
Ž�€�õ�¬�š�• 17.09 8.86 8.06 13.50 10.46 57.97

        

Resources ���U
Ž
Resources as of 1 January  
 2020 (Mt)

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú�Y
 ���U
Ž�€�õ�¬�š�• 52.81 22.77 23.02 35.08 20.87 154.55

Less:   Total raw coal production  
 for the year (Mt)

�¯�j  �Ë�«�a�i�<�*
Ž  
 �€�õ�¬�š�• (3.30) (2.84) (2.65) – – (8.79)        

Resources as of 31 December 
 2020 (Mt)

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü
 �g�d�S�Ú�Y���U
Ž�€�õ�¬�š�• 49.51 19.93 20.37 35.08 20.87 145.76
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Consulting China Ltd.�€�˜ SRK Consulting�™�•�ì�½
�æ�r
��_
����e�$�*���U
Ž�¿�$�i�·
Ž���S�_�Æ

�€�˜ JORC�_�Æ�™�•�����Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S
�Ú�Y�<�i�•�·
Ž�¿���U
Ž�f�ì�½SRK Consulting
�õ �Z �g �Z �S�Ë� ï � � �Y �¥ � � �ø � [ � { � � �S�€� ˜�¥ � � �ø
� [ � { � � �S�™�•�d �õ �Z �g �Z �g �Ë�d �Z �Ü�g �d �S�Ú� ì
�½JORC�_�Æ
{���Y�<�i�•���U
Ž�¿�·
Ž�±�9�Ò
�‰145.76�õ�¬�š�¿ 57.97�õ�¬�š�d�þ�a�‹�±�9�‰
307.09�õ�¬�š�¿198.49�õ�¬�š�f�Þ�ë�	
‹�d��
�
�a�M�#�4	À���~�±��� �̃i�•
®�$�Æ�e�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿
�£�ê�Y�¯�=�f�&�™�f

�I�®�!�è�+�‡���‰�Ì�¥���ø�[�{SRK Consulting
�1�k JORC�_�Æ� �-
Y���I
«� �Ô�Þ�i�$�õ�Z�g
�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y� i � • � · 
Ž � f � ì �½SRK 
Consult ing �õ�Z�g�Z�S�Ë� � �H�Y�¥� � �ø� [ � { � �
�S�d�I�®�!�è�+�©�‰�i�•�·
Ž�Y����
Ž
²
†����
�Æ�f

The Group engaged a new independent mineral industry 
consultant, namely SRK Consult ing China Ltd. (“SRK 
Consulting”), to estimate the total coal reserves and resources 
as of 31 December 2020 in accordance with the Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves (the “JORC Code”). According to the 
Competent Person’s Report issued by SRK Consulting in 2021 
(“CPR”), the total coal resources and reserves in accordance 
with JORC Code were approximately 145.76 million tones and 
57.97 million tonnes respectively as at 31 December 2020, 
as compared with the original of 307.09 million tonnes and 
198.49 million tonnes respectively. For detail, please refer to 
the section headed “Impairment loss on coal mining rights, 
property, plant and equipment” of the Management Discussion 
and Analysis.

The directors of the Company then appointed a competent 
person, namely SRK Consulting, to re-assess the coal reserves 
of all the Group’s coal mines as at 31 December 2020 under 
JORC Code. Based on the CPR issued by SRK Consulting 
in 2021, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that 
the estimated amounts of the coal reserves are required to be 
adjusted.
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The following table sets forth the full-year production figures at 
the abovementioned mines for the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December
�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

(’000 tonnes) (’000 tonnes)
Raw coal production volume �a�i�*
Ž �€�w�š�• �€�w�š�•    

Huameiao Energy – Xingtao Coal 
6�Õ
ó	•�U – �3�×�i�8 3,296 3,601
Huameiao Energy – Fengxi Coal 
6�Õ
ó	•�U – 
¹���i�8 2,839 3,303
Huameiao Energy – Chongsheng Coal 
6�Õ
ó	•�U – 
^�º�i�8 2,650 3,125    

Total �<�� 8,785 10,029
    

Year ended 31 December
�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Commercial coal production (’000 tonnes) (’000 tonnes)
volume (Note) 
 �8�i�*
Ž�€�•
W�• �€�w�š�• �€�w�š�•    

Huameiao Energy – Xingtao Coal 
6�Õ
ó	•�U – �3�×�i�8 2,142 2,341
Huameiao Energy – Fengxi Coal 
6�Õ
ó	•�U – 
¹���i�8 1,846 2,147
Huameiao Energy – Chongsheng Coal 
6�Õ
ó	•�U – 
^�º�i�8 1,722 2,031    

Total �<�� 5,710 6,519
    

Note: According to the CPR as at cut-off date of 31 December 2020, the 
historical operation of the Xingtao Coal, Fengxi Coal and Chongsheng 
Coal achieved an average of 65% of mixed marketable raw coal yield.
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q �ø
Ž� ¯ �Ç
21.55%�f�õ�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë
���«�Y�i�•
/���§�÷�Ê�š�[�O�Æ192�©���Ê�š�[
�O�Æ586�©�d�~�Z�g�S�X�Ë�§�÷�Ê�š�[�O�Æ221�©
���Ê�š�[�O�Æ536�©�Y�Í���´�â	�
��0�}�f�i�•
�;�i
/���õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�,�Ü�¿�ž�Ü�}�7�h�%�f�Í
�þ�d�_�õ�A�´�Á�-�è�¿�K	7�m
®�_�Y�Þ�Ö�Y�#�Í

£�D�d�ø�¿�A�´�"�S
†�y�i�Y�A
��d�˜�����ø�¼
���j���d�(�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�µ�:�ç�ð	÷�¤�f

�Ú� � �Z �g �Z�g �Ë�d �Z�Ü�g�d �S�Ú�ß�g �H�Ë� � �¢
�Ë�d�;�i�i�•�V
/���ø�~�;�i�Ê�Ü�i�•�¾���¿
q
�ø
Ž�1�•�õ�h�Œ�j

Coal business

Year ended 31 December
�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��
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����Ò�f�I
«� ��
�Ò�µ�p���õ�•
7�6	��®
��d�ï�e�@
®�…�i�•�\�õ
�÷�ð�@�û�d�ø�*�[�‹�Û�\�õ�ï�e�¿�ï� �f�h�Œ�1
�•�I
«� �õ�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü
�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���2���8�±�Å�Œ�±�Y�i�•�8
��×�]
�Y���Ø�j

	˜�6�6�i

�Ú� � �Z �g �Z�g �Ë�d �Z�Ü�g�d �S�Ú�ß�Ë� � �8 � � � .
�Å���Ò�Y	˜�6�6�i�±�Å�×�]�‰�[�O�Æ57,300,000
�©�d�þ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�•�‚�‰�[�O�Æ78,700,000�©�f
�I
«� �õ	˜�6�6�i�×�]�}
{27.2%�¯�Ç�d�ô���_
�õ�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë��
/�u�t�d�ò�Ë�«�6
l�¿�¬�C	a
�–�h�%�Ô�ç�f

�V
/�Ó�I

� I 
 « �   � õ � Z � g � Z � g � Ë � Y � V 
 / � Ó � I � : � [ � O
�Æ1,892 ,000 ,000 � © � d � 0 � Z � g � S � X � Ë � [ � O � Æ
2,393,000,000�©�¯�Ç20.9%�f���¯�Ç�W�_�õ�i�•
�¾���¿
q�ø
Ž�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¯�Ç�Ô�ç�f

The Group sells blended coal which is sourced solely from the 
PRC domestic markets to customers, including power plants 
and coal traders. Most of the Group’s customers are located in 
the coastal regions of China. Power plants purchase coal for 
use in the combustion processes to produce steam for power 
and heat. The following table sets forth information regarding 
the Group’s revenue from coal business by industry segment 
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Year ended 31 December
�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Revenue
Percentage 
of revenue Revenue

Percentage 
of revenue

�×�]
�&�<�×�]
�Y�õ�±�â �×�]

�&�<�×�]
�Y�õ�±�â

RMB’000 % of total RMB’000 % of total
�[�O�Æ�w�© (%) �[�O�Æ�w�© (%)      

Power plants �ï�e�@ 329,677 15.1 251,580 9.2
Coal traders �i�•
q�ø
 1,860,435 84.9 2,469,265 90.8      

Total �<�� 2,190,112 100.0 2,720,845 100.0
      

Shipping transportation

The segment revenue for shipping transportation from 
external customers for the year ended 31 December 2020 
was RMB57.3 million as compared with RMB78.7 million for 
the same period in 2019. The Group has recorded 27.2% 
decrease in shipping transportation revenue principally 
because of disposal of vessel in 2019 and decrease in freight 
rates and charter hire rates during the year.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales of the Group in 2020 amounted to RMB1,892 
million, representing a decrease of 20.9% compared with 
RMB2,393 million in 2019. The decrease was due to the 
decrease in coal handling and trading volume during the year 
of 2020.
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The table below set forth the cost of sales of the coal business 
segment:

Year ended 31 December
�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB million RMB million
�[�O�Æ�õ�¬�© �[�O�Æ�õ�¬�©    

Cost of coal purchased �.�…�i�•�Y�Ó�I 66.9 417.9
Cost of coal transportation �i�•�6�i�Y�Ó�I 723.6 727.8
Cost of self-produced coal ���*�i�•�Y�Ó�I 1,055.4 1,136.0   
 Materials, fuel, power  �a�Ø�e�÷�Ø�e
��b 131.8 160.0
 Staff costs  �p�ˆ�Ó�I 256.5 256.0
 Depreciation and amortisation  �±���¿�Å�V 461.7 523.2
 Others  �I�ü 205.4 196.8
    

Total cost of sales of coal business 
 segment

�i�•�8
��±�Å�Y�<�V
/�Ó�I
1,845.9 2,281.7

    

The Group produced coal mainly from Shanxi province in the 
PRC. The following table sets forth information regarding the 
Group’s origins of coal based on sales volume and revenue in 
2020 and 2019:

Year ended 31 December
�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Sales volume Revenue Sales volume Revenue
�V
Ž �×�] �V
Ž �×�]

Origins of coal �i�•�8�U ’000 tonnes RMB’000 ’000 tonnes RMB’000
�w�š �[�O�Æ�w�© �w�š �[�O�Æ�w�©      

China �•
7 5,964 2,190,112 7,602 2,720,845
      

The Group has stable coal production and has established 
stable cooperative relationships with its key PRC domestic 
customers.
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�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d�I
«� 
�Y�ã�;���‰15.8%�d�þ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�•�‚�Y�ã�;��
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�I�ü�×�]�e�×	B�¿�f�&

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d�~�Z�g
�S�X�Ë�×	B���X�[�O�Æ27,800,000�©�´�â�d�I
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Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit margin was 15.8% during the year 
ended 31 December 2020 as compared with gross profit 
margin of 14.5% during the same period in 2019. Gross profit 
margin increased mainly due to the increase on average coal 
price.

Other Income, Gains and Losses

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s other 
income, gains and losses amounted to a net loss of RMB137.1 
million, representing a decrease of approximately of RMB164.9 
million, as compared with a net gain of RMB27.8 million in 
2019. The decrease in other income, gains and losses in 2020 
was mainly due to the one-off loss on the further revision on 
revised repayment schedule of borrowings for the year ended 
31 December 2020.

Distribution Expenses

Distribution expenses decrease by 48.9% to RMB2.3 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2020, as compared with RMB4.5 
million in 2019. The decrease in distribution expenses was due 
to the decrease in coal handling and trading volume during the 
year.

Administrative Expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s 
administrative expenses amounted to RMB208.4 million, 
representing an increase of 48.0%, as compared with 
RMB140.8 million in 2019. The increase was mainly attributable 
to the increase in staff cost. The Group strived to provide 
competitive remuneration package to existing staffs.

Other Expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s other 
expenses amounted to RMB33.5 million, representing an 
increase of 6.0%, as compared with RMB31.6 million in 2019. 
The expense level remained constant.
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The Directors, with the assistance from an independent 
professional qualified valuer, namely BMI Appraisals Limited, 
assessed the recoverable amounts of the Group’s coal 
mines and related property, plant and equipment. Each of 
the Group’s coal mines and the related property, plant and 
equipment are considered as an individual cash-generating 
unit. The recoverable amount of each of the cash-generating 
unit was estimated based on its value in use calculation which 
uses cash flow projections based on the most recent financial 
budgets approved by the Directors of the Company covering 
a five-year period, and discount rates ranging from 13.75% 
to 20.14% (2019: 13.10% to 14.60%) which were determined 
with reference to weighted average cost of capital, and the 
available coal reserves of approximately 57.97 million tonnes 
(2019: 207.28 million tonnes), according to the CPR issued 
by SRK Consulting, which comprise of approximately 17.09 
million tonnes (2019: 65.62 million tonnes) in Xingtao Coal 
Mine, approximately 8.86 million tonnes (2019: 36.18 million 
tonnes) in Fengxi Coal Mine, approximately 8.06 million 
tonnes (2019: 42.17 million tonnes) in Chongsheng Coal Mine, 
approximately 13.50 million tonnes (2019: 32.02 million tonnes) 
in Xinglong Coal Mine and approximately 10.46 million tonnes 
(2019: 31.29 million tonnes) in Hongyuan Coal Mine, together 
with other key inputs including the estimated coal prices 
and production costs etc.. The discounted cash flow method 
under the income approach was adopted for the year ended 
31 December 2020 and 2019. Cash flows beyond the five-
year period have been extrapolated using an estimated 2.22% 
(2019: 2.28%) growth rate which is the forecasted inflation rate 
in China and do not exceed the average growth rate for the 
relevant markets. The basis of discount rates, growth rate and 
discounted cash flow method were consistently applied for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. With the assistance 
from SRK Consulting and BMI Appraisals Limited, the Directors 
of the Company concluded that the estimated recoverable 
amount of each of the following cash-generating units as at 31 
December 2020 was below the respective carrying amount of 
the cash-generating unit. As a result, impairment losses on the 
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group 
conducted a review of the Group’s assets in relation to the 
shipping segment and determined that the recoverable 
amount of certain asset which is based on the fair value less 
cost of disposal are lower than its carrying amount and, with 
reference to its value in use, would not generate future benefit 
higher than such fair value less cost of disposal to the Group 
and accordingly, impairment loss of RMB11,495,000 had been 
recognised in respect of the such asset.

The Shareholders shall exercise caution in the trading of the 
Company’s shares.

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES AND CURRENT RATIO

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had net current liabilities 
of HK$4,204.7 million, compared with HK$4,640.0 million 
as of 31 December 2019. The Group’s current ratio as of 
31 December 2020 was 0.18, compared with 0.12 as of 31 
December 2019. The current liabilities and current ratio was 
slightly improved due to increase in current assets.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred 
an aggregate capital expenditure of HK$48.2 million (2019: 
HK$206.3 million) mainly related to the purchase of plant 
and equipment. Capital commitments contracted for but not 
incurred by the Group as of 31 December 2020 amounted 
to HK$35.0 million (2019: HK$9.7 million), which were mainly 
related to the purchase of plant and equipment.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Save as disclosed in this report, there has been no material 
change in the capital structure of the Company during the year. 
The capital of the Group companies are mainly the ordinary 
shares and perpetual subordinated convertible securities 
(“PSCS”). Details of the ordinary shares and PSCS are set out 
in note 31(b) and note 31(c).
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group adopts stringent financial management policies 
and strives to maintain a healthy financial condition. The Group 
funds its business operations and general working capital by 
internally generated financial resources and bank borrowings. 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded net current 
liabilities of RMB4,204.7 million (2019: RMB4,640.0 million).

The Group has taken initiative to enhance the financial flexibility 
by diversifying the funding bases and seek medium term loans 
to replace short term loans. The Group is currently negotiating 
with financial institutions to renew and extend bank borrowings 
and consider ways to improve the Group’s working capital. 
As of 31 December 2020, the cash and cash equivalents of 
the Group amounted to RMB154.9 million (2019: RMB159.7 
million), representing a decrease of 3.01%.

As at 31 December 2020, the total bank and other borrowings 
of the Group were RMB1,971.0 million (2019: RMB2,163.3 
million), which were classified as current liabilities in which the 
aggregate borrowings and accrued interests of RMB1,144.6 
million (2019: RMB1,005.4 million) and RMB356.0 million (2019: 
RMB264.3 million) respectively were past due, and aggregate 
amounts of RMB826.4 million (2019: RMB1,091.5 million) and 
nil (2019: RMB66.5 million) were repayable within one year 
and after one year respectively from the end of reporting date 
based on the agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan 
agreements, had become due for immediate repayment as 
these bank loans contain cross default clauses are classified 
as current liabilities. These borrowings and interest payables 
were classified as current liabilities at the end of reporting 
period. The bank and other borrowings carried interest at rates 
ranging from 3.9% to 8.8% (2019: 4.75% to 8%) per annum.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total banking facilities 
of RMB910.6 million (2019: RMB1,228.7 million), of which 
RMB910.6 million (2019: RMB1,228.7 million) were utilised.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents, except amount of RMB8.6 million in United States 
dollars (“USD”) and amount of RMB0.19 million in Hong Kong 
dollars (“HKD”), were held in RMB. All the Group’s bank and 
other borrowings were made in RMB.

T h e  G r o u p  i n c u r r e d  n e t  l o s s  o f  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
RMB3,436,870,000 (2019: profit of RMB80,723,000) for the 
year ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2020, 
the Group had net liabilities and net current liabilities of 
approximately RMB2,896,084,000 and RMB4,204,749,000 
respectively (2019: net assets and net current liabilities of 
approximately RMB565,264,000 and RMB4,639,986,000) 
respectively). The impairment losses on the Group’s coal 
mining rights and the related property, plant and equipment, 
amount ing to approx imate ly RMB1,869,716,000 and 
RMB2,057,757,000 were recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2020 to reflect the Group’s change in estimate 
about the coal reserves. Although the Group strived to 
maintain positive relationship with the creditors, the Group has 
not obtained waivers from the relevant banks/lenders on these 
loans which contain cross default clauses as at the date of 
the annual report. Material uncertainties, such as demanding 
immediate repayment from the Group by the creditors, may 
arise after the disclosure of financial position for the year 
ended 31 December 2020.

The gearing ratio (calculated as borrowings netted off sum 
of cash and cash equivalents and pledged and restricted 
deposits divided by total assets) of the Group as at 31 
December 2020 was 83.8% (2019: 44.5%). The gearing 
ratio increased due to the total asset decrease according to 
increase in loss attributable to equity shareholders for the year.



24 CHINA QINFA GROUP LIMITED   �•
7	b�ï
«� �Þ�"�®�!

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

�M�#�4	À���~�±��


Ò���*
��,�ˆ 

�I
«� �˜�$�–�¿�$�–
����J�ô���ø�[�O�Æ�¿�Õ�©
�5�Þ�f�I
«� �•
7�•�n�®�!�˜���6�Õ���ô���ø�[
�O�Æ�•�=�d�þ	��.
®�…�Æ�S	›�ø�Õ�©�•�=�f�I
«
� �•�n�®�!�w�A�ø�[�O�Æ�×�_�×�]�f�ª�ä�d�è�+
�©�‰�I
«� �(�Ì�&�W� �}
Ò���*
��,�ˆ�f

�I
«� �Y���*�ê�å

�õ �Z�g �Z�g �Ë�d �Z�Ü�g�d �S�Ú�d� I 
« �   �ø � • � �
� [ �O�Æ2,534,200,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë� j � [ �O�Æ
5,036,300,000�©�•�Y�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�e�i�•
®
�$�Æ�e	a�#�k�ù�›
°�e�À�¬�e�Ð�×
q�ø�›
°�¿�Ð
�×�C�½�ø�¿�Õ���À�›
����*�*�‰�Õ���q���*�M�#
�®�!�£�I
«� 
¬�¦�Y�ê�å�f

�I
«� �Š�ê�å���*�<�X�¯�Ç�W�_�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�Y
�i�4�·
Ž�Y�����p�X���$� �}���Æ�d�¬�ç�i�•
®
�$�Æ�¿�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜�¯�=�f�&�€�½�•
W15
�¿ 16�±�9�Ô�Þ�£�•�f

�Ð�Í��
À

	ð�I�Ë���]�¥	Ì
����Œ�•
W38�Ô�Þ�£�Y�ð�•�+
°
�.�d�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I
«� �(�Ì
�‚��� �}�Ð�Í��
À�f

�ì�½�Ú�‚�‰�Z�g�S�g�Ë�d�S�Ü�d�V�Ú�¿�Z�g�S�S
�Ë�d�Ü�Z�d�¬�Ú�Y�×�…�X�D�d�-�Ù�€�¾
��õ�•�Ó�×
�…���‰�¢
›�p�p���•�•� � �( �J�H
^�º� i �$�e
¹� �
�i�$�¿�3�×�i�$�Y��
®�i�4�·
Ž�”
{�-�õ��
®�i
�4�·
Ž�ð�-�å�; 290,000,000�š�f�1�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
�i�4�·
Ž�����p�X�Y� �}���Æ�þ�
�d�I
«� �Š
š
�•�Á�¢
›�p�p���d	Î�€
R�a���f�—�a���[�€
R
°
�h�Y���D�&�µ�<�X�[�O�Æ3,331,918,853�©�
�<	×
�”�Å�±�þ���[�O�Æ3,029,168,853�©�e�D
l�[�O�Æ
300,000,000�©�¿�O
l�[�O�Æ2,750,000�©�f

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE 
RATES

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are held predominately 
in RMB and USD. Operating outgoings incurred by the Group’s 
subsidiaries in the PRC are mainly denominated in RMB while 
overseas purchases are usually denominated in USD. The 
Group’s subsidiaries usually receive revenue in RMB. Hence, 
the Directors do not consider that the Group faces significant 
exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation risk.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s assets in an aggregate 
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Up to the date of the annual report, the arbitration is in 
progress. As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not 
recognise any of such contingent assets.

FINAL DIVIDEND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2020

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final 
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In year 2021, the pandemic will begin to ease and the global 
economy is expected to demonstrate gradually recovery 
thanks to the widespread vaccination gradually rolling out. The 
domestic demand for coal is expected to increase significantly, 
and the downstream industries demand for coal will provide a 
rigid support for coal price. With the release of new production 
capacity, the domestic supply and demand of coal will be 
balanced in the coming year.

With respect to the supply side of coal, there will be some 
uncertainties in the volume of coal to be imported from 
Australia in the year to come due to the continuing restrictions 
concerning coal imports from Australia. Considering that there 
may be a slight decrease in the volume of imported coal next 
year, to ensure the stability of the supply chain, the Group will 
not only take an active approach to improve the production 
efficiency and increase the production level of coal mines 
owned by the Group, but also continue to explore investment 
opportunities to ensure supply of coal with reliable and stable 
quantity and quality.

The Group will focus on developing overseas coal markets, 
and continue to seek long-term relationships in an active 
manner. The Group aims to establish a competitive team and 
has successively set up branches in a number of countries 
across the world, including Indonesia and Singapore, striving 
to capture opportunities to commence global large-scale 
projects. In addition, the coal mine expected to be acquired by 
the Group in Indonesia is a key project for the next few years, 
and it is expected that the design and construction of the coal 
mine will commence within the year 2021, which will enhance 
the coal production volume of the Group in the future once it 
becomes operational.
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Moreover, the Company adopted a pre-IPO share option 
scheme and a post-IPO share option scheme to incentivise 
and retain staff members who have made contribution to 
the success of the Group. The Directors believe that the 
compensation packages offered by the Group to its staff 
are competitive in comparison with market standards and 
practices.

MULTIPLE UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING 
CONCERN

As se t  ou t  i n  no te  2  to  the conso l i da ted f i nanc ia l 
statements, the Group incurred net loss of approximately 
RMB3,436,870,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net liabilities and 
net current liabilities of approximately RMB2,896,084,000 and 
RMB4,204,749,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2020, 
the Group’s borrowings and accrued interest amounting to 
an aggregate amount of approximately RMB1,808,207,000 
and approximately RMB359,171,000 respectively had been 
due for immediate payment. In addition, as set out in note 28 
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s other 
borrowings with carrying amounts of RMB2,788,147,000 as 
at 31 December 2020 with no event of default, contained a 
default clause that the Group will be required for repayment of 
the outstanding balance of the original borrowings and interest 
payables in the event of default. Moreover, as at 31 December 
2020, there were several unsettled litigations against the Group 
mainly requesting the Group to repay certain payables with 
interest immediately as set out in note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statements. These conditions, along with other matters 
as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, 
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going 
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down 
the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their recoverable 
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that may arise 
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities 
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The 
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S VIEW ON DISCLAIMER OF OPINION 
BY THE GROUP’S AUDITOR

The management is of the view that the Group will be able to 
meet in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due 
for the twelve months from 31 December 2020 based on (i) the 
Group historically generated net cash inflow from operating 
activities of approximately RMB527 million and RMB708 million 
for year 2020 and 2019 respectively; (ii) the profit forecast 
and the cashflow forecast of the Group for the year ending 
31 December 2021 and 2022, in which the management is 
optimistic that the Group’s loans due for immediate repayment 
will be extended/refinanced based on the past experience 
and the management is of the opinion that the Group has 
good relationship with the creditors which would enhance 
the Group’s ability to successfully renew/extend the loans; 
and (iii) in respect of the some of the outstanding litigations, 
by reference to the legal opinion issued by the Group’s legal 
counsel handling the litigations, the management considered 
that the Group had valid grounds to defend against the claims.

However, the Group’s auditor were of the view that the 
material uncertainties were not comprehensively addressed 
with sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude on 
the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going 
concern basis.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD

An audit committee was established by the Board on 12 June 
2009 with written terms of reference in compliance with the 
Code. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review 
and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process and 
internal controls. The members of the audit committee of the 
Board are the three independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Mr. LAU Sik Yuen, Prof. SHA Zhenquan and Mr. JING 
Dacheng. Mr. LAU Sik Yuen is the chairperson of the audit 
committee of the Board.

The audit committee has reviewed the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020.

The Directors and the audit committee has reviewed and 
agreed with the modifications on audit opinion by the Group’s 
auditor and the management’s position concerning major 
judgmental areas.
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The Board presents this annual report, together with the 
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Consolidated Financial 
Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. 
The Group is principally engaged in the coal operation 
business involving coal mining, purchase and sales, 
filtering, storage, blending of coal in the PRC and shipping 
transportation. The principal activities of the major subsidiaries 
of the Company are set out in note 20 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the business review information are set out in the 
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on 
pages 7 to 30 of this report and the section “Corporate Social 
Responsibility” on pages 81 to 83 of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group’s financial condition, 
results of operation, businesses and prospects may be 
affected by a number of risks and uncertainties as follows:

Risks of macroeconomic fluctuations and national policies

Coal industry is closely linked to the macroeconomy and 
industrial regulatory policies. With current complex external 
environment, there have been economic downward pressure 
and relative measures by government such as supply-side 
reform. The Group will continue to monitor the macroeconomic 
development and to adjust its strategies to cope with the risks.
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Risk of fluctuation on commodity price

International and domestic coal prices are affected by various 
microeconomic factors, industrial factors, national policies, 
market demand and supply, characteristics of coal and 
volatility in prices of other raw materials for power generation 
etc.. The Group will flexibly adjust its strategies and implement 
measures such as cost control to minimise the impact on profit 
margin caused by fluctuation on coal price.

Risk of safety production

The production process of coal mining involve complex 
uncertainties that involve higher safety risks. The Group 
continues to strengthen its safety management and control 
system by implementing assessment on significant safety risks, 
risk prevention measures, regular inspections, regular safety 
production training, upgrade on automation of production 
process, review of procedure on addressing potential safety 
hazards and promotion of safety awareness among employee.

Risks of creditability and liquidity

Due to slowdown of domest ic economy, the Group’s 
customers may suffer from liquidity and cash flow problems 
that will inevitably affect the recoverability of the Group’s trade 
receivables and the Group’s liquidity. The Group will closely 
monitor its credit exposure, continuously evaluate the collection 
history of its customers, adjust the credit line and credit period 
given to customers and closely monitor the Group’s liquidity 
requirements on ongoing basis in order to maintain sufficient 
reserves of cash for operational need.
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Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As se t  ou t  i n  no te  2  to  the conso l i da ted f i nanc ia l 
statements, the Group incurred net loss of approximately 
RMB3,436,870,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net liabilities and 
net current liabilities of approximately RMB2,896,084,000 and 
RMB4,204,749,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2020, 
the Group’s borrowings and accrued interest amounting to 
an aggregate amount of approximately RMB1,808,207,000 
and approximately RMB359,171,000 respectively had been 
due for immediate payment. In addition, as set out in note 28 
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s other 
borrowings with carrying amounts of RMB2,788,147,000 as 
at 31 December 2020 with no event of default, contained a 
default clause that the Group will be required for repayment of 
the outstanding balance of the original borrowings and interest 
payables in the event of default. Moreover, as at 31 December 
2020, there were several unsettled litigations against the Group 
mainly requesting the Group to repay certain payables with 
interest immediately as set out in note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statement. These conditions, along with other matters 
as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, 
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The directors believe that the Group has complied in all 
material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that are 
related to the business and operation of the Group. There was 
no material breach of or non-compliance with relevant laws 
and regulations which might have a significant impact on its 
business.

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations such 
as the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, the 
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Property 
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Coal Industry Law 
of the People’s Republic of China, the Environmental Protection 
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Listing Rules and 
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622), etc. The Group will 
continuously ensure compliance through closely monitor on 
applicable law and regulations that may have a significant 
impact on its business and operation.



34 CHINA QINFA GROUP LIMITED   �•
7	b�ï
«� �Þ�"�®�!

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

�è�+�6���S

�8�6�¿�±�|

�I
«� �Ë���8�6�1�õ�I���S�K89�+�˜�]�¥�Œ�&�×
�]�Œ�f

�è�+�(�”���D�1�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
�ß�Ë���|�ï�p�¹�f

���6�±�|�·�ê

�ì�½
š
��Ê�¥�®�!�,�d�p�…�P���*�¿�®�]�®�q�˜
���–���6�±�|�š�p���d
“�a�‡�*���Þ�ë�±�|�Ð�p
�¹���D�˜�Ú�‚���d�I�®�!���¯�Ú
l�8
��@�û�•�µ
�”�Q�‚
À
��f

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I�®�!�(�Ì�‚��
���6�±�|�·�ê�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ102,538,000
�©�•�f

�´�‹�…
o�Æ

�I�®�!�˜�\���Ý�û�Z�Æ�€�˜�Ý�û�Z�Æ�™�•�Ð
š
��Ê�¥
�€�C�I�®�!
W���Ó�m�!�,�Æ
��•�,�7�(�Ì�Þ�ë�´�‹
�…
o�Æ�˜
â�Ö�d�•�›�I�®�!
²�2�â�7�£�$�Þ�p��
�d�O�ï
/�-�p�…�f

	Ì
��?��

�I
«� �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�ž�H�Ë
���¢�Ë�˜�8�6�Ü���¿�I
«� �õ�Z�g�S�¬�Ë�e�Z�g
�S�V�Ë�d�Z�g�S�^�Ë�e�Z�g�S�X�Ë�¿�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�˜���*�e��
À�¿�Æ	B�1�õ�I���S
�K4�+�f

�…
o�e��
/�Ð�Ù�«�I�®�!�j�9�Ç�N 

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d�I�®�!
�Ð�I�‚���•�n�®�!�?�Ì�…
o�e��
/�Ð�Ù�«�I�®�!
�‚���j�9�Ç�N�f

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 89 
of this report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a dividend 
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds 
in share premium account and contributed surplus are 
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that 
immediately following the date on which the distribution or 
dividend is proposed to be made, the Company is able to pay 
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company did not have any 
distributable reserves (2019: RMB102,538,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the 
Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the 
laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which 
the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the 
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing 
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s result for each of the five years 
ended 31 December 2020 and the Group’s assets, liabilities 
and equity as at 31 December 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 
2020 are set out on page 4 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the 
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or 
redeemed any listed securities of the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year of 2020 and up to the date of this 
report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. XU Da (Chairman)
Mr. BAI Tao (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. WANG Jianfei
Mr. FUNG Wai Shing (resigned with effect from 5 March 2021)
Mr. TAN Yingzhong (Chief Financial Officer)
 (appointed with effect from 1 April 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. LAU Sik Yuen
Prof. SHA Zhenquan
Mr. JING Dacheng

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, the Directors shall 
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint 
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the 
Board or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director 
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold 
office until the first general meeting of shareholders after his 
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting 
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to 
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following 
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be 
eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed pursuant to 
Article 83(3) of the Articles shall not be taken into account 
in determining which particular Directors or the number of 
Directors who are to retire by rotation.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general 
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall 
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director 
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at 
least once every three years and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, 
Mr. TAN Yingzhong who was appointed by the Board on 1 
April 2021 will retire in accordance with Article 83(3) of the 
Articles while Ms. WANG Jianfei, Mr. BAI Tao and Prof. SHA 
Zhenquan will retire by rotation in accordance with Article 
84(1) of the Articles. All retiring Directors, being eligible, would 
offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 
Annual General Meeting has an unexpired service contract 
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company 
within one year without payment of compensation, other than 
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for the Structure Contracts (as defined in the Prospectus), 
the details of which are set for the in the paragraphs 
under “Connected Transactions” below, no transactions, 
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to 
the Group’s business to which the Company and any of its 
subsidiaries or holding company was a party and in which 
a Director is or was materially interested or had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 
the year or at any time during the year.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON- 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the 
Board considers the independent non-executive Directors to 
be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management  
as at the date of publication of the annual report are set out on 
pages 58 to 62 of this report.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none 
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or 
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required 
(a) to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the 
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (b) to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE 
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of 
the persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the 
Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company 
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept 
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as 
follows:

Number of shares

Approximate percentage
of issued share capital of

the Company (%)

�p�…�p�f
�&�I�®�!�Š�ï���p�I�˜

�?�Ò�õ�±�â(%)
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Long 

positions
Short 

positions
Long 

positions
Short 

positions
�p���‘�¤ �Æ	B�Ì�/ �»�Q 
ñ�Q �»�Q 
ñ�Q      

Mr. XU Jihua (Note 1) Beneficial owner 14,229,610 Nil 0.57 Nil
�±�›
6�‹�[�€�•
W1 �• �¼	B�¹�Þ�[ �Ì �Ì

Interest in a controlled 
 corporation 1,203,000,000 Nil 48.25
�õ�a
›�S�®�!�˜�Æ	B �Ì

Fortune Pearl International 
 Limited (Note 1)

Beneficial owner
1,203,000,000 Nil 48.25 Nil

�œ�E
7�ç�Þ�"�®�!�€�•
W1 �• �¼	B�¹�Þ�[ �Ì �Ì
Yangyuan Jintong 
 Transportation Corp. 
 Ltd.

Beneficial owner

215,000,000 Nil 8.62 Nil

¢�a�Ü�·�J�t�Þ�"�®�! �¼	B�¹�Þ�[ �Ì �Ì      

Note:

1. Mr. XU Jihua is the father of Mr. XU Da. Mr. XU Da is the chairman and 
an executive Director of the Group. Mr. XU Jihua is interested in 100% 
shareholding of Fortune Pearl International Limited (“Fortune Pearl”), 
which in turn is interested in 1,085,000,000 shares and 118,000,000 
shares which may be allotted and issued upon full conversion of the 
PSCS held directly by Fortune Pearl. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu Jihua 
is deemed to have interests in the shares so held by Fortune Pearl.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the 
Company had not been notified by any persons (other than 
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) who had 
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of 
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, 
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by 
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

Other than pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 
and the Share Option Scheme detailed in note 32 to the 
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year 
ended 31 December 2020 was the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors 
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debts securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any 
other body corporate and none of the Directors, their spouses 
or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for 
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE 
SECURITIES

The Company had outstanding PSCS in the principal amount 
of HKD194,700,000 as at 31 December 2020, which was 
convertible into ordinary shares in the Company at the initial 
conversion price of HKD1.65 per conversion share (subject to 
adjustments). Assuming the exercise in full of the conversion 
rights attaching to the PSCS at the initial conversion price, 
a total of 118,000,000 conversion shares will be issued. The 
PSCS were held by Fortune Pearl. The sole ultimate beneficial 
owner of the Fortune Pearl is Mr. Xu Jihua, who is the father of 
Mr. Xu Da and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Group’s 
companies shall be entitled to be indemnified by the relevant 
company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses 
and liabilities incurred by him or her in the execution and 
discharge of his or her duties or in relation thereto pursuant 
to their respective Articles of Associations. Such provisions 
were in force during the course of the financial year ended 31 
December 2020 and remained in force as of the date of this 
report.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees 
is based on their performance, duties and responsibilities, 
qualifications and competence displayed. The Group has 
adopted a performance based rewarding system to motivate 
its employees and such system is reviewed on a regular basis. 
In addition to the basic salaries, year end bonuses will be 
offered to those staff members with outstanding performance.

Emoluments payable to the senior management of the Group 
are decided by the remuneration committee of the Board, 
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual 
experience, performance and responsibi l i ty, and the 
compensation levels adopted by companies of comparable 
size engaging in similar business.

Emoluments payable to the Directors are decided by the 
remuneration committee of the Board, having regard to the 
compensation levels adopted by companies of similar size 
engaging in similar business.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the 
five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 
12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration 
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DONATIONS

During the year, no charitable donations were made by the 
Group (2019: RMB183,000) to enhance social development in 
various aspects.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year 
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers were 
as follows:

Purchases 
®�…�X   

–  the largest supplier –  �ð�}�6�Ð
 38.20%
–  five largest suppliers in aggregate –  �ž�}�6�Ð
 �¥�� 61.58%   

Sales �V
/�X   

–  the largest customer –  �ð�}���Ò 33.36%
–  five largest customers in aggregate –  �ž�}���Ò�¥�� 76.43%   

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder 
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% 
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major 
suppliers or customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group carried out the following continuing connected 
transactions (other than continuing connected transactions 
that are exempted under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules) 
during the year ended 31 December 2020:

On 12 June 2009, Zhuhai Qinfa Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Qinfa 
Logistics”), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, each member of the China Qinfa Group (as defined 
in the Prospectus), and their respective equity interest holders 
(which include Mr. XU Jihua, Mr. XU Da, Mr. LIU Jingwei and 
Ms. ZHOU Lusha, all being the then Controlling Shareholders 
of the Company (as defined in the Prospectus)) entered into 
the Structure Contracts (as defined in the Prospectus) for a 
term of 10 years pursuant to which Qinfa Logistics agreed to 
pay an annual fee of RMB10,000 to each member of the China 
Qinfa Group for the exclusive management and operation 
of the coal operation business and the inland shipping 
transportation business of the China Qinfa Group, and all 
economic benefits and risks arising from the business of the 
China Qinfa Group are transferred to Qinfa Logistics. Further 
details of the Structure Contracts are set forth in the section 
headed “Reorganisation and the Structure Contracts” in the 
Prospectus.
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The Stock Exchange has granted a perpetual waiver pursuant 
to the Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules to the Company 
for all transactions under the Structure Contracts from 
strict compliance with the applicable announcement and 
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board 
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform procedures on 
the above continuing connected transactions in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference 
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing 
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing 
connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56. A 
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company 
to the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed 
that the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions 
for the Company were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and 
usual course of the Group’s business; (ii) in accordance 
with the terms of the respective agreements governing such 
transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole; 
and (iii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no 
less favourable to the Group than those available to or from 
independent third parties.
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The Group comprises China Qinfa Group (as defined in the 
Prospectus) and Hong Kong Qinfa Group (as defined in the 
Prospectus). Having considered the demand for coal imported 
from overseas into China and the expansion of the Group’s 
overseas coal operation business, the Directors strategically 
planned to centralise the management and operation of the 
Group’s coal business in China and overseas markets and 
determined that Hong Kong Qinfa Group should manage 
and operate the coal operation business in China through 
the establishment of Zhuhai Qinfa Logistics Co. Ltd. (“Qinfa 
Logistics”), a member of Hong Kong Qinfa Group and an 
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in February 
2008.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, after verbal consultations 
with the relevant PRC governmental authorities at Zhuhai at 
which the Group operated its coal business, the Directors 
understood that the PRC governmental authorities did not 
grant Coal Operation Certificates to foreign equity controlled 
companies as a matter of practice. In addition, according 
to the relevant provisions of (i) the Catalog of Industries for 
Encouraged Foreign Investment (2019 Edition), the domestic 
waterway transport industry is not included in the category of 
encouraged foreign investment; (ii) the Special Administrative 
Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access 
(2019 Edition) (the “Negative List (2019 Edition)”), a domestic 
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Mr. Xu Jihua, Ms Wang Jianfei, Mr. Xu Da, Zhuhai Qinfa Trading 
and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping entered into the Engagement 
Agreements and the Pledge Agreements on 12 June 2009. 
Qinfa Logistics is entitled to all the revenue of Zhuhai Qinfa 
Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping after deducting all relevant 
costs and expenses (including taxes) and has the right to 
acquire any or all of the equity interests and/or assets of 
Zhuhai Qinfa Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping at the lowest 
possible amount and at such time as permitted by the relevant 
PRC laws and regulations. All equity holders of Zhuhai Qinfa 
Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping have granted to Qinfa 
Logistics a pledge over the equity interests in equity holders 
for the purpose of securing the performance of the contractual 
obligations under the Structure Contracts. Any amendment to 
the Structure Contracts shall be subject to the approvals of 
(i) the directors nominated by Qinfa Logistics to Zhuhai Qinfa 
Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping, and (ii) for the purpose 
of promoting good corporate governance, the shareholders in 
general meeting. No amendments to the Structure Contracts 
can be made unless required under the Listing Rules or 
approved by Qinfa Logistics in writing in advance. For 
details of the Structure Contracts, please refer to the section 
headed “Reorganisation and the Structure Contracts” in the 
Prospectus.
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The Structure Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the financial 
results of Zhuhai Qinfa Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping 
and economic benefits of their business to flow onto Qinfa 
Logistics. In addition, all the directors in Zhuhai Qinfa Trading 
and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping are to be nominated by Qinfa 
Logistics. Through its control over the directors of Zhuhai 
Qinfa Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping, Qinfa Logistics is 
able to monitor, supervise and effectively control the business, 
operations and financial policies of Zhuhai Qinfa Trading and 
Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping so as to ensure due implementation of 
the Structure Contracts. The Structure Contracts also enable 
Qinfa Logistics to exercise control over and to acquire the 
equity interests and/or assets of Zhuhai Qinfa Trading and 
Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping at the lowest value and at such time 
as permitted by the relevant PRC laws and regulations with 
an undertaking from the Controlling Shareholders to provide 
to Qinfa Logistics all the consideration received pursuant to 
any such acquisition. Based on the Structure Contracts, the 
Directors consider that, notwithstanding the lack of equity 
ownership between members of Zhuhai Qinfa Trading and 
Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping and Hong Kong Qinfa Group, Qinfa 
Logistics is entitled to control the business of Zhuhai Qinfa 
Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping in substance. On this 
basis, the financial position and operating results of Zhuhai 
Qinfa Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping are included in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the Structure Contracts, Zhuhai Qinfa Trading 
and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping are accounted for as the 
Company’s subsidiaries, and their financial position and 
operating results are consolidated in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. The revenue and total asset value subject 
to the arrangements under the Structure Contracts amounted 
to approximately RMB19,837,000 (2019: RMB46,285,000) 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and approximately 
RMB164,980,000 (2019: RMB186,825,000) as of 31 December 
2020, respectively.

The Structure Contracts are governed by the PRC laws and 
provide for the resolution of disputes through arbitration in 
accordance with the arbitration rules of China International 
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There are risks involved with the operation of the Group 
under the Structure Contracts. To the best knowledge of the 
Directors, if the Structure Contracts are considered to be in 
breach of any existing or future PRC laws or regulations, the 
relevant regulatory authorities would have broad discretion in 
dealing with such breach, including:

– imposing economic penalties;

– discontinuing or restricting the operations of Hong Kong 
Qinfa Group or Zhuhai Qinfa Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa 
Shipping;

– imposing conditions or requirements in respect of the 
Structure Contracts with which Zhuhai Qinfa Trading 
and Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping may not be able to comply;

– requir ing the Group to restructure the relevant 
ownership structure or operations;

– taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that 
could adversely affect the business of the Group; and

– revoking the business licences and/or the licences or 
certificates of Zhuhai Qinfa Trading and Zhuhai Qinfa 
Shipping and/or voiding the Structure Contracts.

The Group takes the following measures to mitigate the 
risk and to ensure proper implementation of the Structure 
Contracts:

(a) as part of the internal control measures, major issues 
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The Board confirmed that there is no material change in the 
contractual arrangements under the Structure Contracts 
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted, 
and their impact on the Group. The Board also confirmed 
that save for the removal of restrictions on foreign equity 
controlled companies to operate coal trading business as 
disclosed above, there is no removal of restrictions that led 
to the adoption of the Structure Contracts. The Engagement 
Agreements and the Pledge Agreements were renewed on 12 
June 2019.

The Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of 
China (the “Foreign Investment Law”), the Regulations on 
Implementing the Foreign Investment Law of the People’s 
Republic of China (the “Implementing Regulations”) and the 
Interpretation of Several Issues Concerning the Application of 
the Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China 
(the “Judicial Interpretation”) issued by the Supreme People’s 
Court implemented on 1 January 2020 have not stipulate 
directly and clearly the regulation and mechanism in relation to 
structure contracts. Nevertheless, the further interpretation of 
the Foreign Investment Law by the PRC government may also 
bring uncertainties to the corporate structure, management of 
subsidiaries, corporate regulation and business operation of 
the Company.

The Company will pay close attention to the implementation 
and possible further interpretation of the Foreign Investment 
Law by the relevant PRC authorities, and will engage external 
legal advisors and industry consultants to provide opinions on 
the impact and possible solutions to ensure timely compliance 
with the Foreign Investment Law by making necessary 
responses and adjustments to its implementation and further 
interpretation.

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 37 
to the consolidated financial statements. The related party 
transactions as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated 
financial statements constituted exempt continuing connected 
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and 
accordingly, are exempted from the disclosure requirements in 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions 
as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements 
are not regarded as connected transactions under chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules.
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The PSCS was approved by the independent shareholders 
on 31 December 2012. On 22 May 2020, with reference to the 
financial position at the 31 December 2019, the Company did 
not exercise its discretion to elect the deferral of distribution of 
approximately HKD17,523,000, being the total outstanding sum 
distributable to the holders of the PSCS as at 31 December 
2019. On 26 May 2020, distribution payment of approximately 
HKD11,682,000 was made to the holder of PSCS. In view of 
the current financial position of the Company, the Directors will 
re-assess the appropriateness on exercising the discretion to 
elect the deferral of distribution of the sum of HKD5,841,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 pursuant to the terms of 
the PSCS.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the 
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 
and a Share Option Scheme (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”) 
on 12 June 2009 and a Share Option Scheme on 27 June 2018 
(the “2018 Share Option Scheme”). The principal terms of the 
schemes are as follows:

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the sole shareholder’s written resolutions passed 
on 12 June 2009, the Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme whereby employees and directors of the 
Group were granted the rights to subscribe for shares on the 
same day.

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to 
recognise the contribution by certain employees towards the 
growth of the Group and/or the listing of the shares on the 
Stock Exchange. The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme are substantially the same as the terms of the 
Share Option Scheme, except that:

(i) the exercise price per share; and

(ii) the total number of shares which may be issued 
pursuant to options granted under the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme.

Save for the options which have been granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme, no further options will be offered or 
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, as the right 
to do so has been terminated upon the listing of the shares on 
the Stock Exchange.
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Share Option Schemes

On 12 June 2009, the Company adopted the 2009 Share 
Option Scheme which shall be valid and effective for a period 
of ten years commencing from 12 June 2009. The Company 
has terminated the 2009 Share Option Scheme and adopted 
the 2018 Share Option Scheme pursuant to a resolution 
passed by the Shareholders at the general meeting on 27 
June 2018. The 2018 Share Option Scheme shall be valid 
and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from 27 
June 2018. No further options can be granted pursuant to the 
2009 Share Option Scheme. Nonetheless, options granted 
prior to the termination of the 2009 Share Option Scheme shall 
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the 
rules of the 2009 Share Option Scheme. No share options had 
been granted under the 2018 Share Option Scheme since its 
adoption. The major terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme 
and the 2018 Share Option Scheme (collectively, the “Share 
Option Schemes”), which are substantially the same, are set 
out below.

The purpose of the Share Option Schemes is to provide 
incentive or reward to eligible persons (including full time 
or part time employees, executive, non-executive directors 
and independent non-executive directors of our Group) for 
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the 
interests of, the Company and to enable the Company and its 
subsidiaries to recruit and retain high-caliber employees.

The subscription price shall be a price determined by the 
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the 
nominal value of the share; (ii) the closing price of the shares 
on the date of the offer; and (iii) the average closing price of 
the shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the 
date of the offer.

The total number of shares issued and which may be issued 
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option 
Scheme to an employee in any 12-month period shall not 
exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options 
in excess of this limit shall be subject to the approval of 
shareholders in a general meeting.
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(c) �Z�g�S�,�Ë�S�Ü�d�V�Ú	Î���Z�g�S�ž�Ë�S
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{
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¬���Y�…�p�Æ
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An option may be exercised at any time during a period to be 
determined by the Board, which shall not in any event exceed 
ten years from the date of grant. The Share Option Schemes 
do not specify any minimum holding period. The acceptance 
of an offer must be made within 30 days from the date of offer 
with a non-refundable payment of HKD1.00.

On 17 January 2012, the Company has granted share options 
(the “Options”) to subscribe for a total of 20,751,196 new 
ordinary shares of the Company under the 2009 Share Option 
Scheme to 15 eligible participants of the 2009 Share Option 
Scheme at the exercise price HKD1.50 per share (which 
represents the highest of (i) the closing price of HKD1.50 per 
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet 
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of HKD1.392 
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation 
sheets for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date 
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of HKD0.10 per share). 
The Options are valid for a period of 10 years from 17 January 
2012 to 16 January 2022. None of the Grantees is a director, 
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or 
an associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of any of them.

The Options may be exercisable at any time during the option 
period, provided that the maximum number of Options which 
each Grantee is entitled to exercise at the below period shall 
not exceed:

(a) in respect of the period from 17 January 2012 to 16 
January 2013, 40% of the total number of Options 
granted to him;

(b) in respect of the period from 17 January 2013 to 16 
January 2014, 30% of the total number of Options 
granted to him; and

(c) in respect of the period from 17 January 2014 to 16 
January 2015, 30% of the total number of Options 
granted to him.
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On 30 April 2015, the Company has further granted Options 
to subscribe for a total of 157,500,000 new ordinary shares of 
the Company under the 2009 Share Option Scheme to eligible 
participants of the 2009 Share Option Scheme at the exercise 
price HKD0.485 per share (which represents the highest of (i) 
the closing price of HKD0.485 per share as stated in the Stock 
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Set out below is further information on the outstanding options 
granted under the 2009 Share Option Scheme as at the date of 
this report:

Number of share options outstanding
� �J���4�…�p�Æ�p�f 

Category/Name of 
participant Date of grant

At 1 January 
2020

Lapsed 
during 

the year

At 31 
December 

2020
Exercise 

price HKD Exercise period

Approximate 
percentage 

of issued 
share capital 

of the 
Company

(%)


��~�k�ó�9�J�‘�¤ 
¬���Ú�‚

�õ
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë

�S�Ü�S�Ú �õ�Ë�«�0�Ö

�õ
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë

�d�Z�Ü
�g�d�S�Ú ���4���¥�© ���4�‚

�&�I�®�!�Š
�ï���p�I

�?�Ò�õ�±�â
(%)        

Executive Director

B���è�+
Mr. FUNG Wai Shing 
 (Resigned with effect from 
 5 March 2021)

¹
��Ó�‹�[
 �€���Z�g�Z�S�Ë�g�Ü�ž�Ú
 	Î�Ø�‚�•

30 April 2015
�Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú

20,000,000 – 20,000,000 0.485 30/04/2015 to 
29/04/2025 
�Z�g�S�ž�Ë
�,�Ü�g�d�Ú��
�Z�g�Z�ž�Ë
�,�Ü�Z�d�X�Ú

0.80

Independent non-
 executive Director
�ù�m�¢
B���è�+
Mr. LAU Sik Yuen
���|�U�‹�[

30 April 2015
�Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú

500,000 – 500,000 0.485 30/04/2015 to 
29/04/2025 
�Z�g�S�ž�Ë
�,�Ü�g�d�Ú��
�Z�g�Z�ž�Ë
�,�Ü�Z�d�X�Ú

0.02

        

Sub-total
�ƒ��

20,500,000 – 20,500,000 0.82
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Number of share options outstanding
� �J���4�…�p�Æ�p�f 

Category/Name of 
participant Date of grant

At 1 January 
2020

Lapsed 
during 

the year

At 31 
December 

2020
Exercise 

price HKD Exercise period

Approximate 
percentage 

of issued 
share capital 

of the 
Company

(%)
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¬
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¬�4�…

(%)
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business 
apart from the Group’s business, that competes or is likely to 
compete (either directly or indirectly) with the Group’s business 
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up 
to the date of this report.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Controlling Shareholders 
and the executive Directors (collectively, the “Covenantors”) 
have entered into a deed of non-competition dated 12 June 
2009 in favour of the Company. The Covenantors have 
provided the Group with written confirmations that they and 
their associates (other than members of the Group) have fully 
complied with the deed of non-competition throughout the year 
ended 31 December 2020.

The independent non-executive Directors have conducted an 
annual review on the Covenantors’ compliance with the deed 
of non-competition, the options, pre-emptive rights or first 
rights of refusals provided by the Controlling Shareholders on 
their existing or future competing businesses.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Covenantors 
and their respective close associates did not direct any 
Business Opportunity (as defined in the Prospectus) to the 
Group. Therefore, the independent non-executive Directors 
did not conduct any review on the decision made in relation to 
Business Opportunity.

TAXATION OF HOLDERS OF SHARES

Hong Kong

The purchase, sale and transfer of shares registered in the 
Company’s Hong Kong branch register of members will be 
subject to Hong Kong stamp duty. The current rate charged on 
each of the purchaser and seller (or transferee and transferor) 
is 0.1% of the consideration or, if greater, the fair value of 
the shares being bought/sold or transferred (rounded up to 
the nearest HKD’000). In addition, a fixed duty of HKD5.00 is 
currently payable on an instrument of transfer of shares.

Profits from dealings in the share arising in or derived from 
Hong Kong may also be subject to Hong Kong profits tax.
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Cayman Islands

Under the present Cayman Islands laws, transfers and other 
dispositions of shares in the Company are exempt from 
Cayman Islands stamp duty.

Consultation with professional advisers

Intending holders and investors of the Company’s shares are 
recommended to consult their professional advisers if they 
are in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including tax 
relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or 
dealing in shares. It is emphasised that none of the Company 
or its Directors or officers will accept any responsibility for any 
tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of shares in the Company 
resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding, 
disposal of or dealing in such shares.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual 
general meeting to re-appoint Moore Stephens CPA Limited as 
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board,
XU Da

Chairman
Guangzhou, 31 March 2021
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management as at the 
date of publication of this report are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Da �€�±�:�• , aged 36, was appointed as an executive 
Director on 9 October 2014. Mr. XU is also a Chairman of the 
Group. Mr. XU achieved a bachelor degree in 2008. Mr. XU 
has more than 10 years of working experience in the Group. 
He joined the Group as import and export manager in 2009. 
Mr. XU did not hold other directorship in any listed companies 
during the last three years.

Mr. BAI Tao �€�c�ñ�• , aged 37, was appointed as an executive 
Director on 9 October 2014. Mr. BAI is also the Chief Executive 
Officer and a member of the remuneration committee and 
nomination committee of the Board. Mr. BAI is principally 
responsible for the Group’s overal l management and 
operation. Mr. BAI graduated from Cardiff University with 
a bachelor and master degree in civil engineering. Mr. BAI 
has more than 5 years of working experience in construction 
project management. He joined the Group as general manager 
of Zhuhai Hengqin Coal Exchange Centre in 2012. Prior to 
joining the Group in 2012, Mr. BAI worked as a manager of 
engineering management department in a company listed 
in the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. BAI did not hold other 
directorship in any listed companies during the last three 
years.

Ms. WANG Jianfei �€�î���-�• , aged 50, was appointed as an 
executive Director on 6 May 2008. Ms. WANG joined Qinfa 
Group in 2000, and was the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Group during 2008 to 2015. Ms. WANG obtained an associate 
degree in Computer Science by Angeles University Foundation 
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2011. From 26 September 2014 to 22 June 2020. Mr. LAU was 
appointed as an Independent non-executive Directors of SDM 
Group Holdings Limited (“SDM Group”), SDM Group was listed 
on GEM Board of the Stock Exchange on 13 October 2014. 
On 7 May 2018, Mr. LAU was appointed as an independent 
non-executive director of CTEH Inc. (stock code:1620). Save 
as disclosed above, Mr. LAU did not hold any directorship in 
other listed companies during the last three years.

Prof. SHA Zhenquan (�Í�È�Æ) , aged 61, was appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director on 21 September 2018. 
Prof. SHA is also the Chairman of the remuneration committee 
and the nomination committee of the Board and a member 
of audit committee. Prof. SHA has been a professor of the 
School of Business Administration of South China University 
of Technology (
6�Ì�#�ˆ�}�ª) since April 2003. He obtained 
a bachelor of science degree in mathematics from East 
China Normal University (
6���ª�Í�}�ª) in December 1982, a 
master’s degree in engineering from South China University of 
Technology (
6�Ì�#�ˆ�}�ª) in July 1991 and a doctor’s degree 
in philosophy from City University of Hong Kong in November 
2001. Prof. SHA is a member of the 12th National Committee 
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (�•
7�[
�O�A�7�X
 �6�D�Œ
7�‰�p�6). He was an independent director 
of Shenzhen Noposion Pesticide Co., Ltd ( �	�­�U�w�¦�5�·�p
�…�Þ�"�®�!) (stock code: 002215) from December 2009 to 
December 2015 and an independent director of Sincap Group 
Limited (stock code: 5UN), a company listed on Singapore 
Exchange from May 2012 to September 2014. Prof. SHA 
resigned as the independent director of Donlinks International 
Investment Co., Ltd. (�?�È���K
7�ç�³���p�…�Þ�"�®�!) (stock 
code: 000893) and Letong Chemical Co., Ltd. ( 	.	��9�€�·�·�ˆ
�p�…�Þ�"�®�!) (stock code: 002319), companies listed on the 
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, in January 2020 and June 2019 
respectively. He is an independent non-executive director of 
Canvest Environmental Protection Group Company Limited (�½
�.���­�e�b�Þ�"�®�!) (stock code: 01381) which is a company 
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”). Prof. SHA is an independent director of Shenzhen 
Overseas Chinese Town Co., Ltd. �€�	�­
6�†�ì�p�…�Þ�"�®�!�•  
(stock code: 000069), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange from April 2020. Save as disclosed above, Prof. SHA 
did not hold any directorship in other listed companies during 
the last three year.
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Mr. JING Dacheng �€�‘�}�Ó�• , aged 72, was appointed as 
an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2019. 
Mr. JING is a member of the Communists’ Party of the PRC 
and has years of experience in public service. He was 
recruited by the military in 1968 and served the positions 
of soldier, squad leader in the army, cultural section chief 
of the political department of guard force division no.4 of 
Hebe provincial military region, secretarial section chief 
and chief of coordination section of Qinhuangdao military 
division. From May 1986 to June 2007, Mr. JING served as 
a member of district committee and standing committee and 
political committee of the armed forces division of Haigang 
District, Qinhuangdao, Hebe Province, CPC Haigang District 
designated secretary and executive deputy district chief of 
the people’s government of Haigang District and chairman of 
the standing committee of the National People’s Congress in 
Haigang District. He officially retired from his duties in August 
2008. Mr. JING did not hold any directorship in other listed 
companies during the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. BAI Lei �€�c�d�• , aged 54, is the vice president of the Group, 
and is principally responsible for domestic investments and 
financial planning matters. He takes full charge of domestic 
financial operation, development strategies and ensuring the 
efficient operation of financial systems. Mr. BAI graduated 
from�ê���}�ª (Jiangxi University) in 1989 with a bachelor 
degree of enterprise management and subsequently obtained 
the qualification of accountant. Mr. BAI held the positions on 
financial and finance aspects in various institutions and had 
accumulated more than 20 years of working experience in 
relation thereto. Mr. BAI joined the Group in 2016 when he 
was appointed as the financial controller in China. He was 
appointed as the vice president of the Group in 2017.

Mr. QI Jinyuan �€���€�U�• , aged 52, is the vice president of the 
Group, and is principally responsible for the management and 
operation works on coal mine business. Mr. QI graduated from 
Renmin University of China in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree in 
national economic planning and management, and obtained a 
master degree in business administration from �&���²�‰�c�ç  
(Hebei Provincial Party School) in 2003. Mr. QI has more than 
20 years of experience in the field of investment management 
and financial planning with specialty in taxation planning works 
on financial aspect. Mr. QI was appointed as the vice chairman 
of Shanxi Huameiao Energy Group Company Limited, a 
member of the Group in September 2015 and as the vice 
president of the Group in February 2016.
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Mr. MA Jihai �€	õ�›	��• , aged 53, is the general manager of 
coal mine division of the Group. He is responsible for mine 
production policies performance, efficiency promotion and 
ensuring the implementation of regulations. Mr. MA graduated 
from �—�F�ˆ�8�}�ª (Changchun University of Technology) 
in 2013 with a bachelor degree in the major of coal mining 
technology. Mr. MA has more than 20 years of working 
experience in coal mine related industries. He is very familiar 
with coal operation and environment, and has therefore made 
significant contribution to coal mine business of the Group.

Mr. JIA Min �€� �O�• , aged 55, is the vice president of the 
Group, and is in charge of coal mine division. Mr. JIA 
graduated from �†���Å�¦�}�ª  (Shandong University of Science 
and Technology) in 2003 majoring in mining engineering, and 
obtained a master degree in business administration from �Ì

š�}�ª (Nankai University) in 2006. Mr. JIA joined the Group 
in 2017. Before joining the Group, he has been awarded 
many honorary titles such as �Œ
7�i�•�†�8�´�ø�$�— (National 
Excellent Mine Director of Coal Enterprise), Advanced Worker 
in Progress of �i�•�Å�¦
†�É�‹
†�ˆ�*�k (Coal Science and 
Technology), and �†���²�´�ø�†�8�• (Excellent Entrepreneur of 
Shandong Province) for many times. Mr. JIA has more than 30 
years of experience in the production management and mining 
technology in the coal industry. With outstanding working 
performance, he has created many industrial records in China, 
Asia, and even the world.

Mr. OR Chun Wai Dennis �€�Z�²$œ�•, aged 33, joined the 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is dedicated to maintaining and ensuring 
high standards of corporate governance practices. The 
corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise 
on accountability and transparency and are adopted in the 
best interest of the Company and its shareholders. The Board 
reviews its corporate governance practices from time to time 
in order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and to 
fulfil its commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code 
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its corporate 
governance code of practices since the listing of its shares on 
the Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the Board, the Company 
had complied with the code provisions as set out in the 
Corporate Governance Code throughout the year ended 31 
December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible 
leadership for the Company. The Board takes responsibility 
to oversee all major matters of the Company, including the 
formulation and approval of the Group’s overall objectives 
and strategies, internal control and risk management 
systems, monitoring its operating and financial performance, 
performing the corporate governance duties and evaluating 
the performance of the senior management. The Directors, 
individually and collectively, have to make decisions objectively 
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

All Directors have access to the senior management of the 
Group and the company secretary. Management information 
is provided to enable them to participate at the meetings or 
as and when requested. The company secretary provides 
secretarial support to the Board and ensures adherence to 
Board procedures and the relevant rules and regulations which 
are applicable to the Company.
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The number of independent non-executive Directors has met 
the requirements under the Listing Rules and Mr. LAU Sik 
Yuen has appropriate accounting professional qualifications. 
The independent non-executive Directors bring a variety 
of experience and expertise to the Company. Biographical 
details of the independent non-executive Directors are set 
out on pages 59 to 61 of this annual report. Each of the 
independent non-executive Directors has confirmed in writing 
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 
The Board is of the view that all independent non-executive 
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All the appointments of Directors are subject to retirement by 
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the 
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Minutes of Board meetings are being kept by the company 
secretary of the Company and are available for inspection by 
the Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company held 
an annual general meeting and the Board held eight Board 
meetings, all of which were convened in accordance with the 
Articles, and the individual attendance of each Director is set 
out below:

Number of attendance/Number of 
meetings entitled to attend

���©�ã�p�J�Þ�Æ���©�ã�p

Name of Directors �è�+�‘�¤

General 
Meeting

�p���}�6

Board 
Meeting

�è�+�6�6�D    

Ms. WANG Jianfei �î���-�~�{ 0/1 6/8
Mr. XU Da �±�:�‹�[ 0/1 7/8
Mr. BAI Tao �c�ñ�‹�[ 1/1 8/8
Mr. FUNG Wai Shing (resigned with effect 
 from 5 March 2021)


¹
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1/1 8/8

Mr. LAU Sik Yuen ���|�U�‹�[ 1/1 8/8
Prof. SHA Zhenquan �Í�È�Æ
º
¬ 0/1 8/8
Mr. JING Dacheng �‘�}�Ó�‹�[ 0/1 8/8
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. XU Da is the chairman of the Board and an executive 
Director, responsible for providing advice for the overall 
management and strategic development and overseeing the 
operation of the Board. Mr. BAI Tao, an executive Director, 
is the Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for the 
Group’s overall management, corporate development, 
strategic planning and the supervision of day-to-day operation. 
The segregation of duties and responsibilities between the 
chairman and the chief executive officer ensures a balance of 
power and authority.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a remuneration committee on 12 June 
2009 with specific written terms of reference. The remuneration 
committee consists of an executive Director, Mr. BAI Tao and 
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Prof. SHA 
Zhenquan and Mr. JING Dacheng. Prof. SHA Zhenquan is the 
chairperson of the remuneration committee of the Board.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee of the 
Board are to review and determine the terms of remuneration 
packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to 
the Directors and senior management of the Group. The 
remuneration committee is also responsible for establishing 
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration 
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/
her close associates will participate in deciding his/her 
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined 
by reference to the performance of the individual and the 
Company as well as market practice and conditions.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the 
remuneration of the senior management by band for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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The remuneration committee held one meeting during 2020 to 
assess performance of executive Directors and certain senior 
management and review their remuneration. The duties of the 
remuneration committee include determining, with delegated 
responsibility, the remuneration packages of Directors and 
senior management. All the members attended the meetings.

Name of Directors �è�+�‘�¤

Number of 
attendance/

Number of 
meetings entitled 

to attend
���©�ã�p�J

�Þ�Æ���©�ã�p   

Mr. BAI Tao �c�ñ�‹�[ 1/1
Prof. SHA Zhenquan �Í�È�Æ
º
¬ 1/1
Mr. JING Dacheng �‘�}�Ó�‹�[ 1/1
   

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a nomination committee on 12 June 
2009 with specific written terms of reference. The nomination 
committee consists of an executive Director, Mr. BAI Tao and 
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Prof. SHA 
Zhenquan and Mr. JING Dacheng. Prof. SHA Zhenquan is the 
chairperson of the nomination committee of the Board.

The primary duties of the nomination committee of the Board 
include determining the policy for the nomination of Directors, 
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment 
and succession planning of Directors, and assessing of the 
independence of the independent non-executive Directors. 
The nomination committee carries out the process of 
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships 
by making reference to the skills, experience, professional 
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of such 
individuals, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory 
requirements and regulations.
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The nomination committee held one meeting during 2020 
to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills 
and experience appropriate to meet the requirements of the 
business of the Company. The nomination committee also 
evaluated the effectiveness of the board diversity policy. All the 
members attended the meetings.

Name of Directors �è�+�‘�¤

Number of 
attendance/

Number of 
meetings entitled 

to attend
���©�ã�p�J

�Þ�Æ���©�ã�p   

Mr. BAI Tao �c�ñ�‹�[ 1/1
Prof. SHA Zhenquan �Í�È�Æ
º
¬ 1/1
Mr. JING Dacheng �‘�}�Ó�‹�[ 1/1
   

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF 
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service 
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years. 
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered 
into renewed appointment letters with the Company for a term 
of three years. Such term is subject to retirement by rotation 
and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in 
accordance with the Articles.



69�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�Ë��   ANNUAL REPORT  2020      

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

�†�8�M�7���S

�d�¤�A
�

�I�®�!�Š�S�›�d�¤�A
��d�I�1�•�I�®�!�d�¤�‰�p
�6�˜�ë�Ÿ�?�o�z�_�¿�û�•�d�ø�1�è�+�˜�‰�‚�¿� 
�o�£�I�®�!�è�+�6�*���d�¤�¿
ª�e���D�f

(1) �d�¤�z�_

�d�¤�‰�p�6
Y�����d�O�[�o�Y�G�¥�Ì�Û�d

²�ý�G�ð�•�?�o�z�_�d�
�<�(�”�"�õ�ø�h
�¢
°�j

(a) �H�[�8�C�e�¦�‘�¿���¦�i

(b) �~�I�®�!�8
��ø�¿�†�8�ï�•�¿
��+
�´�ë�˜
Y�8���ø�e�¦�”�e�]�Æ�¿�¾
���i

(c) �‚� �����Û
œ�ø�5���è�+��
��˜��
�ô�¿	•�b�d�(�*���Ô�ê���˜�Õ�U�i

(d) � 1 �‰� ‚ � ù �m �¢ 
B � � � è �+ �þ � 
 � d � L
�¥�j�9�•�Æ�K3.13
â�•�›�˜�ù�m�z
�_�i

(e) �I�®�!
®	v�˜�è�+�6�µ�©�·�A
��™�d

��ý�I�®�!�˜�8
��|�Ì�¿	$�›�ê��
�ø�:�ç�è�+�6�µ�©�·�d�
�<�(�”�"
�õ�Ì�9�e�Ë�g�e
º���à�{�e�G
Ä�e

Y �8 �¾ � � � e � ¦ � ” � e � ] �Æ �¿ � � 
 � �Ë
�‚�i

(f) �G�\�˜�,���¿�9�M�•�›�i�¿

(g) �d�¤�‰�p�6�Ð�è�+�6�”�Û��	•�>�›
�˜�‚���I�ü�´�ë�ª	o�f

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company formulated the nomination policy, which 
set out the key selection criteria and procedures for the 
Nomination Committee of the Company to nominate and make 
recommendation to the board of directors of the Company on 
the appointment of directors and re-election for directors.

(1) Nomination criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number 
of selection criteria when assessing the suitability of a 
proposed candidate, including but not limited to the 
following:

(a) personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

(b) professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and 
experience that are relevant to the Company’s 
businesses and corporate development and 
strategy;

(c) willingness and ability to devote adequate time 
to discharge the duties as a director and to make 
required commitments;

(d) compliance with the criteria of independence 
as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules for the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors;

(e) the “Board Diversity Policy” adopted by the 
Company for achieving diversity on the Board 
with reference to the Company’s business model 
and specific needs, including but not limited to 
gender, age, educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and 
length of service;

(f) applicable legal and regulatory requirements; 
and

(g) any other relevant factors as may be determined 
by the Nomination Committee or the Board from 
time to time.
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(2) Nomination Procedures

(a) For filling a casual vacancy or appointing an 
additional director to the Board, the Nomination 
Committee may select and evaluate such 
candidate based on the criteria as set out above 
to determine whether such candidate is qualified 
for directorship.

(b) Fo r  any pe rson tha t  i s  nomina ted by  a 
shareholder for election as a director at the 
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination 
Committee should evaluate such candidate 
based on the cri teria as set out above to 
determine whether such candidate is qualified.

(c) For the re-elect ion of Director at General 
Meeting, the Nomination Committee should 
also review and determine whether the retiring 
director continues to meet the criteria as set out 
above.

(d) On making recommendation, the Nomination 
Committee may submit the candidate’s personal 
profile to the Board for consideration.

(e) The Board shall have the final decision on all 
matters relating to the recommendation of a 
candidate to stand for election at a general 
meeting.

(f) Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee 
and/or the Board should make recommendation 
to shareholders in respect of the proposed 
election of director at the general meeting.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company formulated the board diversity policy, which set 
out the requirements for diversity in Board members and the 
principles for the selection of Directors.

(1) Policy summary

To achieve sustainable and balanced development, the 
Company sees increased diversity at the Board level as 
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its 
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. 
In planning the Board’s composition, board diversity 
needs to be considered from a number of aspects, 
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, ethnicity, professional 
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All 
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and 
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, 
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the 
Board.

(2) Quantifiable measurers and the progress of the 
Board Diversity Policy

Selection of candidates of the Company will be based 
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but 
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, 
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision 
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected 
candidates will bring to the Board.

During the reporting period, the nomination committee 
reviewed the composition of the Board and concluded 
that the Company had met the diversification requirements 
with regard to age, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience, skills and knowledge. When making 
the appointment and re-appointment of Directors in the future, 
the nomination committee will nominate new Directors pursuant 
to the requirements of the board diversity policy to achieve the 
objective of diversity in Board members.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and 
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to 
take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, maintaining 
sound systems of risk management and internal controls and 
reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard interests of the 
Group as a whole. These systems are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failing to achieve business 
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The internal audit function monitors the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
systems established within the Company and its subsidiaries 
for proper accounting records, and for ensuring the reliability 
of financial information. The work of the internal audit function 
is generally focused on identifying, monitoring and reporting 
on major risks faced by the Group, including those related to 
business operations, compliance with laws and regulations 
and financial reporting. The review of risk management and 
internal control systems is conducted on an ongoing basis by 
the internal audit function. The Group has also adopted internal 
control policies to manage and minimise financial and other 
risks, ensuring timely and accurate preparation and reporting 
of financial information, and monitoring compliance with laws 
by the senior management of the Group in the performance of 
their duties.



76 CHINA QINFA GROUP LIMITED   �•
7	b�ï
«� �Þ�"�®�!

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

�†�8�M�7���S

�I
«� �Š�Ó�m�è�+�6�2�è�‰�p�6�d�ä�Å�˜�H�9�–
�I
«� 	÷	t�M�#�4�¿�I�õ�Ú
l���6�•�Â�,
‹�1�˜
��	•�d�¿�Á	�
ö�<�,���‰�•
š���_�f�I�®�!�~�2
�è�‰�p�6�›�‚��
š�6�D�d�ø	À��	Ì
��e���6�¿�¥
�•
›�S
‹�1�ø�¿�,�ˆ�M�#��	•�f�ä�.�d�2�è�‰�p
�6�X�?�è�+�6�ï�¬�M�#�4�d�(�9�–�,�ˆ�M�#�¿�«
�Å
›�S�S���˜�S���e
ª���¿�9
›�f

�è�+�6�è	À�,�ˆ�M�#�û�•�¿�,�ˆ�M�#���S�˜�Þ�Ö
�Ì�d�
�<�ô���,�ˆ�¿�à�¯
£�D�d�ø�9�–�I
«� �,
�ˆ�M�#�S���ï�•�¿�¼�D
‹�1�f

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d�è�+�6
�Š�è	À�S���˜�Þ�Ö�Ì�d�(�©�‰�I
«� �,�ˆ�M�#�¿
�«�Å
›�S�S���¿�û�•�¥�#�Þ�Ö�¿���±�d�ò�(�Ì�ï
�$�‚��� �}	y�Ø�f

�è�+�¿�è�p�ª�Á�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�˜�ª�‚ 

�è�+�]�È�I
²�1�ì�½
7�ç�6���_�Æ�‰�p�6�o�1�Y

7�ç	 Ì 
 � � � �S�_�Æ�¿�0�¥�•�®�! 
â�7� ‘�Y�Þ�£�•
� › �d �Ü�¡ 	F �¼�þ�®�ª �®�À�H
‹ �1 �Y� ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � �
�Œ�d�¿�Ý�¼�è�+�>�›�Á�Ü�¡�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�n�@��
�Y�Þ�ë�«�Å�9
›�Õ�Ä�ª�‚�d�ø�4�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�”
�6�À�¯�_�õ�œ
_�Ð�y�¬�þ�¬�ç�Y� �}�y�¬�Ó���f

�¯�Ü�¡�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�Û�d�è�+���ª
Y���I
«� �5
�ƒ�¾���Y	•�b�d�(�Þ�£�~�5�ƒ�¾���Þ�ë�Y�+
°�€�½
�G�\�•�f	ð�¢�è�+�Ý
Z�I
«� 
ö�µ�Ð	þ�ß���6�d�Ð
	ð�ä�˜�.�(�Ì�I�ü�¼�ç�����Y�l�,�d�I�Æ
²
®�\
�ø�5�ƒ�¾���‰
?�þ�Y�6���,�f

The Group has established an audit committee under the 
Board, which has the functions of monitoring compliance 
with laws by the Group’s senior management and in its daily 
operations, and of carrying out investigations for suspected 
breaches of law. The Company convened meetings with the 
audit committee periodically to discuss financial, operational 
and compliance controls and risk management functions. 
Moreover, the Audit Committee assists the Board in leading 
the management and overseeing their design, implementing 
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control 
systems.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness of risk management 
process and risk management report including key risks and 
mitigation measure, in which it oversaw the development and 
implementation of the Group’s risk management system.

The Board has reviewed the effective of systems and 
considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2020, the 
risk management and internal control system and procedures 
of the Group were reasonably effective and adequate, and no 
material deficiencies has been identified.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing 
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
Consolidated Financial Statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to 
liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.
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The Directors have also selected suitable accounting 
policies and applied them consistently, adopted appropriate 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and made prudent 
and reasonable judgements and estimates, and have prepared 
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern 
basis. The Directors also warrant that the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements will be published in a timely manner.

The Directors are assisted by the audit committee in 
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

The statement of the auditor of the Group about their reporting 
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s 
Report” on pages 84 to 88 of this report.

MULTIPLE UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING 
CONCERN

As se t  ou t  i n  no te  2  to  the conso l i da ted f i nanc ia l 
statements, the Group incurred net loss of approximately 
RMB3,436,870,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net liabilities and 
net current liabilities of approximately RMB2,896,084,000 and 
RMB4,204,749,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2020, 
the Group’s borrowings and accrued interest of approximately 
RMB1,808,207,000 and RMB359,171,000 respectively had 
been due for immediate payment. In addition, as set out in 
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s 
other borrowings with carrying amounts of RMB2,788,147,000 
as at 31 December 2020, contained a default clause which 
requires the Group to make immediate repayment for all such 
outstanding balance of the original borrowings and interest 
payables in the event of default. Moreover, as at 31 December 
2020, there were several unsettled litigations against the Group 
mainly requesting the Group to repay certain payables with 
interest immediately as set out in note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statement. These conditions, along with other matters 
as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, 
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.
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The Group’s auditor stated in the independent auditor’s report 
that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the 
outcome of the measures taken by the Directors, as described 
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which are 
subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i) the successful 
negotiations with the banks/lenders for the renewal of or 
extension for repayment of outstanding borrowings, including 
those with overdue principals and interests; (ii) the successful 
obtaining of additional new sources of financing as and when 
needed; (iii) the successful maintenance of relationship with 
the Group’s existing banks/lenders such that no action will 
be taken by the relevant banks/lenders to demand immediate 
repayment of the borrowings in default, including those 
with cross-default terms; (iv) the successful defense in the 
litigations against the Group, e.g. those relating to repayment 
to non-controlling shareholders as disclosed in note 38 to 
the consolidated financial statements and no significant 
repayments ordered by the court; (v) successfully accelerating 
the coal production of those coal mines currently under 
production and the successful renewal of those expired coal 
mining rights of coal mines not yet commenced production, 
together with applying cost control measures in cost of sales, 
administrative expenses and capital expenditures, to increase 
the Group’s internally generated funds. The Group’s auditor 
were provided with an analysis by the management in respect 
of the Group’s going concern assessment. However, such 
analysis is not sufficiently detailed for the Group’s auditor to 
assess the Group’s plans and measures for future actions in 
the going concern assessment which take into account the 
uncertainty of outcome of these plans and measures and 
how variability in outcome would affect the future cash flows 
of the Group. The Group’s auditor have not been provided 
with sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude on 
the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going 
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To improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, the 
Group has undertaken measures such as revision of repayment 
schedules with financial institutions. The directors consider 
that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, 
having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of 
any other material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors 
consider the Group will be able to continue to operate as a 
going concern.

The independent auditors opinion is not modified in respect of 
these matters and the statement of the independent auditors 
of the Company, Moore Stephens CPA Limited, about their 
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the 
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 
84 to 88.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration to 
the Group’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit 
services provided to the Group is set forth below:

RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�©   

Audit services �è�p��
� 2,020
Non-audit services* �¢�è�p��
� * 700   

Total �¥�� 2,720
   

* Non-audit services related to agreed-upon procedures for assisting the 
Company review its condensed consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2020.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND 
INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company strictly complies with and implements the Listing 
Rules to disclose discloseable information on a true, accurate, 
complete and timely basis and all other information that might 
have significant impact on the decisions of shareholders and 
other concerned parties in an active and timely manner. Also, 
the Company takes effort in ensuring all shareholders have 
equal access to information.
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The management believes that effective communication with 
the investment community is essential. The executive Directors 
and the chief financial officer of the Company hold regular 
briefings and results presentation, attend investor forums and 
respond to investors’ call-in enquiries, participate in interviews 
with institutional investors and financial analysts in the PRC, 
Hong Kong and overseas countries to keep them abreast 
of the Company’s business and development as well as 
operating strategies and prospects. In delivering information 
to investors, the Company also listens to their advice and 
collects the feedback from them, in the interests of developing 
an interactive and mutually beneficial relationship with the 
Company’s investors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
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The Group is a long-time, continuous supporter of corporate 
social responsibility, dedicated to contributing to society 
through nature preservation and helping the underprivileged. 
To maintain its sustainable development momentum and 
become a leading international coal operator, the Group 
treats its employees, customers, the society and the natural 
environment ethically.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has been working tirelessly to build green 
communities. Besides promoting a green lifestyle, the Group 
strives to minimise damage to the environment while increasing 
production efficiency, creating win-win outcomes for the Group 
and the society.

Land reclamation

Consistent with the “those who destroys shall reclaim” 
guidance issued by the State Council, five coal mines of the 
Group (namely Fengxi Coal Mine, Chongsheng Coal Mine, 
Xingtao Coal Mine, Xinglong Coal Mine and Hongyuan Coal 
Mine) carried out reclamation activities for all parcels of land 
compromised during the course of mine construction and 
production. The reclamation project focuses on agricultural 
production and forest restoration according to the principle 
of “using for agriculture, forestry or animal husbandry as 
appropriate”. The Group will spend approximately RMB355 
million on reclamation projects for the five coal mines over 
periods of 22, 31, 25, 30 and 30 years respectively. Throughout 
the process, the Group will provide streamlined management 
and land protection services, thereby allowing the land to 
maximise its economic, social and ecological benefits.

Office 4R

The Group actively encourages its employees to apply “4R” 
(reduce, reuse, recycle and replace) rules in the office. Under 
the 4R policy, the Group’s employees replace direct paper 
printing with electronic scanning and use email to transmit 
documents in order to reduce the use of paper, and avoid 
the use of disposable products. From time to time, the Group 
reminds its employees to reuse single-side printed waste 
paper for printing internal documents. The Group’s office 
drinking fountains also use recyclable plastic bottles. In the 
future, the Group will continue to pursue the 4R policy and 
maintain a green working environment.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group considers its employees to be essential for the 
business success. Therefore, the Group attaches great 
importance to its employees’ physical and mental health 
and working environment, as well as their continuous skill 
development to enhance competitiveness. Thus, the Group 
has formulated occupational safety guidelines and policies for 
the working environment, along with related requirements for 
different employees, and provides regular safety training.

Communication channels

The Group believes that work performance and learning 
att i tudes are affected by internal factors such as the 
working environment, attitudes of co-workers and company 
policies. The Group therefore adopts an open approach 
which encourages employees to report their opinions to the 
management and provide the Group with ways to improve our 
operations.

Employee benefits

The Group’s employees are an important part of its assets. 
This is why employees are covered by insurance policies taken 
out by the Group and receive medical benefits in addition to 
wages and bonuses. The Group also holds an annual year-
end party to express its gratitude for the efforts made by 
the employees throughout the year and grants outstanding 
performance awards to employees with especially excellent 
performance.

Employee training

The Group’s ability to maintain continuous development amid 
severe competition depends on each employee performing 
their role well. Towards this end, the Group regularly invites 
professionals to organise training seminars on management, 
law, accounting, finance and other corporate fields for its 
employees, allowing employees to keep abreast of the latest 
information and making sure they have the knowledge and 
skills they need to handle the demands of their jobs.
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Housing allowance

In addition to general and basic benefits, the Group also 
offers housing allowances to coal miners to help limit the 
inconvenience they may encounter in getting to and from 
the workplace. This arrangement allows them to relocate to 
locations near the coal mine at lower cost to themselves, 
thereby saving commuting time and expense.

Safety code

As a coal operator, the Group attaches great importance to the 
safety of coal miners at work. Workers are therefore required 
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I n d e p e n d e n t  A u d i t o r ’ s  R e p o r t  t o  t h e  S h a r e h o l d e r s  o f

C h i n a  Q i n f a  G r o u p  L i m i t e d D I S C L A I M E R  O F  O P I N I O N W e  w e r e  e n g a g e d  t o  a u d i t  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l  

s t a t e m e n t s  o f  C h i n a  Q i n f a  G r o u p  L i m i t e d  ( t h e  “ C o m p a n y ” )  a n d  

i t s  s u b s i d i a r i e s  ( t o g e t h e r ,  t h e  “ G r o u p ” )  s e t  o u t  o n  p a g e s  6 7 3 t o  

2 6 4  w h i c h  c o m p r i s e  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  s t a t e m e n t  o f  f i n a n c i a l  

p o s i t i o n  a s  a t  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 0 ,  a n d  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  

s t a t e m e n t  o f  c o m p r e h e n s i v e  i n c o m e ,  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  

s t a t e m e n t 3 o f  c h a n g e s  i n  e q u i t y  a n d  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  s t a t e m e n t 3

o f  c a s h  f l o w s  f o r  t h e  y e a r  t h e n  e n d e d ,  a n d  n o t e s  t o  t h e  

c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s ,  i n c l u d i n g  a  s u m m a r y  o f  

s i g n i f i c a n t 3 a c c o u n t i n g  p o l i c i e s . W e  d o  n o t  e x p r e s s  a n  o p i n i o n  o n  t h e  G r o u p ’ s  c o n s o l i d a t e d  

f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s .  B e c a u s e  o f  t h e  s i g n i f i c a n c e  o f  e a c h  

o f  t h e  u n c e r t a i n t i e s  a n d  t h e i r  p o s s i b l e  e f f e c t s ,  i n d i v i d u a l l y  

a n d  c u m u l a t i v e l y ,  o n  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s  

d e s c r i b e d  i n  t h e  B a s i s  f o r  D i s c l a i m e r  o f  O p i n i o n  s e c t i o n  

o f  o u r  r e p o r t ,  i t  i s  n o t  p o s s i b l e  f o r  u s  t o  f o r m  a n  o p i n i o n  o n  

t h e s e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s .  I n  a l l  o t h e r  r e s p e c t s ,  

i n  o u r  o p i n i o n  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s  h a v e  

b e e n  p r o p e r l y  p r e p a r e d  i n  c o m p l i a n c e  w i t h  t h e  d i s c l o s u r e  

r e q u i r e m e n t s  o f  t h e  H o n g  K o n g  C o m p a n i e s  O r d i n a n c e .
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As se t  ou t  i n  no te  2  to  the conso l i da ted f i nanc ia l 
statements, the Group incurred net loss of approximately 
RMB3,436,870,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net liabilities and 
net current liabilities of approximately RMB2,896,084,000 and 
RMB4,204,749,000 respectively. As at 31 December 2020, the 
Group’s borrowings and accrued interests of approximately 
RMB1,808,207,000 and RMB359,171,000 respectively had 
been due for immediate payment. In addition, as set out in 
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s 
other borrowings with carrying amounts of RMB2,788,147,000 
as at 31 December 2020, with no event of default, contained a 
default clause that the Group will be required for repayment of 
the outstanding balance of the original borrowings and interest 
payables in the event of default. Moreover, as at 31 December 
2020, there were several unsettled litigations against the Group 
mainly requesting the Group to repay certain payables with 
interest immediately as set out in note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statement. These conditions, along with other matters 
as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, 
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee in 
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.
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�0�¥�d�Z�g�Z�S�Ë�g�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong 
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and to issue an auditor’s report 
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for 
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards 
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this 
report.

However, because of the matters described in the Basis for 
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to 
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis 
for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan King Keung
Practising Certificate Number: P06057

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Revenue �×	B 7 2,247,363 2,799,520
Cost of sales �V
/�Ó�I (1,892,048) (2,392,962)     

Gross profit �ã�; 355,315 406,558
Other income, gains and losses �I�ü�×�]�e�×	B�¿�f�& 8 (137,134) 27,744
Distribution expenses �±�V
š�Õ (2,261) (4,462)
Administrative expenses ���A
š�Õ (208,376) (140,758)
Impairment losses on coal mining rights �i�•
®�$�Æ�˜�¯�=�f�& 15 (1,869,716) –

Impairment losses on property, plant and 
 equipment

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜�¯�=�f�&
16 (2,069,252) –

Reversal of impairment losses on trade 
 receivables, net

�Ð�×
q�ø�*�›�˜�¯�=�f�&�a�«���X
31,736 8,001

(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment 
 losses on prepayments and other receivables, 
 net

�k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
°�˜
 �€�¯�=�f�&�•�J�¯�=�f�&�a�«���X

(12,987) 21,544
Other expenses �I�ü
š�Õ (33,483) (31,556)     

Results from operating activities �¾���8
��˜�8�6 (3,946,158) 287,071     

Finance income 	Ì
��×�] 2,189 1,446
Finance costs 	Ì
��Ó�I (369,029) (293,023)     

Net finance costs 	Ì
��Ó�I���X 9 (366,840) (291,577)     

Loss before taxation 	ð�ü�Ã�f�& 10 (4,312,998) (4,506)
Income tax credit �Ô
{�ü�ê�5 11 876,128 85,229     

(Loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f�&�•�J�P�; (3,436,870) 80,723     

Other comprehensive (loss)/income �I�ü�Œ�&�€�f�&�•�J�×�]
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to 
 profit or loss:

�I����	•� �-�±�ó���&	B�*�Y
°�f�j

 Foreign currency translation differences for 
  foreign operations

 	��.�8
��*�[�˜�.�Æ�l�Q�¨�X
(3,312) 1,695     

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the 
 year, net of tax

�Ë�«�I�ü�Œ�&�€�f�&�•�J�×�]�d	ð�ü��
(3,312) 1,695     

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 
 for the year

�Ë�«�Œ�&�€�f�&�•�J�×�]�<�X
(3,440,182) 82,418
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2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: �Ð�&�Ë�«�€�f�&�•�J�P�;�j
Equity shareholders of the Company �I�®�!�Æ	B�5�Þ�[ (2,901,499) 81,421
Non-controlling interests �¢
›�p�Æ	B (535,371) (698)     

(Loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f�&�•�J�P�; (3,436,870) 80,723
     

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 
 for the year attributable to:

�Ð�&�Ë�«�Œ�&�€�f�&�•�J�×�]�<�X�j

Equity shareholders of the Company �I�®�!�Æ	B�5�Þ�[ (2,904,811) 83,116
Non-controlling interests �¢
›�p�Æ	B (535,371) (698)     

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 
 for the year

�Ë�«�Œ�&�€�f�&�•�J�×�]�<�X
(3,440,182) 82,418

     

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to the 
 equity shareholders of the Company 
 during the year

�Ë�«�I�®�!�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�Ð�&�Ê�p
 �€�f�&�•�J�®�;

14
Basic (loss)/earnings per share �Ê�p
?�I�€�f�&�•�J�®�; RMB(116.6) cents

�[�O�Æ(116.6)�±
RMB3.1 cents

�[�O�Æ3.1�±
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share �Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�; RMB(116.6) cents

�[�O�Æ(116.6)�±
RMB3.1 cents

�[�O�Æ3.1�±
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2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Non-current assets �¢�t
����*
Coal mining rights �i�•
®�$�Æ 15 1,942,800 4,017,884
Property, plant and equipment �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê 16 2,371,686 4,669,115
Right-of-use assets �4�\�Æ���* 17 9,218 10,828
Other deposit �I�ü�2�– 23 34,264 –

Interest in an associate �õ�S
œ�L���®�!�˜�Æ	B 18 – –     

4,357,968 8,697,827     

Current assets �t
����*
Inventories �À�¬ 21 55,635 59,520
Trade receivables �Ð�×
q�ø�*�› 22 430,143 129,128
Prepayments and other receivables �k�ù�*�›�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�*�› 23 298,872 293,234
Pledged and restricted deposits �Š�ê�å�¿�a�"�S�À�› 24 403 15,229
Cash and cash equivalents �$�–�¿�$�–
����J 25 154,904 159,695     

939,957 656,806    
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2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Capital and reserves �p�I�¿�·�ê
Share capital �p�I 211,224 211,224
Perpetual subordinated convertible 
 securities

�Q�n�ã	t���l�p�Ç�N
31 156,931 156,931

Deficit �f�Y 31 (3,636,488) (710,511)     

Total deficit attributable to equity 
 shareholders of the Company

�I�®�!�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�Ð�&�f
 �Y�<�X (3,268,333) (342,356)

Non-controlling interests �¢
›�p�Æ	B 372,249 907,620     

Total (deficit)/equity �€�f�Y�•�J�Æ	B�<�X (2,896,084) 565,264
     

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors of 
China Qinfa Group Limited on 31 March 2021.

Xu Da Bai Tao
�±�: �c�ñ

Director Director
�è�+ �è�+
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2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Operating activities �¾���z
�
Loss before taxation 	ð�ü�Ã�f�& (4,312,998) (4,506)

Adjustments for: �1�h�•�¢
°�*�����Æ�j
Depreciation of property, plant and 
 equipment

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�±��
10 267,143 300,473

Amortisation of coal mining rights �i�•
®�$�Æ�Å�V 10 205,368 232,463
Depreciation of right-of-use asset �4�\�Æ���*�±�� 10 4,362 3,451
Finance income 	Ì
��×�] 9 (2,189) (1,446)
Finance costs 	Ì
��Ó�I 9 369,029 293,023
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment

��
/�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê
 �f�&�J�€�×	B�•���X 8 95 (1,800)

Property, plant and equipment written-off �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�Û�V 10 1,245 2,211
Impairment losses on coal mining rights �i�•
®�$�Æ�˜�¯�=�f�& 15 1,869,716 –

Impairment losses on property, plant and 
 equipment

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜�¯�=
 �f�& 16 2,069,252 –

Reversal of impairment on trade 
 receivables, net

�Ð�×
q�ø�*�›�˜�¯�=�a�«
 ���X (31,736) (8,001)

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment 
 losses) on prepayments and other 
 receivables, net

�k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×
 �›
°�˜�¯�=�f�&�J�€�¯�=
 �f�&�a�«�•���X 12,987 (21,544)

Recovery of trade and other receivables 
 previously written off

�×�«�@�»�Û�V�˜
q�ø�¿
 �I�ü�Ð�×�›
° 8 – (7,356)

Trade and other payables written off 
q�ø�¿�I�ü�Ð�ù�›
°�Û�V (8,269) –

Loss on non-substantial modification of 
 borrowings

�>
r�˜�¢� �}�L�·�f�&
8 194,351 –     

638,356 786,968
Changes in working capital: ���6���–�

��j
Change in inventories �À�¬�

� 3,815 2,386
Change in trade receivables �Ð�×
q�ø�*�›�

� (269,310) 192,796
Change in prepayments and other 
 receivables

�k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
°
 �

� (17,427) 63,553

Change in trade payables �Ð�ù
q�ø�*�›�

� 336,499 (223,681)
Change in other payables and contract 
 liabilities

�I�ü�Ð�ù�›
°�¿�¥�Ò��
À
 �

� (99,877) 12,220     

Cash generated from operations �¾���z
��Ô
{�$�– 592,056 834,242     
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2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Interest paid �Š�ù�;�¹ (42,401) (77,844)
PRC Corporate Income tax paid �Š�ù�•
7�†�8�Ô
{�ü (22,574) (48,530)     

Net cash generated from operating 
 activities

�¾���z
��Ô
{�$�–���X
527,081 707,868     

Investing activities �³���z
�
Interest received �Š�×�;�¹ 2,189 1,446
Deposit paid for proposed acquisition of 
 SDE (as defined in note 23)

�1���D�×�…SDE�€�›�È��
 �•
W23�•�Õ�ù�˜�2�– (34,264) –

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
 and equipment

��
/�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê
 �Ô
{�›
° 26 27,857

Payments for property, plant and 
 equipment

�1�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜
 �ù�› (68,129) (308,533)

Payments for mineral exploration and 
 mining rights

�1�i�$
�
ž�¿
®�$�Æ�˜
 �ù�› (54,327) (36,223)

Placement of pledged and restricted 
 deposits

�À�ó�Š�ê�å�¿�a�"�S�À�›
(378) (15,216)

Withdrawal of pledged and restricted 
 deposit

�d�_�Š�ê�å�¿�a�"�S�À�›
15,204 30     

Net cash used in investing activities �³���z
��Ô�\�$�–���X (139,679) (330,639)     

Financing activities �D���z
�
Proceeds from borrowings �>
r�Ô
{�›
° 25 855,100 579,901
Repayments of borrowings �µ�”�>
r 25 (1,244,837) (908,261)
Repayments of lease liabilities �µ�”	a�#��
À (4,335) (4,172)  
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1. GENERAL

China Qinfa Group Limited (the “Company”) was 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 March 2008 
as an exempted company with limited liability under 
the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (2007 Revision) of the 
Cayman Islands. The directors of the Company consider 
the immediate and ultimate holding companies of the 
Group to be Fortune Pearl International Limited (“Fortune 
Pearl”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin 
Islands and the ultimate controlling shareholder to be 
Mr. Xu Jihua (“Mr. Xu”), the sole shareholder of Fortune 
Pearl. The Company’s shares were listed on the Main 
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 3 July 2009 (the 
“Listing Date”). The address of its registered office is 
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand 
Cayman KY1–1111, Cayman Islands and the principal 
place of business of the Company is Unit Nos. 2201 to 
2208, level 22, South Tower, Poly International Plaza, 
No. 1 Pazhou Avenue East, Haizhu District, Guangzhou 
City, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The principal activi t ies of the Company and i ts 
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are coal mining, 
purchases and sales, filtering, storage, blending of coal 
in the PRC and shipping transportation.

The Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong 
dollars (“HKD”). However, the presentation currency 
of the consolidated financial statements is Renminbi 
(“RMB”) in order to present the operating results and 
financial position of the Group based on the economic 
environment in which the operating subsidiaries of the 
Group operate.
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2. �]�¥	Ì
����Œ�Y�Ü�¡
?�_ 

� I 
 « �   � õ � Ú � � � Z � g � Z � g � Ë � d � Z � Ü � g � d
� S � Ú � ß � Ë � � � * � [ � f � & � � � X � Ò � [ � O � Æ
3,436,870,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�P�;�Ò�[
�O�Æ80,723,000�©�•�f�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z
�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I
«� �Y��
À���X�¿�t
���

À���X�±�9�Ò�‰�[�O�Æ 2,896,084,000�©
�¿�[�O�Æ4,204,749,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j
� � � * � � �= �¿ � t 
 � � � 
À � � �X �± �9 �Ò�‰� [ �O
�Æ565,264,000�©�¿�[�O�Æ4,639,986,000
�©�•�f�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�>
r
�¿�Ð���;�¹�€�
�<�î�Þ�;�¹�•�±�9�Ò�[�O�Æ
1,808,207,000�©�¿�Ò�[�O�Æ359,171,000
�©�Š�Q�‚
²�C�Û�Õ�ù�d�õ�Q�‚�Û�J�Þ� �ƒ
�Ð���À�f

�ä�.�d�ì�½�Ú���Z�g�S�^�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S
�Ú�ß�Ë�����m�Y
��Q�X�D�€�›�È�¿�	
‹�±�9
���] �¥	Ì
 � � � �Œ�•
W28 �•�d�õ���$�<�Ò
‹
�1�h�d�Æ�<�Ò
â�›���ü���*�M�#�®�!����
�Ë�I
«� �Õ�ù�a�>
r�Y�J�µ�”
��q�¿�Ð�ù
�;�¹�f�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�*
�&�=
Ã�‰�[�O�Æ2,788,147,000�©�Y�I�ü�>

r�€�(�Ì�<�Ò�+�•�•�Š�õ�I
«� �Y�]�¥	Ì
�
�K�1�Œ�•�½�©�f�	
‹��
��a�]�¥	Ì
����Œ
�•
W28�f

�õ�]�¥	Ì
����Œ��
¬�Æ�
�ï�Ú�‚�d�I
«� 
� �J�1��
��t�x�<�Ò
â�›�_
{�´�ë�Õ���J

 r � › � [ �Y �€ �5 �d �þ � � �½� I 
« �   �M�# �4 �Ô
���d	ð�•
W28�Ô�Þ�£�k�.�d�Õ���J
r�›�[
�(�Ì���Ë�I
«� �C�Û�”�›�f

2. B A S I S  O F  P R E P A R A T I O N  O F  T H E 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group incurred net loss of approximately 
RMB3,436,870,000 (2019: profit of RMB80,723,000) for 
the year ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 
2020, the Group had net liabilities and net current 
liabilities of approximately RMB2,896,084,000 and 
RMB4,204,749,000 respectively (2019: net assets and 
net current liabilities of approximately RMB565,264,000 
and RMB4,639,986,000) respectively). As at 31 
financial
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. B A S I S  O F  P R E P A R A T I O N  O F  T H E 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

Moreover, there are a number of litigations against the 
Group of which the details are set out in note 38 to the 
consolidated financial statements, mainly requesting the 
Group to settle long outstanding payables with interest. 
And the Group’s bank deposits of approximately 
RMB403,000 were restricted for use in relation to 
the litigation proceeding, as set out in note 24 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the assumptions that the Group will 
continue to operate as a going concern notwithstanding 
the conditions prevailing as at 31 December 2020 
and subsequently thereto up to the date when the 
consolidated financial statements are authorised for 
issue. In order to improve the Group’s financial position, 
immediate liquidity and cash flows, and otherwise to 
sustain the Group as a going concern, the directors of 
the Company have adopted several measures together 
with other measures in progress at the date when the 
consolidated financial statements are authorised for 
issue, but not limited to, the followings:

(i) For borrowings which will be maturing before 
31 December 2021, the Group is actively 
negotiating with banks/lenders before they fall 
due to secure their renewals so as to ensure 
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2. B A S I S  O F  P R E P A R A T I O N  O F  T H E 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(ii) In relat ion to those borrowings that have 
been past due or those borrowings that 
became immediately repayable due to cross-
default clauses set out in the respective loan 
agreements, which are classified as current 
liabilities and detailed in note 28, the Group is 
in the process of negotiating with the relevant 
banks and other lenders to extend the repayment 
dates and to obtain waivers from banks;

(iii) the Group will actively obtain additional new 
sources of financing as and when needed;

(iv) Given the stability of coal market and uprising 
coal prices, the Group will accelerate the coal 
production of those coal mines currently under 
production and apply for the renewal of those 
expired coal mining rights of coal mines not 
yet commenced production, together with 
applying cost control measures in cost of 
sales, administrative expenses and capital 
expenditures, to increase the Group’s internally 
generated funds and operating cash inflows in 
coming years continuously. The Group recorded 
a net operating cash inflow of RMB527,081,000 
during the year; and

(v) The Group has appointed external lawyers 
and/or assigned internal lawyers to handle the 
outstanding litigations, and to mitigate the risk 
exposure from any legal claims. In respect 
of some of the litigations, the directors of the 
Company are of the opinion that the Group has 
valid grounds to defend against the claims.



For the year ended 31 December 2020 �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

101�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�Ë��   ANNUAL REPORT  2020      

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�•
W

2. �]�¥	Ì
����Œ�Y�Ü�¡
?�_�€�ƒ�•   
 

	ÿ�£�j��
£�D	•�õ����
Z�8�Ó���¼�D�d�Á
�I
«� �f�Ã�¿�k�»�$�–�K�1
†��
Y�����d
�I�®�!�è�+�€�H�®�©�‰�d�I
«� 
Z�Þ	•�b
�¯�I
«� 	Ì
��ª�‚�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g
�d�S�Ú	Î���d�Z�H�Ü�«�Q�‚�Û�Œ�p�š�ø�µ
�ù�f�ª�ä�d�I
«� �˜�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�Š�2�5
�ƒ�¾��
?�_�Ü�¡�f

�J�I
«� �Ì�,�1�ƒ�ø�5�ƒ�¾���Y
?�_�¾��
�8
��d�Æ
²�*�����Æ�d�ø
Z�I
«� ���*�Y
�*�&�=�Û�¯���I���×�«�–�X�d�1��	•�*�[
�Y�‚��
†�S�É��
À�*���a�ê�d�ø�¿
Z�¢�t

����*�¿�¢�t
���
À�±�9� �-�±�ó�‰�t
�
���*�¿�t
���
À�f��
����Æ�Y�B�¤�(�J�¯
��
��]�¥	Ì
����Œ�•�À�H�f

2. B A S I S  O F  P R E P A R A T I O N  O F  T H E 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

On the basis of the successful implementation of the 
measures described above in the foreseeable future 
and after assessing the Group’s current and forecasted 
cash positions, the directors of the Company are 
optimistic that the Group will be able to meet in full the 
Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for the 
twelve months from 31 December 2020. Accordingly, 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared on the going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as 
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made 
to write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s 
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any 
further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current 
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects 
of these adjustments have not been reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs ”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective 
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time 
in the current year:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to IFRS 9, 
 IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Except as described below, the application of the 
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and 
performance for the current and prior years and/or on 
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial 
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 and 
IAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to IAS 1 
and IAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments provide a new definition of material that 
states “information is material if omitting, misstating or 
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence 
decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide financial information about a 
specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify 
that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude 
of information, either individually or in combination 
with other information, in the context of the financial 
statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year 
had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs ”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective 
for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 3 
“Definition of a Business”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first 
time in the current year. The amendments clarify that 
while businesses usually have outputs, outputs are not 
required for an integrated set of activities and assets 
to qualify as a business. To be considered a business, 
an acquired set of activities and assets must include, 
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that 
together significantly contribute to the ability to create 
outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether 
market participants are capable of replacing any 
missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce 
outputs. The amendments also introduce additional 
guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive 
process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional 
concentration test that permits a simplified assessment 
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets 
is not a business. Under the optional concentration 
test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not a 
business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross 
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable 
asset or group of similar assets. The gross assets 
under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, 
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the 
effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether 
to apply the optional concentration test is available on 
transaction-by-transaction basis.

The application of the amendments had no impact on 
the consolidated financial statements in the current year 
as similar conclusion would have been reached without 
applying the optional concentration test.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs ”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet 
effective (continued)

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs 
mentioned below, the directors of the Company 
anticipate that the application of all other new and 
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable 
future.

Amendment to IFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent 
Concessions”

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

The amendment introduces a new practical expedient 
for lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-
related rent concession is a lease modification. The 
practical expedient only applies to rent concessions 
occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 that 
meets all of the following conditions:

• the change in lease payments results in revised 
consideration for the lease that is substantially 
the same as, or less than, the consideration for 
the lease immediately preceding the change;

• any reduction in lease payments affects only 
payments originally due on or before 30 June 
2021; and

• there is no substantive change to other terms 
and conditions of the lease.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs ”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet 
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities 
as Current or Non-current”

The amendments provide clarification and additional 
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement 
for at least twelve months from reporting date for 
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, 
which:

• specify that the classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current should be based on rights 
that are in existence at the end of the reporting 
period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected 
by management intentions or expectations 
to settle the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance 
with covenants, the right exists if the 
conditions are met at the end of the 
reporting period, even if the lender does 
not test compliance until a later date; and

• clarify that if a liability has terms that could, 
at the option of the counterparty, result in its 
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own 
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its 
classification as current or non-current only if 
the entity recognises the option separately as 
an equity instrument applying IAS 32 “Financial 
Instruments: Presentation”.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs ”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet 
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and 
Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use”

The amendments specify that the costs of any item 
that were produced while bringing an item of property, 
plant and equipment to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management (such as samples 
produced when testing whether the relevant property, 
plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the 
proceeds from selling such items should be recognised 
and measured in the profit or loss in accordance with 
applicable standards. The cost of the items is measured 
in accordance with IAS 2 “Inventories”.

The application of the amendments is not expected to 
have significant impact on the financial position and 
performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 “Onerous Contracts – Cost 
of Fulfilling a Contract”

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses 
whether a contract is onerous in accordance with IAS 
37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets”, the unavoidable costs under the contract 
should reflect the least net cost of exiting from the 
contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and 
any compensation or penalties arising from failure to 
fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental 
costs and an allocation of other costs that relate directly 
to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the 
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and 
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which 
the Group has not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the 
date of initial application.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs, 
which collective term includes all applicable individual 
IFRS, IAS and related Interpretations, promulgated by 
the IASB and the applicable disclosure requirements 
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of 
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of 
the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market part icipants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics 
of the asset or liability if market participants would take 
those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
consolidated financial statements is determined on such 
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 “Share-based 
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in 
accordance with IFRS 16, and measurements that have 
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such 
as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36 
“Impairment of Assets”.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value 
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of 
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, 
which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement 
date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted 
pr ices inc luded wi th in Leve l  1,  that  are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control 
is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its 
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an 
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of 
control listed above.



For the year ended 31 December 2020 �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

112 CHINA QINFA GROUP LIMITED   �•
7	b�ï
«� �Þ�"�®�!

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�•
W

4. � �}�6���A
� �€�ƒ�•  

�]�¥
?�_ �€�ƒ�•

�•�n�®�!�õ�I
«� �_
{�Þ�ë�•�n�®�!�Y
›
�S�Æ�Û
š�•�]�¥�]�*�d�(�õ�I
«� �0���Þ
�ë�•�n�®�!�Y
›�S�Æ�Û�^�ß�]�¥	¾�*�f�H
���þ�
�d�Ë�«�Ô�×�…�Ð��
/�•�n�®�!�Y�×
�]�¿
š�Õ�W���I
«� �_
{
›�S�Æ�…�Ú	Î��
�]�]�¥�Œ�&�×�]�Œ�d�\���I
«� �”�Ž
›�S
�Þ�ë�•�n�®�!�˜�Ú�‰�ß�f

�&	B�¿�I�ü�Œ�&�×�]�¢
°�f�å�n�õ�I�®�!
�¹�Þ�[�¿�¢
›�p�Æ	B�f�•�n�®�!�Y�Œ�&�×
� ] �< �X �å �õ � I �® � ! � ¹ �Þ � [ �¿ �¢ 
 › �p �Æ	B
�«�d�C�4�ä�X�6�¬�ç�¢
›�p�Æ	B�*�[�f�Y

��q�f

�J�Þ�ê���d�•�n�®�!�Y	Ì
����Œ
Z�*����
�Æ�d�ø�4�I�6���A
��~�I
«� �Y�6���A
�
�S�ç�f

�Þ�ë�I
«� �Ó�p�®�!�˜
œ�t�ø�Y�Ô�Þ
«� 
�«�®�!
œ���*�¿��
À�e�Æ	B�e�×�]�e
š�Õ
�ø�¿�$�–�t
Ž�õ�]�¥�*�f�Û�Œ�p�Á�V�f

�•�n�®�!�Y�¢
›�p�Æ	B�~�I
«� �Y�Æ	B�±

š�O�•�d�8�$�Û�¹�Þ�˜�Æ	B�ò�(�š�5�Þ�[
�Æ�;�õ
ö�µ�Û�2�â�7�±�&�´�ë�•�n�®�!��
���*�f

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired 
or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from 
the date the Group gains control until the date when the 
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive 
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of 
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even 
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented 
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which 
represent present ownership interests entitling their 
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the 
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions 
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets 
or l iabi l i t ies re lated to employee benef i t 
arrangements are recognised and measured in 
accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes” and IAS 
19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree 
or share-based payment arrangements of the 
Group entered into to replace share-based 
payment arrangements of the acquiree are 
measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the 
acquisition date (see the accounting policy 
below);

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified 
as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations” are measured in accordance with 
that standard; and

• lease liabilities are recognised and measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments (as defined in IFRS 16) as if the 
acqui red leases were new leases at the 
acquisition date, except for leases for which 
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the 
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is 
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised 
and measured at the same amount as the 
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect 
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease 
when compared with market terms.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions 
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of 
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair 
value of the acquirers previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed 
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net 
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirers 
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the 
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is 
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition 
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, which represent the lowest level at which 
the goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been 
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently when there is indication that the unit may 
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in 
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which 
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 
before the end of that report ing per iod. I f  the 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on 
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each 
asset in the unit.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any 
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill 
is included in the determination of the amount of profit 
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an 
operation within the cash-generating unit, the amount 
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of 
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

The Group’s pol icy for goodwi l l  ar is ing on the 
acquisition of an associate is described below.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence. Significant influence is the power 
to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint 
control over those policies.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate 
are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. 
The financial statements of the associate used for 
equity accounting purposes are prepared using 
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for 
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate 
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes 
in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for 
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective 
evidence that the interest in an associate may be 
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the 
entire carrying amount of the investment (including 
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with 
IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable 
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs 
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment 
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of 
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that 
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently 
increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence 
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal 
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting 
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When 
the Group retains an interest in the former associate 
and the retained interest is a financial asset within 
the scope of IFRS 9/IAS 39, the Group measures the 
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair 
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the 
associate and the fair value of any retained interest and 
any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the 
associate is included in the determination of the gain or 
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group 
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on 
the same basis as would be required if that associate 
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income by that associate would 
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the 
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies 
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a 
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial 
disposal of the relevant associate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an 
associate but the Group continues to use the equity 
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the 
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to 
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss 
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of 
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the 
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions 
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements only to the extent 
of interests in the associate that are not related to the 
Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated 
in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, 
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset 
to a working condition for its intended use, the costs 
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring 
the site on which they are located and capitalised 
borrowing costs and changes in the measurement of 
existing liabilities recognised for these costs resulting 
from changes in the timing or outflow of resources 
required to settle the obligation or from changes in the 
discount rate. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as 
part of that equipment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

When proved and probable coal reserves have been 
determined, costs incurred to develop coal mines are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the mining structures. 
All other expenditures, including the costs of removing 
waste materials, the cost of repairs and maintenance 
and major overhaul, are expensed as they are incurred.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different estimated useful lives, then 
they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property, plant and equipment.

An i t em o f  p roper ty ,  p lan t  and equ ipment  i s 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the 
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss on 
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment 
(calculated as the difference between the net proceeds 
from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) 
is recognised in the consol idated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of the replaced component is 
derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as 
incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its 
residual value. Significant components of individual 
assets are assessed and if a component has an 
estimated useful life that is different from the remainder 
of the asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciat ion is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of each component 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, other than 
mining structures.

The est imated useful l ives for the current and 
comparative years of significant items of property, plant 
and equipment are as follows:

Plant and buildings 10–30 years
Machinery 3–30 years
Electronic and other equipment 3–10 years
Motor vehicles 5–15 years
Vessels 10–30 years

Mining structures are depreciated using the units-of-
production method, utilising proved and probable coal 
reserves in the depletion base.

No deprec ia t ion is prov ided for assets under 
construction until such time as the relevant assets are 
completed and available for intended use. Assets under 
construction are transferred to the relevant categories 
of property, plant and equipment upon the completion 
of their respective construction.

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and 
residual values are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and adjusted if appropriate, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Coal mining rights

Coal mining rights represent coal mining rights 
acquired from the government or through a business 
combination. Coal mining rights are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

Coal mining rights are amortised using the units-of-
production method, utilising proved and probable coal 
reserves in the depletion base.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other 
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews 
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets (including 
right-of-use assets) with finite useful lives to determine 
whether there is any indication that these assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are 
estimated individually, when it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
can be identified.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other 
than goodwill (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

The cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted 
average cost formula and comprises expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or 
conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing 
them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories is recognised as cost of sales in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount 
of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value 
and all losses of inventories are recognised as cost of 
sales in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the period the write-down or loss occurs. 
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount 
of inventories recognised as cost of sales in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the 
period in which the reversal occurs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Obligations for reclamation

The Group’s obligations for reclamation consist of 
spending estimates at both surface and underground 
mines in accordance w i th the PRC ru les and 
regulations. The Group estimates its liabilities for final 
reclamation and mine closure based upon detailed 
calculations of the amount and timing of the future 
cash spending to perform the required work. Spending 
estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted at 
a discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability such that the amount of provision reflects 
the present value of the expenditures expected to be 
required to settle the obligation. The Group records as 
additional costs of the mining structures in property, 
plant and equipment associated with the liability for 
final reclamation and mine closure. The obligation and 
corresponding asset are recognised in the period in 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Share capital (continued)

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities issued 
by the Group gives the right to the holder to convert 
these securities into a fixed number of the Company’s 
shares at any time at a fixed exercise price per share. 
Perpetual subordinated convertible securities with 
no contractual obligation to repay its principal and 
no contractual obligation to pay any distribution are 
classified as equity. Respective distributions if and 
when declared are treated as equity dividends.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in 
which they are declared.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under IFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when 
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
“control” of the goods or services underlying the 
particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service 
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially 
the same.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over t ime and revenue is 
recognised over time by reference to the progress 
towards complete sat is fact ion of  the re levant 
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is 
met:

• the customer s imul taneously receives or 
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates and enhances 
an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an 
asset with an alternative use to the Group and 
the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time 
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good 
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to 
consideration in exchange for goods or services 
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is 
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment 
in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable 
represents the Group’s uncondi t iona l  r ight to 
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required 
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation 
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which 
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of 
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a 
contract are accounted for and presented on a net 
basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are transferred to 
customers which are taken to be the point in time when 
the customer has control on the goods and thus, the 
performance obligation was satisfied. Revenue from 
the sales of goods in the course of ordinary activities is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and value 
added tax.

Charter hire income

Income from time charter, which is of operating lease in 
nature, is recognised in accordance with IFRS 16 on a 
straight-line basis over the period of each charter.

Income from voyage charter is recognised over time 
by reference to the progress of which the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits 
when the voyage charter service is provided by the 
Group.

Government subsidies

Government subsidies are recognised when there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be received and 
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching 
to them. Subsidies that compensate the Group for 
expenses incurred are recognised as other income in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the 
expenses are incurred. Subsidies that compensate 
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from 
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are 
effectively recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income over the estimated useful life of 
the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual 
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) 
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting 
period, monetary i tems denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of 
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated 
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation 
currency of the Group (i. e. RMB) using exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income 
and expenses items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences 
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of 
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests 
as appropriate).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is 
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments and interests are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise 
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, 
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of 
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing 
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the 
Group first determines whether the tax deductions 
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease 
liabilities.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions 
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group 
applies IAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences 
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the 
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition 
exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to 
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the 
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit 
or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax 
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity respectively.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs comprise borrowing costs, which are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of an asset which necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended 
use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that 
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost 
of qualifying asset commences when expenditure for 
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being 
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. 
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or 



For the year ended 31 December 2020 �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

134 CHINA QINFA GROUP LIMITED   �•
7	b�ï
«� �Þ�"�®�!

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�•
W

4. � �}�6���A
� �€�ƒ�•  

�‡�p�E�;

�õ�‚�‡�p�E�;

�Z�–�e�Ë���€�Î�e�Þ�Z�Ë	ÿ�¿�¢�¬�Æ�E�;
�Ó � I �d �õ �‡ �p �4 � \ �Þ �ë � � 
 � � ˜ �Ë � � �« � ]
���f�J�·�p�ù�›�Ð
��Q�6
m�8� �}�B�¤�d
��
��p�X
²�2�$�=�•�*�f

	×�~���Œ�ª�‚

�I
«� �ì�½
v�S�Ì�®���–���Œ
â�7�d�‰�I
�Ô�Þ�0�¥�‡�p�d�6�›�X�6�›
v�S�Ì�®���–
	×�~�E�;���Œ�€�˜
v���–���Œ�™�•�f�6�›�W�ì
�½�‡�p
?�I�Z�–�˜�õ�±�â���Q�d�(�õ�Þ�ë
�›
°�ì�½
v���–���Œ�˜�•�Æ
²�š�Õ�ù�Û��
�]�]�¥�Œ�&�×�]�Œ�f
v���–���Œ�˜���*�W
�ù�m�õ�I
«� �˜���*�d�(�_�ù�m�M�#�˜
?
�–�5�Þ�f

�I
«� �õ�•
7�¾���˜�•�n�®�!�˜�‡�p
²
�
� � �_ �…�®�9 �A � ´ �Ô �6 � * �Y � • � / 	× �~ �– � �
�Œ�f��
��•
7�•�n�®�!
²�2�I�Z�–�Ó�I�Y
�ð�•�õ�±�â�£�…�®�9�A�´�8�›�Y�•�/	×�~
�–���Œ�6�›�f�Þ�ë�6�›�õ�ì�½���•�/	×�~
�–���Œ�˜�•�Æ
²�Õ�ù�Û���]�]�¥�Œ�&�×�]
�Œ�f

�I
«� �õ�¢�Ë���?�Ì�4�\�‚���Ú�×�6�›�¯
�Ç�$�Þ�6�›�X�f

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the 
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by 
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred 
and the effect would be material, these amounts are 
stated at their present values.

Retirement plan obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory 
Provident Fund ret i rement benefi t scheme (the 
MPF Scheme) under the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong 
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage 
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
as they become payable in accordance with the rules 
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme 
are held separately from those of the Group in an 
independently administered fund.

The employees of the subsidiaries within the Group 
which operate in the PRC are required to participate 
in the central pension scheme operated by the local 
municipal government. These PRC subsidiaries are 
required to contribute a percentage of their payroll costs 
to the central pension scheme as specified by the local 
municipal government. The contributions are charged 
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of 
the central pension scheme.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised by the 
Group to reduce existing level of contributions for each 
of the years.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is 
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding 
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair 
value is measured at grant date using the Binomial 
Model and Binomial Lattice Model, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the options were 
granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting 
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to 
the options, the total estimated fair value of the options 
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account 
the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options 
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting 
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in 
prior years is charged/credited to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year of the 
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify 
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding 
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, 
the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with 
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based 
compensation reserve) except where forfeiture is only 
due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to 
the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity 
amount is recognised in the share-based compensation 
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it 
is transferred to share capital and share premium 
accounts) or the option expires (when it is released 
directly to retained earnings or accumulated losses).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the r isks and uncertaint ies 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time 
value of money is material).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a 
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence wi l l  only be conf irmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future 
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 
remote.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value except for trade receivables 
arising from contracts with customers which are initially 
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income and interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; 
and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), except 
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition 
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity 
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 
combination to which IFRS 3 applies.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets (continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose 
of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of 
identified financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual 
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and 
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a 
financial asset that are required to be measured at 
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on 
financial assets which are subject to impairment 
under IFRS 9 (including trade receivables and other 
receivables). The amount of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since 
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from 
all possible default events over the expected life of the 
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents 
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result 
from default events that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on 
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the 
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade 
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed 
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate 
groupings based on the past due analysis of the trade 
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. 
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credi t r isk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the r isk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken 
into account when assessing whether credit risk 
has increased significantly:
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

• an ac tua l  o r  expec ted s ign i f i can t 
deterioration in the operating results of 
the debtor; or

• an actual or expected significant adverse 
change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor 
that results in a significant decrease 
in the debtors ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above 
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are 
more than 30 days past due with reference to 
the historical payment pattern of customers of 
the Group, unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness 
of the criteria used to identify whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk and 
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the 
criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit r isk before the amount 
becomes past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group 
considers an event of default occurs when 
information developed internally or obtained 
from external sources indicates that the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, 
in full (without taking into account any collaterals 
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers 
that default has occurred when a financial asset 
is more than 1 year past due with reference to 
the historical payment pattern of customers of 
the Group, unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more 
appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or 
more events of default that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence 
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer 
or the borrower;

• a breach of contract, such as a default 
or past due event; the lender(s) of the 
borrower, for economic or contractual 
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower 
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would 
not otherwise consider;

• it is becoming probable that the borrower 
will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for 
that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there 
is information indicating that the counterparty 
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, 
when the counterparty has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, 
when the amounts are over two years past due, 
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written 
off may still be subject to enforcement activities 
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking 
into account legal advice where appropriate. A 
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any 
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit 
or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the 
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and 
the exposure at default. The assessment of the 
probability of default and loss given default is 
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an 
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that 
is determined with the respective risks of default 
occurring as the weights.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between 
all contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Group in accordance with the contract and 
the cash f lows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate 
determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or 
cater for cases where evidence at the individual 
instrument level may not yet be available, the 
financial instruments are grouped on the basis 
of:

• nature of financial instrument;

• past-due status;

• nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• external credit ratings where available.

The g roup ing  i s  r egu la r l y  rev iewed by 
management to ensure the constituents of 
each group continue to share similar credit risk 
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case 
interest income is calculated based on amortised 
cost of the financial asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues control the transferred asset, 
the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset 
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset 
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceed received. Any interest in such transferred 
financial assets that is created or retained by the Group 
is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the assets 



For the year ended 31 December 2020 �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

149�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�Ë��   ANNUAL REPORT  2020      

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�•
W

4. � �}�6���A
� �€�ƒ�•  

�–�D�ˆ�H �€�ƒ�•

�–�D��
À�¿�Æ	B �€�ƒ�•

�Æ	B�ˆ�H

�Æ	B�ˆ�H�W�Ç�¼�Ô	ð�¼���Ô�Þ��
À���I��
�*�Y�õ�q�Æ	B�Y�‚���¥�Ò�f�I�®�!�ï���˜
�Æ	B�ˆ�H�2�Š�×�Ô
{�›
°�Ô	ð�\
Ÿ�ï���Ó
�I�½�©�f

�2�Å�V�Ó�I�]�*�Y�–�D��
À

�–�D��
À�€�
�<�Ð�ù
q�ø�›
°�e�I�ü�Ð�ù�›

°�¿�>
r�•�I��
®�\�¼�ç�;���,�2�Å�V�Ó�I
��
Ž�f

�–�D��
À�Y�_	
�½�©�J�L�·

�–�D��
À�õ�¿
Ã�õ�I
«� �Y�ª�‚����	ð�e
�_	
�Ð�£���Û�d�I
«� �Ù�6�_	
�½�©�f�Š
�_	
�½�©�–�D��
À�Y�*�&�=�~�Š�ù�¿�Ð�ù
�þ���˜
œ�Y�¨�X�õ�&	B�•�½�©�f

�…�–�D��
À�˜�¥�Ò
â�›�—�L���d�I
«� 
Y
���¾�L��
â�›�J�I
Z�a�Þ
â�›�*��� �}�L
���€���¿�Ô�Þ�´�ë�+�¼�¿
‹�1�d�
�<�›�Ì�ª
	o�•�f�J�Á�–�D��
À�Y�¥�Ò
â�›�*�����Æ�¬
�ç�a�Þ
â�›���$� �}�L�·�d�¾�ý�G�Ô�Þ�Þ
�ë�+�¼�¿
‹�1�€�
�<�›�Ì�ª	o�•�d�Þ�ë�L�·
�]�*�•�*�^�ß�½�©�a�I�–�D��
À�¿�½�©�-
�–�D��
À�f�^�ß�½�©�–�D��
À�Y�*�&�=�~
�Š�ù�Ð�Ð�ù�þ���Y�®�ª�=�˜
œ�Y�¨�.�€�
�<
�‚���Ô�Õ�Ä�Y��
À�¿�Š�½�©���[�Å�…�•�õ�&
	B�•�½�©�f

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued 
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other 
payables and borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and 
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised 
in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are 
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms 
result in a substantial modification from original terms 
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances 
including qualitative factors. When the contractual terms 
of financial liability are modified such that the revised 
terms would result in a substantial modification from 
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant 
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors, 
such modification is accounted for as derecognition of 
the original financial liability and the recognition of new 
financial liability. The difference between the carrying 
amount of financial liability derecognised and the 
fair value of consideration paid or payable, including 
any liabilities assumed and derivative components 
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require 
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor 
fails to make payments when due, in accordance 
with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial 
guarantees are given to banks and financial institutions 
on behalf of subsidiaries to secure interest-bearing 
bank borrowings and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the 
consolidated financial state13.4 ( mak.6 ( rrognistate1322iristate13val.5 (,)13. o5 ( the)44.2 21)]TJ
0.024 Tc37 -1.444 Td
[(conso)13. ( in)133.7 ( tuarantees)13. ( tuarawas ( tuaranto b (.)13.7 ( S6ch)13bse )3.6 (.)7)13.5 ( s7itially)13)3 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Lessee accounting

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate 
non-lease components from lease component, and 
instead account for the lease component and any 
associated non-lease components as a single lease 
component.

As a p rac t ica l  exped ien t ,  leases w i th s imi la r 
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when 
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the 
financial statements would not differ materially from 
individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition 
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date and 
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the 
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. 
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Lessee accounting (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the 
lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, less any lease incentives 
received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; 
and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group 
in dismantling and removing the underlying 
assets, restoring the site on which it is located 
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition 
required by the terms and conditions of the 
lease, unless those costs are incurred to 
produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably 
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased 
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated 
from commencement date to the end of the useful 
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated 
useful life and the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Lessee accounting (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under 
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments 
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as 
additional lease payments and included in the cost of 
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group 
recognises and measures the lease liability at the 
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at 
that date. In calculating the present value of lease 
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate 
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the index 
or rate as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group 
under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the 
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the 
option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if 
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an 
option to terminate the lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

As a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as 
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s 
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted 
under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are 
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operat ing segments, and the amounts of each 
segment item reported in the consolidated financial 
statements, are identified from the financial information 
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocating resources 
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s 
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not 
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and 
are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services, the nature of production processes, the type 
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute 
the products or provide the services, and the nature of 
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which 
are not individually material may be aggregated if they 
share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s 
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; 
or

(iii) is a member of the key management 
personnel of the Group or the Company’s 
parent.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of 
the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is 
related to the others);

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture 
of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which 
the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the 
same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third 
entity and the other entity is an associate 
of the third entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit 
plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the Group or an entity related to the 
Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled 
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the 
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group 
of which i t  is a par t ,  prov ides key 
management personnel services to the 
Group or to the parent of the Company.

Close members of the family of a person are those 
family members who may be expected to influence, or 
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the 
entity.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements 
requires the directors of the Company to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 
making the judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application 
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements and major sources of estimation 
uncertainty are described as follows:

(i) Provision of ECL for trade receivables and 
other receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL 
for the trade receivables. The provision rates 
are based on nature of goods provided to the 
customers as groupings of various receivables 
that have similar loss patterns. The provision 
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default 
rates taking into consideration forward-looking 
information that is available without undue costs 
or effort. At every reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are reassessed and 
changes in the forward-looking information are 
considered.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(i) Provision of ECL for trade receivables and 
other receivables (continued)

The Group makes periodic individual assessment 
on the recoverability of other receivables based 
on historical settlement records, past experience, 
and also quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information.

In addi t ion, t rade receivables and other 
receivables with significant balances and credit 
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. 
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes 
in estimates. The information about the ECL 
and the Group’s trade receivables and other 
receivables are disclosed in note 34. As at 
31 December 2020, the carry ing amount 
of trade receivables and other receivables 
are approx imate ly RMB430,143,000 and 
RMB117,522,000 (2019: RMB129,128,000 and 
RMB26,429,000) respectively, net of reversal of 
impairment loss allowance and impairment loss 
allowance of approximately RMB55,656,000 and 
RMB344,768,000 (2019: RMB132,295,000 and 
RMB343,125,000) respectively.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(ii) Impairment assessment of property, plant and 
equipment and coal mining rights

When there is indication that property, plant 
and equipment and coal mining rights may be 
impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amounts of the relevant assets or the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belong. 
When i t  i s  no t  poss ib le  to  es t imate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit in which the relevant assets 
are attached to, which is the higher of the value 
in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The 
value in use calculation requires the Group to 
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise 
from the cash-generating units projected with 
reference to the projected sales quantities, unit 
selling prices, unit costs, gross margins, growth 
rates and discounted at a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate the present value. The 
estimated uncertainty mainly includes gross 
margin, discount rate and growth rate. Where the 
actual future cash flows are less than expected, 
or change in facts and circumstances which 
results in downward revision of future cash, a 
material impairment loss or a further impairment 
loss may arise.

As disclosed in the notes 15 and 16, impairment 
loss o f  coa l  min ing r igh ts amount ing to 
RMB1,869,716,000 and impa i rment loss 
of related property, plant and equipment 
amounting to RMB2,057,757,000 (2019: Nil) 
were recognised as at 31 December 2020, and 
the carrying amounts of property, plant and 
equipment and coal mining rights of coal mining 
cash-generating units are RMB2,219,033,000 
and RMB1,942,800,000 respectively (2019: 
RMB4,497,151,000 and RMB4,017,884,000 
respectively).

Details of the recoverable amount calculation are 
disclosed in note 15.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(iv) Coal reserves (continued)

Despite the inherent imprecision in these 
engineering estimates, these estimates are used 
in determining depreciation and amortisation 
expenses and impairment loss. Depreciation 
and amortisation rates are determined based 
on estimated proved and probable coal reserve 
quantity (the denominator) and capitalised 
costs of mining structures and coal mining 
rights (the numerator). The capitalised cost of 
mining structures is depreciated and coal mining 
rights are amortised based on the units of coal 
produced.

At 31 December 2020, as disclosed in the 
note 15, according to the CPR (as defined 
in note 15), the total coal reserves of all the 
Group’s coal mines in accordance with JORC 
Code were approximately 58 million tonnes 
as at 31 December 2020, as compared with 
original coal reserves of 199 million tonnes 
previously estimated. The net carrying amounts 
of the Group’s mining structures recognised 
in property, plant and equipment and the 
Group’s coal mining rights were approximately 
RMB825,347,000 (2019: RMB1,790,700,000) 
and approximately RMB1,942,800,000 (2019: 
RMB4,017,884,000) respectively. Further details 
are disclosed in notes 15 and 16 respectively.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

The Group has two operating and reportable segments 
which are the Group’s strategic business units, as 
follows:

• Coal business: Coal mining, purchases and 
sales, filtering, storage and blending of coal in 
the PRC.

• Shipping transportation: Time charter and 
voyage charter of vessels.

These strategic business units offer different products 
and services, and are managed separately because 
they require different technology and marketing 
strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the 
Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) reviews internal 
management reports on a monthly basis.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance 
and allocating resources between segments, the CEO 
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to 
each reportable segment on the following basis:

• The measure used for reporting segment profit 
is adjusted profit before net finance costs and 
income tax expense. Items not specifically 
attributable to individual segments, such as 
unallocated head office and corporate expenses 
are further adjusted.

• Segment assets include all tangible assets, 
coal mining rights, right of use assets or lease 
prepayments, interest in an associate and 
current assets with the exception of other 
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include 
trade payables, other payables attributable to 
activities of the individual segments, accrued 
rec lamat ion ob l igat ions and borrowings 
managed directly by the segments.

• Revenue and expenses are allocated to the 
reportable segments with reference to sales 
generated by those segments and the expenses 
incurred by those segments.
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(a) �±�Å�8�6�e���*�¿��
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

No operating segments have been aggregated in 
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Coal business Shipping transportation Total
�i�•�8
� 	˜�6�6�i �<��

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë �Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë �Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©        

Revenue from external customers �.�Å���Ò�×	B 2,190,112 2,720,845 57,251 78,675 2,247,363 2,799,520
Inter-segment revenue �±�Å
œ�×	B – – – – – –        

Reportable segment revenue �����S�±�Å�×	B 2,190,112 2,720,845 57,251 78,675 2,247,363 2,799,520
        

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 
 before taxation

�����S�±�Å	ð�ü�Ã
 �P�;�J�€�f�&�• (3,898,160) 316,533 (31,810) (18,444) (3,929,970) 298,089

Depreciation and amortisation �±���¿�Å�V (468,722) (529,412) (8,151) (6,975) (476,873) (536,387)
Net gain on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment

��
/�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿
 �£�ê�Y�×	B���X (92) 1,800 (3) – (95) 1,800

Impairment losses on property, 
 Plant and equipment

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜
 �¯�=�f�& (2,057,757) – (11,495) – (2,069,252) –

Impairment losses on coal 
 mining right

�i�•
®�$�Æ�˜�¯�=�f�&
(1,869,716) – – – (1,869,716) –

Reversal of impairment losses on 
 trade receivables, net

�Ð�×
q�ø�*�›�˜�¯�=
 �f�&�a�«���X 31,736 8,001 – – 31,736 8,001

(Impairment losses)/reversal of 
 impairment losses on 
 prepayments and other 
 receivables, net

�k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×
 �›
°��̃€�¯�=�f�&�•�J
 �¯�=�f�&�a�«���X

(12,987) 21,544 – – (12,987) 21,544
Recovery of trade and other 
 receivables previously written off

�×�«�@�»�Û�V�˜
q�ø
 �¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
° – 7,356 – – – 7,356

Additions to property, plant and 
 equipment


ô�Ä�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿
 �£�ê 41,117 205,587 7,108 752 48,225 206,339

Reportable segment assets �����S�±�Å���* 5,519,793 9,506,136 256,626 259,507 5,776,419 9,765,643
Reportable segment liabilities �����S�±�Å��
À (7,814,045) (7,699,230) (432,935) (100,707) (8,246,980) (7,799,937)
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6. �±�Å���S �€�ƒ�•

(b) �����S�±�Å�×	B�e	ð�ü�Ã�P�;�e���*�¿��

À�Y�Á�*

�×	B

	ð�ü�Ã�f�&

���*

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, 
profit before taxation, assets and liabilities

Revenue

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Total of reportable segments revenue �����S�±�Å�×	B�<�X 2,247,363 2,799,520
Elimination of inter-segment revenue �±�Å
œ�×	B�˜�Á�V – –    

Consolidated revenue �]�¥�×	B 2,247,363 2,799,520
    

Loss before taxation

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Total of reportable segments (loss)/profit 
 before taxation

�����S�±�Å	ð�ü�Ã
 �€�f�&�•�J�P�;�<�X (3,929,970) 298,089Tofice and cor ofnso6 Tm
( 7220 Tc 0 Tw 0 -1.444expensesevenue)Tj
/C0_1 1 Tf
0.028 Tc -0.028 Tw 20.157 1.444 .6 C0459E35004C60E0321 C0FC60E0321FC06C3>Tj
/T1_2 1 Tf
0 Tc 0 Tw 0 -1.444 Td
( )Tj
/C0_1 1 Tf
0.028 Tc -0.01 Tc -7.874 0D96 CD5D70942>Tj
/CS0 cs 1  scn
/GS0 gs
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.003 Tc -0.003 TTf
7.874 (16,w -29,970)11,01-29,97089Ence costsevenue291,57729,97026

    

Consolil Tm
(Loss before taxatiue)Tj
/C0_1 1 Tf
0.028 Tc -0.028 Tw 20.157 0 Td
<10510BC509F00C04.2 <14670942>Tj
/CS0 cs 1  scn
/GS0 gs
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.003 Tc -0.005.9w 15.478 0 4,312,99-29,970)
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6. �±�Å���S �€�ƒ�•

(b) �����S�±�Å�×	B�e	ð�ü�Ã�P�;�e���*�¿��

À�Y�Á�* �€�ƒ�•

��
À

(c) 
�
9���Ø

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I
«� �Y
�<���*�ô���‰�¾���I�i�•�8
��¿	˜�6�6�i
�8 
 � �Y � � � * � f � i � • �ô � � 
 / � š � • 
7 
7 �« � �
�Ò �d �Ô�Þ � i �$ � ³ � � �¼� / � j � � �õ � • 
7 � f � ª
�ä�d�´�ë�Y���*�;�÷�Œ�Å���õ�•
7�f�¬�u
�ô���õ�Œ�"�Í���«�Y�®
�	˜�6�9����	ã�f
�B�ä�d�I�®�!�è�+�©�‰�2�H���®
��Œ�±�I

«� ���*�¿�I�´�ë���I
š�Õ�(�Ì���È�f�ª
�ä�d�%�2���Ò�Ô�¯�®�#���Ä���Q�Y�×	B�O
�•�®
��±�Å���Ø�f

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, 
profit before taxation, assets and liabilities (continued)

Liabilities

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Total of reportable segments liabilities �����S�±�Å��
À�<�X 8,246,980 7,799,937
Elimination of inter-segment payables �±�Å
œ�Ð�ù�*�›�˜�Á�V (564,062) (407,524)
Tax payable �Ð�ù�ü
° 204,933 219,054
Deferred taxation �È�·�ü
° 289,093 1,173,673
Unallocated liabilities �J�±	ã��
À 17,065 4,229    

Consolidated total liabilities �]�¥��
À�<�X 8,194,009 8,789,369
    

(c) Geographic information

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total assets 
are primarily dominated by assets handling its coal 
business and shipping transportation business. The 
coal is sold primarily to the PRC domestic customers 
and investments in all coal mines are physically 
located in the PRC. Therefore, related assets are 
almost all located in the PRC. The vessels are primarily 
deployed across geographical markets for shipping 
transportation throughout the world. As a result, the 
directors of the Company consider that it will not be 
meaningful to allocate the Group’s assets and their 
related capital expenditure to specific geographical 
areas. Accordingly, geographical segment information 
is only presented for revenue, which is based on the 
geographical location of customers.
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(c) 
�
9���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�.�Å���Ò�×	B

(d) �Þ�ë�ô�����Ò�˜���Ø

�õ�Ë�«�d�I�t�ø�&�I
«� �×	B
t�@10%�˜
�ø�h�i�•�8
��±�Å���Ò�Y�×	B�½�h�j

* �8���´�ë���Ò�Y�×	B�&�I
«� �¢�Ë���Y�<�×
	B�i�-�õ10%�f

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(c) Geographic information (continued)

Revenue from external customers

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

PRC �•
7 2,217,289 2,738,204
Other countries �I�ü
7�• 30,074 61,316    

Total �<�� 2,247,363 2,799,520
    

(d) Information about major customers

During the year, revenue derived from the following 
customers in coal business segment with whom 
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s 
revenue are as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Customer A ���ÒA 749,769 777,462
Customer B ���ÒB 286,966 388,895
Customer C ���ÒC 284,854 N/A* �”�G�\*
Customer D ���ÒD 228,870 N/A* �”�G�\*
Customer E ���ÒE N/A* �”�G�\* 402,110
    

* Revenue from relevant customer was less than 10% of the 
Group’s total revenue for the respective year.
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�2 � � 
 � �G �ó �Œ�± �Y � � �Ò �¥ �Ò�× 	B �± �ð �½
�h�j


 �Ü�V
/�×	B�õ
 �Ü�7�E�š���Ò�Û�½�©�f

 �Ü�t�ù�Û�5�Ò�ª�‚�C�•�Ó�f�d�6�‚	a��

��×	B�õ�¢	a�‚�ø�\�Þ�,�½�©�f�d�6�û	a
��
��Y�×	B�J
��ý�I
«� �d�6�û	a��
��Y

†�•�‡�Û
œ�þ�½�©�f�û	a��
��•�Ó�Û�5�Ò
�ª�‚�C�•�Ó�f

7. REVENUE

Disaggregat ion of revenue from contracts with 
customers by service lines is as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Sales of coal �i�•�V
/ 2,190,112 2,720,845
Charter hire income 	a�–�×�] 57,251 78,675    

2,247,363 2,799,520
    

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised at a point 
in time when the goods are transferred to customers. 
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the 
delivery of the goods. Revenue from rendering of time 
charter services is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the period of each charter. Revenue from rendering 
of voyage charter services is recognised over time by 
reference to the progress of the voyage charter services 
provided by the Group. The performance obligation 
is satisfied upon the completion of the voyage charter 
services.
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(i) �A�´ �þ�?�–�[ �O�Æ43,954,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X
�Ë�j�[�O�Æ5,792,000�©�•�Š
¬���(�×�_�J�Ð
�×�*�‰�I
«� �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S
�Ú�ß�Ë���8
��ï�•�Y	Ì�A�þ�?�d
“�¢�¼��
²
�õ�•�Ë�j�5�I�ô�����8�®�Ã�d�þ�Þ�ë
â�•�Š
�:�Ó�f

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net 
Ò�3�€�f�&�•�J�×	B���X (5,974) 404
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of 
 property, plant and equipment

��
/�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜
 �€�f�&�•�J�×	B���X (95) 1,800

Loss on non-substantial modification 
 of borrowings (Note 28)

�>
r�¢� �}�L���Y�f�&
 �€�•
W 28�• (194,351) –

Recovery of trade and other 
 receivable previously written off

�a�«�@�»�Û�V�˜�Ð�×
q�ø
 �*�›�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�*�› – 7,356

Government subsidies �A�´�þ�?�– (i) 43,954 5,792
Insurance claimed �Š	p�µ�­�ˆ 8,717 238
Reversal of coal mineral resource 
 compensation

�i�$���U�þ�µ�a�«
– 6,276

Others �I�ü 10,615 5,878     

(137,134) 27,744
     

Note:

(i) The government subsidies of RMB43,954,000 (2019: 
RMB5,792,000) were granted and received/receivable as 
financial subsidies on the Group’s business development for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 with conditions that the 
respective entities would maintain their principal places of 
businesses at the designated area for the same year, which 
were fulfilled.
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(i) �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d�?
� Ì � > 
 r �Ó � I �Š � � � I � · � f �Ú � � �Z �g �S �X �Ë �d
�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d�>
r�Ó�I�Š�2�Ë�;��
6.83%���I�·�f

(ii) � ä 
 ° � f � 8 � ; � \ �¼ �ç � ; � � � � 	 ð �ø �h � � 
À �Y 
h
�$�j

9. NET FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Interest income �;�¹�×�] (2,189) (1,446)    

Interest on borrowings �>
r�;�¹ 130,927 133,205
Penalty interest �n�¹ 46,008 23,684
Interest charge on unwinding of discounts 
 (note (ii))

��	ð
h�$�˜�;�¹
š�Õ
 �€�•
W (ii)�• 192,094 181,027

Less:  Interest capitalised into property,  
 plant and equipment (note (i))

�¯�j �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�•�Š 
 ���I�·�;�¹�€�•
W(i) �• – (44,893)    

Finance costs 	Ì
��Ó�I 369,029 293,023    

Net finance costs 	Ì
��Ó�I���X 366,840 291,577
    

Notes:

(i) No borrowing cost has been capitalised for the year ended 31 
December 2020. The borrowing cost have been capitalized at 
a rate of 6.83% per annum for the year ended 31 December 
2019.

(ii) This item represents the unwinding of discount for the following 
liabilities using the effective interest rate:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Borrowings (note 28) �>
r�€�•
W28 �• 181,907 171,092
Lease liabilities 	a�#��
À 277 390
Accrued reclamation obligations (note 29) �k�d�B�¤
l�\�€�•
W29 �• 9,910 9,545    

192,094 181,027
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10. �ü�Ã�f�&

	ð�ü�Ã�f�&�Š�Ô	ð�ø�h�¢
°�j

�•
W�j

(i) �À�¬�Ó�I�
�<�~�‡�p�E�;
š�Õ�e�J�8�e�@�Ò
�¿ �£ �ê �± � � �ø �¿ � i � • 
® �$ �Æ�Å �V � ´ � ë �Y �Ò
�[�O�Æ750,086,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ
809,371,000�©�•�d�Þ�ë�–�X�u�Š���]�1�¢��

�
š�Õ�ó�9�õ�j�Ö�
�ù�Þ�£�Y�´�ë�<�–�X�f

10. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Cost of inventories (note (i)) �À�¬�Ó�I�€�•
W(i) �• 1,143,794 1,588,969
Short-term leases payment �õ�‚	a�#�Y�ù�› 1,376 460
Depreciation of property, plant and 
 equipment

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�±��
267,143 300,473

Amortisation of coal mining rights 
 (included in cost of sales)

�i�•
®�$�Æ�Å�V
 �€���]�V
/�Ó�I�• 205,368 232,463

Depreciation of right-of-use assets �4�\�Æ���*�±�� 4,362 3,451
Property, plant and equipment written-off 
 (note 16)

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�Û�V
 �€�•
W 16�• 1,245 2,211

Auditors remuneration �è�p�ª�G�–
 –  audit services  –  �2�è��
� 2,137 2,144
 –  non-audit services  –  �¢�2�è��
� 700 735
Employee benefit expenses (excluding 
 directors and chief executives 
 remuneration (note 12))

�‡�p�E�;
š�Õ�€�”�
�<�è�+
 �¿�ð	÷���A�[�p�G�–
 �€�•
W 12�•�•

 –  Salaries, allowances and benefits in  
 kind

 –  �Z�–�e�u
h�¿�¼�J�E�;
370,869 441,424

 –  Contributions to retirement benefit  
 schemes

 –  	×�~�E�;���Œ�6�›
3,482 23,991    

374,351 465,415
    

Note:

(i) Cost of inventories included approximately RMB750,086,000 
(2019: RMB809,371,000) relating to employee benefit 
expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 
amortisation of coal mining rights which amounts are also 
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately 
above for each of these types of expenses.
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Income tax credit in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income represents:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Current tax expense �C�‚�ü
°
š�Õ
 –  PRC Corporate Income Tax  –  �•
7�†�8�Ô
{�ü 8,408 21,690
 –  Overprovision of PRC Corporate  

 Income Tax in prior years (note (iv))
 –  �@�»�Ë���•
7�†�8�Ô
{�ü 

 
t�X�a�ê�€�•
W(iv) �• – (29,404)
 –  Hong Kong profit tax  –  �0�¥�;
{�ü 45 –    

8,453 (7,714)

Deferred tax (note 19) �È�·�ü
°�€�•
W19 �• (884,581) (77,515)    

Income tax credit �Ô
{�ü�ê�5 (876,128) (85,229)
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(i) � ì �½ 
š 
 � �Ê �¥ �¿ �õ �n � ˆ �~ �Ê �¥ �Y � • �Æ�¿ � •
�7�d�I
«� �á
²�®	v
š
��Ê�¥�¿�õ�n�ˆ�~�Ê
�¥�Y�‚���Ô
{�ü�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

(ii) �0�¥�;
{�ü�W�2�õ�0�¥
}�+�8
��˜�•�n�®�!
� ˜ �Ð� � �ü �P� ; �2 � , � › �ü � �16.5% �€�Z�g�S�X
�Ë�j�Ì�•�*���a�ê�f

(iii) �•
7�†�8�Ô
{�ü�W�2�õ�•
7
}�+�8
��˜�•�n
�®�!�˜�Ð���ü�P�;�2�,�›�ü��25% �€�Z�g�S�X
�Ë�j25% �•�*���a�ê�f

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED)

Income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the 
(loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Loss before taxation 	ð�ü�Ã�f�& (4,312,997) (4,506)
    

Notional tax expense on profit before 
 taxation, calculated at the applicable 
 tax rates


®�\�G�\�ü�����Q�Y	ð�ü�Ã
 �P�;�Y�¤�È�ü
°
š�Õ

(1,075,243) 21,563
Tax effect of unused tax losses not 
 recognized

�J�½�©�˜�J
��\�ü
°�f�&�˜
 �ü
��B�¤ 75,236 15,178

Tax effect of expenses non-deductible for 
 tax purpose

�”���Ô�ü
š�Õ�˜�ü
��B�¤
33,981 20,299

Tax effect of income non-taxable for tax 
 purpose

�¢���ü�×�]�˜�ü
��B�¤
(28,766) (29,670)

Tax effect of temporary difference not 
 recognized

�J�½�©�˜�r�Û�¨�X�˜�ü
��B�¤
275,463 171,850

Utilisation of tax loss and deductible 
 temporary difference not recognised in 
 prior years


��\�@�»�Ë���J�½�©�˜�ü
�
 �f�&�¿���Ô�¯�r�Û�¨�X

(156,799) (255,045)
Overprovision of PRC Corporate Income 
 Tax in prior years

�@�»�Ë���•
7�†�8�Ô
{�ü
 
t�X�a�ê – (29,404)    

Income tax credit �Ô
{�ü�ê�5 (876,128) (85,229)
    

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands 
and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any 
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands 
(2019: Nil).

(ii) Provision for the Hong Kong Profit Tax was based on the 
statutory rate of 16.5% (2019: Nil) of the assessable profit of 
subsidiaries which carried on business in Hong Kong.

(iii) Provision for the PRC Corporate Income Tax was based on the 
statutory rate of 25% (2019: 25%) of the assessable profits of 
subsidiaries which carried on businesses in the PRC.
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12. �è�+�¿�ð	÷���A�[�p�G�– 

�è�+�G�–�˜�	
‹�½�h�j

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
REMUNERATION

Details of directors’ remuneration are as follows:

Directors’ fee

Salaries,
allowances

and
benefits

in kind

Contributions
to

retirement
benefit

schemes Sub-total

Share-
based

payments Total

�è�+�š�–
�Z�–�e�u
h
�¿�¼�J�E�;

	×�~�E�;
���Œ�6�› �ƒ��

�ø�p�…�‰

?�þ�˜�ù�› �<��

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Name of directors �è�+�‘�¤ �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©        

For the year ended 
 31 December 2020

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

Executive directors 
B���è�+
Mr. Xu Da �±�:�‹�[ 1,045 1,647 48 2,740 – 2,740
Mr. Bai Tao (note (i)) �c�ñ�‹�[�€�•
W(i) �• 1,045 1,569 48 2,662 – 2,662
Ms. Wang Jianfei �î���-�~�{ 471 491 22 984 – 984
Mr. Fung Wai Shing (note (iv)) 
¹
��Ó�‹�[�€�•
W(iv) �• 933 1,611 16 2,560 – 2,560

Independent non-executive 
 directors

�ù�m�¢
B���è�+

Mr. Lau Sik Yuen ���|�U�‹�[ 325 – – 325 – 325
Prof. Sha Zhenquan �Í�È�Æ
º
¬ 240 – – 240 – 240
Mr. Jing Dacheng (note (iii)) �‘�}�Ó�‹�[�€�•
W(iii) �• 240 – – 240 – 240        

4,299 5,318 134 9,751 – 9,751
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12. �è�+�¿�ð	÷���A�[�p�G�– �€�ƒ�•  

�•
W�j

(i) �I�®�!
B���è�+�c�ñ�‹�[�u�‰�I�®�!�ð	÷��
�A�[�p�f

(ii) 
»
7�÷�‹�[�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�,�Ü�g�Ú�Ø�‚�I�®
�!�ù�m�¢
B���è�+�f

(iii) �‘�}�Ó�‹�[�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�,�Ü�g�Ú���‰�‚�‰
�I�®�!�ù�m�¢
B���è�+�f

(iv) 
¹
��Ó�‹�[�õ�Z�g�Z�S�Ë�g�Ü�ž�Ú�Ø�‚�I�®
�!
B���è�+�f

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Directors’ fee

Salaries,
allowances

and
benefits

in kind

Contributions
to

retirement
benefit

schemes Sub-total

Share-
based

payments Total

�è�+�š�–
�Z�–�e�u
h
�¿�¼�J�E�;

	×�~�E�;
���Œ�6�› �ƒ��

�ø�p�…�‰

?�þ�˜�ù�› �<��

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Name of directors �è�+�‘�¤ �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©        

For the year ended 
 31 December 2019

�Ú���Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

Executive directors 
B���è�+
Mr. Xu Da �±�:�‹�[ 1,089 1,695 61 2,845 – 2,845
Mr. Bai Tao (note (i)) �c�ñ�‹�[�€�•
W(i) �• 1,089 1,854 36 2,979 – 2,979
Ms. Wang Jianfei �î���-�~�{ 761 505 21 1,287 – 1,287
Mr. Fung Wai Shing 
¹
��Ó�‹�[ 1,013 1,596 16 2,625 – 2,625

Independent non-executive 
 directors

�ù�m�¢
B���è�+

Mr. Huang Guosheng (note (ii)) 
»
7�÷�‹�[�€�•
W(ii) �• 65 – – 65 – 65
Mr. Lau Sik Yuen ���|�U�‹�[ 331 – – 331 – 331
Prof. Sha Zhenquan �Í�È�Æ
º
¬ 240 – – 240 – 240
Mr. Jing Dacheng (note (iii)) �‘�}�Ó�‹�[�€�•
W(iii) �• 235 – – 235 – 235        

4,823 5,650 134 10,607 – 10,607
        

Notes:

(i) Mr. Bai Tao, an executive director of the Company, is also the 
chief executive of the Company.

(ii) Mr. Huang Guosheng resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 3 April 2019.

(iii) Mr. Jing Dacheng was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 3 April 2019.

(iv) Mr. Fung Wai Shing resigned as an executive director of the 
Company on 5 March 2021.
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12. �è�+�¿�ð	÷���A�[�p�G�– �€�ƒ�•  

�Ë�«�d�I�®�!�(�Ì�£�è�+�Õ�ù�‚���~�¾
�
���I
«� 	×�‚�Þ�ë�˜�›
°�Ð�‚�����‘�¤�¸

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

�Š �Õ�ù �š 
B � � �è �+ �Ð 
B � � �è �+ �Y �è �+ �š
�–�e�Z�–�e�u
h�¿�¼�J�E�;�S	›�8�1��
�
�[�{�M�#�I�®�!�¿�I
«� �Y�+
��´�ë�Y�I
�ü��
��þ�Õ�ù�š��
��[�{�Ð��
��[�{�Ð�×
�Y�G�–�f

�j���ù�m�¢
B���è�+�Y�G�–�~�¾
��*�‰�I
�®�!�è�+�ø�d�6��
��´�ë�f

13. �‡�p�¿	÷	t�M�#�[�p�Z�G 

�‡�p�Z�G

�Ë�«�d�I
«� �ž�¤�ð	÷�Z�G�˜�[�{�
�<�I
�®�!�˜�g�¤�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�,�¤�•�è�+�d�¾

��˜�Z�G�	
‹�1�•�õ�j�Ö�•
W12�f�£�I
«
� �I�q�G�¤�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�S�¤�•�ð	÷�Z�G
�[�{�Õ�ù�˜�Z�G�	
‹�½�h�j

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

There were no amounts paid during the year (2019: Nil) 
to the directors in connection with their retirement from 
employment with the Group, or inducement to join.

Director’s fee, salaries, allowances and benefits in 
kind paid to or for the executive directors are generally 
emoluments paid or receivable in respect of those 
persons for other services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the 
Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments 
shown above were for their services as directors of the 
Company.

13. EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 
EMOLUMENTS

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during 
the year include three (2019: four) directors of the 
Company, details of whose remuneration are set out in 
note 12 above. Details of remuneration for the year paid 
to the remaining two (2019: one) highest paid individual 
of the Group is/are as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind �Z�–�e�u
h�¿�¼�J�E�; 2,138 1,358
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 	×�~�E�;���Œ�6�› 65 51    

2,203 1,409
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13. �‡�p�¿	÷	t�M�#�[�p�Z�G �€�ƒ�•  

�‡�p�Z�G�€�ƒ�•

�G�¤�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�S�¤�•�ð	÷�Z�G�[�{�˜
�Z�G�±�1�½�h�j

�Ë�«�d�(�Ì�£�ž�¤�ð	÷�Z�G�‡�p�Õ�ù�‚��
�~�¾
����I
«� 	×�‚�Þ�ë�˜�›
°�Ð�‚����
�‘�¤��̧€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

	÷	t�M�#�[�p�Z�G

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d
�I
«� �X�¤�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�d�S�¤�•	÷	t�M
�# � [ �p�€� ( �¢ � I �® � ! �è �+� •� ˜ �Z �G �± �1 �½
�h�j

�I
«� �˜	÷	t�M�#�[�p�d�…�•�V���€�
�<�S
�¤�Ø�‚�è�+�•�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�^���d�
�<�S
�¤���‰�‚�è�+�¿�S�¤�Ø�‚�è�+�•�‰�I�®�!�è
�+�d�¾
��˜�Z�G�Š�
�<�õ�•
W12�f

13. EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Employees’ emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of the two (2019: one) individuals with 
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë
Number of
individuals

Number of
individuals

HKD �¥�© �[�p �[�p    

1,000,001–1,500,000 1,000,001–1,500,000 2 –

1,500,001–2,000,000 1,500,001–2,000,000 – 1
    

There were no amounts paid during the year (2019: nil) 
to the five highest paid employees in connection with 
their retirement from employment with the Group, or 
inducement to join.

Senior management’s emoluments

The emoluments of the nine (2019: eleven) senior 
managements of the Group who are not directors of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 were 
within the following bands:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë
Number of
individuals

Number of
individuals

HKD �¥�© �[�p �[�p    

Less than 500,000 500,000�ø�h – 1
500,001–1,000,000 500,001–1,000,000 3 4
1,000,001–1,500,000 1,000,001–1,500,000 6 5
1,500,000–2,000,000 1,500,000–2,000,000 – 1
    

Of the senior management of the Group, seven, 
including one director who resigned (2019: eight, 
including one director who was appointed and one 
director who resigned) were the directors of the 
Company, whose emoluments are included in Note 12.
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14. �Ê�p�€�f�&�•�J�®�;

�Ê�p
?�I�€�f�&�•�J�®�;

�Ê�p
?�I�€�f�&�•�J�®�;�W
?�õ�Ë�«�I�®�!
�w�·�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�Ð�&�€�f�&�•�J�P�;�¿�Š�ï
���w�·�p�Y���Æ�;�i�p���Q�f

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d
�S�Ú�ß�Ë���I�®�!�w�·�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�±�9�Ð
�&�Ê�p
?�I�€�f�&�•�J�®�;�W
?�õ�ø�h�p�½
���Q�j

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
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14. �Ê�p�€�f�&�•�J�®�; �€�ƒ�•

�Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�;

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d
�S�Ú�ß�Ë���I�®�!�w�·�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�±�9�Ð
�&�Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�;�W
?�õ�ø�h�p�½
���Q�j

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The calculations of diluted (loss)/earnings per share 
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the 
Company for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 
2019 respectively are based on the following data:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable 
 to ordinary equity shareholders of the 
 Company used in calculating basic 
 (loss)/earnings per share

�\�õ���Q�Ê�p
?�I
 �€�f�&�•�J�®�;�˜�I�®�!
 �w�·�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�Ð�&�Ë�«
 �€�f�&�•�J�P�; (2,906,441) 76,213

Add:  Distribution relating to perpetual  
 subordinated convertible securities  
 classified as equity (note 31(c))

���j �Þ�ë�±�ó�‰�Æ	B�˜�Q�n 
 �ã	t���l�p�Ç�N�˜�±�| 
 �€�•
W 31(c)�• N/A �”�G�\ N/A �”�G�\    

Adjusted (loss)/profit for the year 
 attributable to ordinary equity 
 shareholders of the Company used in 
 calculating diluted (loss)/earnings per 
 share

�\�õ���Q�Ê�p�Å�[
 �€�f�&�•�J�®�;�˜�I�®�!
 �w�·�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�Ð�&�Ë�«
 �¾���Æ�€�f�&�•�J�P�;

(2,906,441) 76,213
    

Weighted average number of ordinary 
 shares for the purpose of diluted (loss)/
 earnings per share

���Q�Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�;
 �Ô�\�w�·�p���Æ�;�i�p

2,493,413,985 2,493,413,985

Adjustments for calculation of diluted (loss)/
 earnings per share:

�1���Q�Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�;
 �*�����Æ�j

Perpetual subordinated convertible 
 securities

�Q�n�ã	t���l�p�Ç�N
N/A �”�G�\ N/A �”�G�\    

Adjusted weighted average number of 
 ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted 
 (loss)/earnings per share

���Q�Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�;
 �Ô�\�w�·�p�¾���Æ���Æ
 �;�i�p 2,493,413,985 2,493,413,985
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14. �Ê�p�€�f�&�•�J�®�; �€�ƒ�•

�Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�; �€�ƒ�•

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d
�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d�_�õ�Þ�ë�…�p�Æ�˜�¾���Æ��
�4��	÷�õ�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d
�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���q�h�‚
œ�p�…�˜�;�i
�9���d���Q�Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�;�Û�(�J
	ÿ�£�I�®�!�˜�J���4�…�p�Æ�����4�f

���Q�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü
�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���Ê�p�Å�[�€�f�&�•�J�®�;�Û
�(�Ì�ý�G�Q�n�ã	t���l�p�Ç�N�Y�‘�¯�w�·
�p�d�a�ª�‰	ÿ�£�l�p
Z�¬�ç�Ê�p�f�&�¯�Ç
�Ð�Ê�p�®�;�#���f

15. �i�•
®�$�Æ

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the 
computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share has not 
assumed the exercise of the Company’s outstanding 
share options since the adjusted exercise prices of 
these options were higher than the average market 
prices of shares for the outstanding period during the 
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share for 
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 has not 
been taken into account of the potential ordinary shares 
on perpetual subordinated convertible securities as 
assumed conversion would result in a decrease in loss 
per share or an increase in earnings per share.

15. COAL MINING RIGHTS

RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�©   

Cost �Ó�I
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, 
 31 December 2020

�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú�e
 �Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�e
 �Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 4,776,872   

Accumulated amortisation and 
 impairment losses

�]���Å�V�¿�¯�=�f�&

At 1 January 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú (526,525)
Charge for the year �Ë�«�Å�V (232,463)   

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú (758,988)
Charge for the year �Ë�«�Å�V (205,368)
Impairment for the year �Ë�«�¯�= (1,869,716)   

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú (2,834,072)   

Net carrying amounts �*�&���=
At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 1,942,800
   

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 4,017,884
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15. COAL MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

The balance represents the rights to conduct mining 
activities in Shanxi Province. All the mine sites are 
located on lands in the PRC to which the Group has no 
formal title of ownership, hence none of the carrying 
amount of right-of-use assets/lease prepayments (see 
note 17) relate to these lands. The Department of Land 
Resources of Shanxi Province issued and renewed 
several mining rights certificates to the Group. Details of 
the Group’s coal mining rights are as follows:

Coal mining rights Expiry date

Xingtao Coal Mine 15 September 2022
Fengxi Coal Mine 24 January 2034
Chongsheng Coal Mine 09 December 2022
Xinglong Coal Mine 29 November 2019
Hongyuan Coal Mine 28 December 2020

During the production in late 2020, the mining team 
of the Group had doubted that the coal reserves of 
all the Group’s coal mines might be less than the 
previously estimated amounts in accordance with 
Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, 
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the “JORC 
Code”). The directors of the Company are of the view 
that the reasons for the changes in estimates were 
due to revision of modifying factors including mining, 
economic, legal, environment, and governmental 
factors.

The directors of the Company then appointed a 
competent person, namely SRK Consulting China Ltd 
(“SRK Consulting”), to re-assess the coal reserves of 
all the Group’s coal mines as at 31 December 2020 
under JORC Code. Based on the competent person 
report (the “CPR”) issued by SRK Consulting in 2021, 
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the 
estimated amounts of the coal reserves are required to 
be adjusted downward.
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15. COAL MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

With the abovementioned facts and circumstances, the 
directors of the Company, with the assistance from an 
independent professional qualified valuer, namely BMI 
Appraisals Limited, to assess the recoverable amounts 
of the Group’s coal mines and related property, plant 
and equipment. Each of the Group’s coal mines and the 
related property, plant and equipment are considered 
as an individual cash-generating unit. The recoverable 
amount of each of the cash-generating unit was 
estimated based on its value in use calculation which 
uses cash flow projections based on the most recent 
financial budgets approved by the directors of the 
Company covering a five-year period, and discount 
rates ranging from 13.75% to 20.14% (2019: 13.10% 
to 14.60%), which were determined with reference to 
weighted average cost of capital, and the available coal 
reserves of approximately 57.97 million tonnes (2019: 
207.28 million tonnes), according to the report issued 
by SRK Consulting, which comprise of approximately 
17.09 million tonnes (2019: 65.62 million tonnes) in 
Xingtao Coal Mine, approximately 8.86 million tonnes 
(2019: 36.18 million tonnes) in Fengxi Coal Mine, 
approximately 8.06 million tonnes (2019: 42.17 million 
tonnes) in Chongsheng Coal Mine, approximately 13.50 
million tonnes (2019: 32.02 million tonnes) in Xinglong 
Coal Mine and approximately 10.46 million tonnes 
(2019: 31.29 million tonnes) in Hongyuan Coal Mine, 
together with other key inputs including the estimated 
coal prices and production costs etc.. The discounted 
cash flow method under the income approach was 
adopted for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 
2019. Cash flows beyond the five-year period have 
been extrapolated using an estimated 2.22% (2019: 
2.28%) growth rate which is the forecasted inflation rate 
in China and do not exceed the average growth rate 
for the relevant markets. The basis of discount rates, 
growth rate and discounted cash flow method were 
consistently applied for the year ended 31 December 
2020 and 2019. With the assistance f rom SRK 
Consulting and BMI Appraisals Limited, the directors of 
the Company concluded that the estimated recoverable 
amount of each of the following cash-generating units 
as at 31 December 2020 was below the respective 
carrying amount of the cash-generating unit. As a 
result, impairment losses on the Group’s coal mining 
rights and the related property, plant and equipment, 
amounting to approximately RMB1,869,716,000 and 
RMB2,057,757,000 were recognised for the year ended 
31 December 2020 to reflect the Group’s change in 
estimate about the coal reserves.



For the year ended 31 December 2020 �Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

185�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�Ë��   ANNUAL REPORT  2020      

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

�]�¥	Ì
����Œ�•
W

15. �i�•
®�$�Æ �€�ƒ�•

�±	ã���i�•
®�$�Æ�¿�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�Y
���×�«�–�X�½�h�j

15. COAL MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of coal mining rights and 
property, plant and equipment had been allocated as 
follows:

As at 31 December 2020
�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

Pre-tax
discount 

rate of CGU

Recoverable 
amount of 

CGU

Recoverable 
amount 

allocated to 
coal mining 

rights

Recoverable 
amount 

allocated 
to property, 

plant and 
equipment

�$�–�*�[
�
���Y

�ü�Ã
h�$��

�$�–�*�[
�
���Y

���×�«�–�X

�±	ã��
�i�•
®�$�Æ�Y

���×�«�–�X

�±	ã��
�J�8�e�@�Ò

�¿�£�ê�Y
���×�«�–�X

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©

(Note 16)
CGU �$�–�*�[�
�� �€�•
W 16�•      

Xingtao Coal Mine �3�×�i�$ 20.14% 1,404,452 969,810 434,642
Fengxi Coal Mine 
¹���i�$ 19.15% 988,593 390,952 597,641
Chongsheng Coal Mine 
^�º�i�$ 13.75% 734,622 276,632 457,990
Xinglong Coal Mine �3
¤�i�$ 14.61% 453,032 224,539 228,493
Hongyuan Coal Mine �ƒ�Ã�i�$ 13.89% 581,134 80,867 500,267      

4,161,833 1,942,800 2,219,033
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15. �i�•
®�$�Æ �€�ƒ�•15. COAL MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2020
�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

Impairment 
losses 

allocated to 
coal mining 

rights

Impairment 
losses 

allocated to 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

�±	ã��
�i�•
®�$�Æ�Y

�¯�=�f�&

�±	ã��
�J�8�e�@�Ò

�¿�£�ê�Y
�¯�=�f�&

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©

(Note 16)
CGU �$�–�*�[�
�� �€�•
W 16�•    

Xingtao Coal Mine �3�×�i�$ 950,075 425,344
Fengxi Coal Mine 
¹���i�$ 296,141 452,705
Chongsheng Coal Mine 
^�º�i�$ 400,802 662,700
Xinglong Coal Mine �3
¤�i�$ 166,485 169,417
Hongyuan Coal Mine �ƒ�Ã�i�$ 56,213 347,591    

1,869,716 2,057,757
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15. COAL MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the coal mining right and 
related property, plant and equipment of each of 
the Group’s coal mines as at 31 December 2020 is 
equivalent to the respective recoverable amounts as 
disclosed in above tables.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s coal mining 
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
buildings Machinery

Electronic
and other

equipment
Motor

vehicles Vessels
Mining

structures

Assets
under

construction Total
�@�Ò�¿

�}�Á �Ú�œ
�e�•�¿

�I�ü�£�ê �Û�� �¬�u

®�$

�����J �¯�����* �<��
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©          

Cost �Ó�I
At 1 January 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú 1,115,627 1,196,153 53,123 234,708 491,534 2,015,085 1,208,846 6,315,076
Additions 
ô�Ä 15,067 64,240 1,092 22,841 – 13,901 89,198 206,339
Transfer �7�a 12,988 19,239 2,272 – – 129,859 (164,358) –
Disposals ��
/ – – – (5,943) (217,554) – – (223,497)
Written-off �Û�V – (1,503) (1,484) (1,416) – – – (4,403)
Exchange differences 
Ò�3�¨�X 15 – – 69 7,739 – – 7,823          

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 1,143,697 1,278,129 55,003 250,259 281,719 2,158,845 1,133,686 6,301,338

Additions 
ô�Ä 7,231 26,685 572 928 6,982 – 5,827 48,225
Transfer �7�a 101 – – – – – (101) –
Disposals ��
/ – – (272) (314) – – – (586)
Written-off �Û�V – – (263) – – (1,168) – (1,431)
Exchange differences 
Ò�3�¨�X (75) (65) (4) (266) (15,981) – – (16,391)          

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 1,150,954 1,304,749 55,036 250,607 272,720 2,157,677 1,139,412 6,331,155          

Accumulated depreciation �]���±��
At 1 January 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú (230,141) (569,017) (42,258) (121,914) (312,551) (246,048) – (1,521,929)
Charge for the year �Ë�«�±�� (45,275) (106,931) (3,847) (17,940) (4,383) (122,097) – (300,473)
Disposals ��
/ – – – 3,561 189,697 – – 193,258
Written-off �Û�V – – 853 1,339 – – – 2,192
Exchange differences 
Ò�3�¨�X (9) – – (34) (5,228) – – (5,271)          

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú (275,425) (675,948) (45,252) (134,988) (132,465) (368,145) – (1,632,223)

Charge for the year �Ë�«�±�� (45,670) (83,718) (2,518) (20,440) (5,675) (109,122) – (267,143)
Impairment losses (note 15) �¯�=�f�&�€�•
W15 �• (312,936) (141,453) (5,687) (10,727) (11,495) (1,113,866) (473,088) (2,069,252)
Disposals ��
/ – – 258 207 – – – 465
Written-off �Û�V – – 186 – – – – 186
Exchange differences 
Ò�3�¨�X 48 – – 188 8,262 – – 8,498          

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú (633,983) (901,119) (53,013) (165,760) (141,373) (1,591,133) (473,088) (3,959,469)          

Net carrying amounts �*�&���=
At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë

 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 516,971 403,630 2,023 84,847 131,347 566,544 666,324 2,371,686
          

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 868,272 602,181 9,751 115,271 149,254 1,790,700 1,133,686 4,669,115
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(CONTINUED)

The Group does not have the title certificates for certain 
items of plant and buildings with an aggregate net 
carrying amount of approximately RMB498,700,000 as 
at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB848,405,000). The 
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the 
Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy and 
use the above mentioned properties and therefore the 
aforesaid matter does not affect the ownership rights 
of the Group over these assets and hence did not have 
any significant impact on the Group’s financial position 
as at 31 December 2020.

As described in note 15, the directors of the Company 
estimated the recoverable amounts of each of the cash-
generating units to which coal mining rights and related 
property, plant and equipment have been allocated. As 
a result, impairment losses on the Group’s coal mining 
rights and the related property, plant and equipment, 
amounting to approximately RMB1,869,716,000 (see 
Note 15) and RMB2,057,757,000 were recognised 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to reflect the 
Group’s change in estimate about the coal reserves.
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê �€�ƒ�•  

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���d
� I 
« �   �2 �a �Y � I 
« �   �Þ �ë 	 ˜ �6 �± �Å �Y � �
�*�d�(�©�›�ð�•���*�Y���×�«�–�X�€�W�ì�½
�®�ª�=�¯� � 
 / �Ó�I � � �Q�•�- �õ�I �* �&�=�d
�ª�ä�d�Š�1�Þ�ë���*�½�©�¯�=�f�&�[�O�Æ
11,495,000�©�f

�I
«� �*�&���=�Ò�[�O�Æ590,361,000�©
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ1,017,438,000�©�•�Y
�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�—�ê�å�ø��
{�>
r�€�•
W
28�•�d�½�h�Ô�j�j

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group 
conducted a review of the Group’s assets in relation 
to the shipping segment and determined that the 
recoverable amount of certain asset which is based 
on the fair value less cost of disposal are lower than its 
carrying amount and accordingly, impairment loss of 
RMB11,495,000 had been recognised in respect of the 
such asset.

The Group’s property, plant and equipment with net 
carrying amount of approximately RMB590,361,000 
(2019: RMB1,017,438,000) were pledged for the 
Group’s borrowings (note 28), as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Plant and buildings �@�Ò�¿�}�Á 157,782 165,690
Machinery �Ú�œ 49,968 153,905
Electronic and other equipment �e�•�¿�I�ü�£�ê 425 1,638
Motor Vehicles �Û�� 8,722 25,896
Vessels �¬�u 103,686 125,839
Mining structures 
®�$�����J 269,778 544,470    

590,361 1,017,438
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17. �4�\�Æ���*�J	a�#�k�ù�›
° 

�4�\�Æ���*

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE 
PREPAYMENTS

Right-of-use assets

Leasehold
 lands*

Office
 buildings Total

	a�#�z�®* �l�®�}�Á �<��
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

Carrying amount �*�&�= 4,653 6,175 10,828

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

Carrying amount �*�&�= 4,513 4,705 9,218

For the year ended 
 31 December 2019

�Ú���Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
 �ß�Ë��

Depreciation charge �±��
l�\ (140) (3,311) (3,451)

For the year ended 
 31 December 2020

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
 �ß�Ë��

Depreciation charge �±��
l�\ (140) (4,222) (4,362)
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17. �4�\�Æ���*�J	a�#�k�ù�›
° �€�ƒ�•  

�4�\�Æ���* �€�ƒ�•

* �C�6�I
«� ���\�Y���õ�•
7�Y�z�®�4�\�Æ�f

�õ�G�H�Ë���d�I
«� 	a�#�µ�H�l�®���\�õ
�6���f	a�#�¥�Ò�ø�x�›	a�‚1 �� 3�Ë���m�f
	a�#
â�›�W�¯�H�9
?�þ�j�»
 �d�
�<�¢�G
�”�•
â�›�¿
â�•�f�õ�>�›	a�‚�¿
Y���”��
�Þ�«�‚
œ�Y�—���Û�d�I
«� �Ð�\�¥�Ò�Y�›
�È�(�>�›�¥�Ò��
v�S
B���Y�‚
œ�f

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE 
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Expense relating to short-term leases 
 and other leases with lease terms end 
 within 12 months

�~�õ�‚	a�#�¿	a�‚12�H�Ü�«�Y
 �I�ü	a�#�Þ�ë�Y
š�Õ

1,376 460

Total cash outflow for leases 	a�#�$�–�t���<�X (5,988) (4,840)

Additions to right-of-use assets 
ô�Ä�4�\�Æ���* 2,752 2,248
    

* Being land use rights are located in the PRC for the Group’s 
own use.
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18. �õ�S
œ�L���®�!�˜�Æ	B

�h�Œ�1�•�I
«� �S
œ�L���®�!�õ�Z�g�Z�g
�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë���S�‚�K�Y�	
‹�j

�•�i	b�ï�õ�•
7��
/�i�•�d�(�‰�I
«� �i
�•�8
��Ù�&�Y�·�+�¥�*�«���f

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Unlisted investment: �¢�j�9�³���j
Unlisted shares, at cost �¢�j�9�p�…�d�2�Ó�I�= 49,000 49,000
Share of post-acquisition loss and 
 other comprehensive loss

�±�&�×�…���f�&�¿�I�ü�Œ�&
 �f�& (2,433) (2,433)

Impairment loss �¯�=�f�& (46,567) (46,567)    

– –
    

The following list contains the particulars of the Group’s 
associate at the end of the reporting period of 2020 and 
2019:

Proportion of ownership interest
�¹�Þ�Æ�Æ	B�â�7

Name of associate
Place of 
establishment

Group’s
effective
interest

Held 
by the 

Company

Held 
by a 

subsidiary

Principal 
activities 
and place of 
operation

�L���®�!�¤�H �Ó�m�®�Ã
�I
«� 

�¼�ç�Æ	B
�I�®�!

�5�Þ
�•�n�®�!

�5�Þ
�ô���8
�
�¿���6�®�Ã      

Tongmei Qinfa (Zhuhai) Holdings 
 Co, Ltd. (“Tongmei Qinfa”)

PRC 49%
(2019: 49%)

– 49%
(2019: 49%)

Sales of coal in 
the PRC

�•�i	b�ï�€	.	��•
›�p�Þ�"�®�!
 �€� �̃•�i	b�ï�™�•

�•
7 49%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j

49%�•

– 49%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j

49%�•

�i�•�V
/�•
7

Tongmei Qinfa sells coal in the PRC and is a strategic 
partnership for the Group for its coal business.
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19. �È�·�ü
° �€�ƒ�•

�ø�h�‰�õ�I�Ë���¿�@�»�Ë�����½�©�Y�ô��
�È�·�ü
°���*�€��
À�•�¿�I�

��j

�õ � � �S � ‚ �K �d � I 
« �   � } 
 { � J �4 � \ �ü 
 ° � f
�&� [ �O�Æ466,092,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë� j
� [ �O�Æ837,933,000�©�•�d� � � \ �õ �ê�V�J
�8 �P � ; �d �¿ � } 
 { � � �Ô �ü � r �Û � ¨ �X � [ �O �Æ
1,101,852,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë� j � [ �O�Æ
344,055,000�©�•�f�?�Ì�1�ü
°�f�&�¿���Ô
�ü�r�Û�¨�X�½�©�È�·�ü
°���*�d�W�_�õ�J
�8�P�;�t�Y�”���k�»�Ì�f�ü
°�f�&
Z�õ�ž
�Ë�«�Q�‚�f

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The following are the major deferred tax assets 
(liabilities) recognised and the movements thereon 
during the current and prior years:

Impairment
allowance

of trade
receivables

Sales
Cut-off

Revaluation
arising

from loan
restructuring

Revaluation
surplus

arising from
business

combinations

Depreciation
allowances

in excess of
the related

depreciation
and

amortisation Total

q�ø�Ð�×

�›
°�Y
�¯�=�a�ê

�V
/�]�*
�Ú�ß�p


r�›� �\
�*�[�Y� ��

�8
��¥�;
�*�[�Y

� ���®�q


t�@�´�ë
�±���¿�Å�V
�Y�±���a�ê �<��

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©        

At 1 January 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú 9,137 – (116,571) (966,145) (177,610) (1,251,189)
(Charged)/credit for the year �Ë�«�€�Å�V�•�J�ê�5 (8,763) (65,829) 42,773 62,006 47,328 77,515        

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 374 (65,829) (73,798) (904,139) (130,282) (1,173,674)

Credit for the year �Ë�«�ê�5 3,720 30,778 8,975 771,757 69,351 884,581        

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 4,094 (35,051) (64,823) (132,382) (60,931) (289,093)

        

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has 
unused tax losses o f  RMB466,092,000 (2019: 
RMB837,933,000) available for offset against future 
profits and has deductible temporary differences 
of RMB1,101,852,000 (2019: RMB344,055,000). No 
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 
the tax losses and the deductible temporary differences 
due to the unpredictability of future profit stream. The 
tax loss will expire within five years.
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20. �õ�•�n�®�!�˜�³�� �€�ƒ�•

Proportion of ownership interest
�¹�Þ�Æ�Æ	B�â�7 

Name of company 

Place of 
establishment/

incorporation
Group’s 

effective interest
Held by

 The Company
Held by 

subsidiaries

Issued and 
fully paid-up/
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20. �õ�•�n�®�!�˜�³�� �€�ƒ�•

Proportion of ownership interest
�¹�Þ�Æ�Æ	B�â�7 

Name of company 

Place of 
establishment/

incorporation
Group’s 

effective interest
Held by

 The Company
Held by 

subsidiaries

Issued and 
fully paid-up/

registered capital

Principal activities 
and place of 

operation

�®�!�¤�H
�Ó�m�J
W��

�Ó�m�®�Ã
�I
«� 

�¼�ç�Æ	B
�_�I�®�!

�5�Þ
�_�•�n�®�!

�5�Þ
�Š�ï���¿

�®���J
W�����I
�ô���8
��¿

���6�®�Ã       

Super Grace Enterprises Limited 
 (“Super Grace”) 

British Virgin
Islands

100% 
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

USD50,000/ 
USD50,000

Goods transport and 
logistics, and charter 

hire in worldwide
Super Grace Enterprises Limited 
 �€�˜ Super Grace�™�•

�õ�n�ˆ�~�Ê�¥ 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

50,000�Õ�©�J
50,000�Õ�©


 �Ü�6�i�¿�J�t
�ø�¿�¬�u	a�#

�Œ�"

Oriental Wise Group Limited
 (“Oriental Wise”) 

British Virgin
Islands

100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

USD1/ 
USD50,000

Goods transport and 
logistics, and charter

hire in worldwide
Oriental Wise Group Limited 
 �€�˜ Oriental Wise�™�•

�õ�n�ˆ�~�Ê�¥ 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

1�Õ�©�J
50,000�Õ�©


 �Ü�6�i�¿�J�t
�ø�¿�¬�u	a�#

�Œ�"

Qinfa Shipping Group Limited British Virgin
Islands

100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

USD1/ 
USD50,000

Goods transport and 
logistics, and charter

hire in worldwide
Qinfa Shipping Group Limited �õ�n�ˆ�~�Ê�¥ 100%

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

1�Õ�©�J
50,000�Õ�©


 �Ü�6�i�¿�J�t
�ø�¿�¬�u	a�#

�Œ�"

Hong Kong Qinfa Shipping Limited Hong Kong 100%
(2019: 100%)

100% 
(2019: 100%)

HKD10,000/
N/A

Goods transport and 
logistics, and charter 

hire in worldwide
�0�¥	b�ï	˜�6�Þ�"�®�! �0�¥ 100%

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

10,000�¥�©�J
�”�G�\


 �Ü�6�i�¿�J�t
�ø�¿�¬�u	a�#

�Œ�"

Perpetual Goodluck Limited Hong Kong 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

HKD1,000/
N/A

Goods transport and 
logistics, and charter 

hire in the PRC
Perpetual Goodluck Limited �0�¥ 100%

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

1,000�¥�©�J
�”�G�\


 �Ü�6�i�¿�J�t
�ø�¿�¬�u	a�#

�•
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
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20. �õ�•�n�®�!�˜�³�� �€�ƒ�•

Proportion of ownership interest
�¹�Þ�Æ�Æ	B�â�7 

Name of company 

Place of 
establishment/

incorporation
Group’s 

effective interest
Held by

 The Company
Held by 

subsidiaries

Issued and 
fully paid-up/

registered capital

Principal activities 
and place of 

operation

�®�!�¤�H
�Ó�m�J
W��

�Ó�m�®�Ã
�I
«� 

�¼�ç�Æ	B
�_�I�®�!

�5�Þ
�_�•�n�®�!

�5�Þ
�Š�ï���¿

�®���J
W�����I
�ô���8
��¿

���6�®�Ã       

Zhuhai Qinfa Shipping Co., Ltd.(i) The PRC 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

RMB5,000,000/ 
RMB100,000,000

Goods transport and 
logistics, and charter 

hire in the PRC
	.	�	b�ï	˜�6�Þ�"�®�!(i) �•
7 100%

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

�[�O�Æ5,000,000�©�J
�[�O�Æ100,000,000�©


 �Ü�6�i�¿�J�t
�ø�¿�¬�u	a�#

�•
7

Ordos City Lianhang Trading 
 Co., Ltd. (i)

The PRC 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

RMB1,000,000/ 
RMB1,000,000

Sales of coal 
in the PRC


ˆ�'�µ�v�9�L��
q�ø�Þ�"�®�!(i) �•
7 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

�[�O�Æ1,000,000�©�J
�[�O�Æ1,000,000�©

�i�•�V
/
�•
7

Qingdao Qinfa Energy Ltd. (i) The PRC 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

RMB100,000,000/ 
RMB100,000,000

Sales of coal 
in the PRC

�¡�¥	b�ï	•�U�Þ�"�®�!(i) �•
7 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

�[�O�Æ100,000,000�©�J
�[�O�Æ100,000,000�©

�i�•�V
/
�•
7

Qingdao Qinfa Material Supply Ltd. (i) The PRC 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

N/A/ 
RMB50,000,000

Sales of machine 
materials in the PRC

�¡�¥	b�ï�J���6�Ð�Þ�"�®�!(i) �•
7 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

�”�G�\�J
�[�O�Æ50,000,000�©

�V
/�Ú
Û�¿�Ø
�•
7

Qingdao Qinfa Changsheng Equipment 
 Maintenance Ltd. (i)

The PRC 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

N/A/
RMB5,000,000

Machine Repairing
in the PRC

�¡�¥	b�ï�ù�8�£�ê�j�L�Þ�"�®�!(i) �•
7 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

�”�G�\�J
�[�O�Æ5,000,000�©

�Ú
Û�j�L
�•
7

Qinfa Overseas Investment Limited Hong Kong 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

HKD10,000/ 
N/A

Investment holding 
in Indonesia

	b�ï	��.�³���Þ�"�®�! �0�¥ 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

10,000�¥�©�J
�”�G�\

�³��
›�p
�™�5

PT. Qinfa Mining Industri Indonesia 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

N/A/
USD1,000,000

Coal mining and 
operation in Indonesia

PT. Qinfa Mining Industri �™�5 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

�”�G�\�J
1,000,000�Õ�©

�i�•
š
®�¿���6
�™�5

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
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20. �õ�•�n�®�!�˜�³�� �€�ƒ�•

Proportion of ownership interest
�¹�Þ�Æ�Æ	B�â�7 

Name of company 

Place of 
establishment/

incorporation
Group’s 

effective interest
Held by

 The Company
Held by 

subsidiaries

Issued and 
fully paid-up/

registered capital

Principal activities 
and place of 

operation
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Shanxi Qinfa Changsheng Equipment 
 Maintenance Co., Ltd. 

The PRC 100%
(2019: 100%)

– 100% 
(2019: 100%)

RMB5,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

Sales of machine 
In the PRC

�†��	b�ï�ù�8�£�ê�j�L�Þ�"�®�! �•
7 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

– 100%
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j100% �•

�[�O�Æ5,000,000�©�J
�[�O�Æ5,000,000�©
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/
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(i) These entities were established in the PRC as domestic 
companies.

(ii) These entities were established in the PRC as wholly foreign-
owned enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company 
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial 
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of 
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, 
result in particulars of excessive length.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s 
borrowings are secured by the Group’s equity interest 
in Huameiao Energy, Xingtao Coal, Fengxi Coal, 
Chongsheng Coal, Xinglong Coal, Hongyuan Coal, 
Shuozhou Guangfa, Super Grace and Oriental Wise 
(note 28). As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the 
borrowings of Tongmei Qinfa, an associate of the 
Group, are secured by the Group’s equity interest in 
Yangyuan Guotong Coal Trading and Transportation 
Co., Ltd (Yangyuan Guotong, which is a subsidiary 
within the Group). As at 31 December 2020, the 
carrying amount of net assets of Yangyuan Guotong 
before any inter-company elimination amounted to 
approximately RMB21,827,000 (2019: RMB21,719,000).

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(i) ��
��¼���‰�õ�•
7�Ó�m�Y�«���®�!�f

(ii) ��
��¼���‰�õ�•
7�Ó�m�Y�.
 �ù���†�8�f

�j�Œ�•���è�+�©�‰�Á�I
«� �Ë�«�8�6�¿�Ó
� �}�B�¤�Ð�ô�Ó�I
«� ���*���=� ���Å�±
�Y�I�®�!�•�n�®�!�f�è�+�©�‰�d�½�•���I
�ü � • �n �® � ! �Y � � �Ø �d 
Z �6 �4 �Ð �7 �@�õ � ¯
�—�f

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S
�Ú�d � I 
« �   � ˜ �> 
 r �_ � I 
« �   �õ 
6 �Õ
ó 	 •
�U �e �3 �× � i �8 �e 
 ¹ � � � i �8 �e 
^ � º � i �8 �e
�3
¤�i�8�e�ƒ�Ã�i�8�e�ä�È�?�ï�eSuper 
Grace�¿ Oriental Wise�Y�p�I�Æ	B�*�ê�å

�€�•
W 28�•�f�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d
�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I
«� �S
œ�L���®�!�•�i
	b�ï�Y�>
r�_�I
«� �õ�I
«� �•�n�®�!
¢
�a
7�·�i�•�6�V�Þ�"�®�!�€�˜
¢�a
7�·�™�•�˜
�p�Æ�*�ê�å�f�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S
�Ú�d
¢�a
7�·�Á�V�®�!
œ�t�ø�Ã�˜���*��
�=�˜�*�&�=�Ò�[�O�Æ21,827,000�©�€�Z�g�S
�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ21,719,000�©�•�f
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities 
at the end of the year.
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Fengxi Coal

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

As at 31 December �õ�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
NCI percentage �¢
›�p�Æ	B�â�7 20% 20%
Non-current assets �¢�t
����* 1,430,283 1,892,405
Current assets �t
����* 168,682 180,408
Current liabilities �t
���
À (658,965) (798,481)
Non-current liabilities �¢�t
���
À (241,824) (258,751)
Net assets ���*���= 698,176 1,015,581
Carrying amount of NCI �¢
›�p�Æ	B�*�&�= 139,635 203,116

During the year ended 31 December �Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��
Revenue �×	B 331,148 432,759
Impairment loss on property, plant and 
 equipment

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜�¯�=
 �f�& 185,687 –

Impairment loss on coal mining rights �i�•
®�$�Æ�˜�¯�=�f�& 121,469 –

Loss/profit and total comprehensive 
 (expenses)/income or the year

�Ë�«�f�&�J�P�;�¿�Œ�&
 �€
š�Õ�•�J�×�]�<�X (317,406) 7,067

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive 
 (expenses)/income allocated to NCI

�±	ã���¢
›�p�Æ	B�Y
 �€�f�&�•�J�P�;�¿�Œ�&
 �€
š�Õ�•�J�×�]�<�X (63,481) 1,413

Cash flows (used in)/ generated from
 operating activities

�¾���z
��€�Ô�\�•�J�Ô
{�$�–
 �t
Ž (7,705) 16,898

Cash flows used in investing activities �³���z
��Ô�\�$�–�t
Ž (7,746) (16,862)
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^�º�i�8

�õ�Ë�«�d�(�Ì�£�¢
›�p�p���|�ï�‚���p�¹
�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Chongsheng Coal

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

As at 31 December �õ�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
NCI percentage �¢
›�p�Æ	B�â�7 20% 20%
Non-current assets �¢�t
����* 1,094,493 1,930,939
Current assets �t
����* 150,274 120,512
Current liabilities �t
���
À (567,649) (641,245)
Non-current liabilities �¢�t
���
À (237,690) (255,577)
Net assets ���*���= 439,428 1,154,629
Carrying amount of NCI �¢
›�p�Æ	B�*�&�= 87,886 230,926

During the year ended 31 December �Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��
Revenue �×	B 305,448 409,341
Impairment loss on property, plant and 
 equipment

�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�˜�¯�=
 �f�& 437,314 –

Impairment loss on coal mining rights �i�•
®�$�Æ�˜�¯�=�f�& 1,762 –

Impairment loss on CIP �¯���ˆ�û�˜�¯�=�f�& 265,554 –

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive 
 (expenses)/income for the year

�Ë�«�€�f�&�•�J�P�;�¿�Œ�&
 �€
š�Õ�•�J�×�]�<�X (715,201) 38,913

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive 
 (expenses)/income allocated to NCI

�±	ã���¢
›�p�Æ	B�Y
 �€�f�&�•�J�P�;�¿�Œ�&
 �€
š�Õ�•�J�×�]�<�X (143,040) 7,783

Cash flows generated from operating 
 activities

�¾���z
��Ô
{�$�–�t
Ž
5,424 54,526

Cash flows used in investing activities �³���z
��Ô�\�$�–�t
Ž (4,421) (55,026)
    

During the year, there were no dividend paid to the non-
controlling shareholders (2019: nil).
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21. �À�¬

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I
«� �*
�&�=�Ò�[�O�Æ1,023,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j
�[�O�Æ1,015,000�©�•�˜�À�¬�Š�1�I
«� �Y
�>
r�*�ê�å�€�•
W28 �•�f

22. �Ð�×
q�ø�*�›

21. INVENTORIES

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Finished goods �¡�Ó�Ü 49,497 56,823
Fuel �÷�Ø 6,138 2,697    

55,635 59,520
    

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s inventories 
with carrying amount of approximately RMB1,023,000 
(2019: RMB1,015,000) were pledged for the Group’s 
borrowings (note 28).

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Trade receivables �Ð�×
q�ø�*�› 485,800 261,423
Less: allowance for credit loss �¯�j�¦
r�f�&�a�ê (55,657) (132,295)    

430,143 129,128
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22. �Ð�×
q�ø�*�› �€�ƒ�•

�*�g�±��

�I
«� �Ô�&�W�~
q�ø�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
°�Þ�ë
�Y�¦
r�,�ˆ�õ�•
W34(b)(i)�Þ�£�f

� I 
«�  �Y�Ð�×
q�ø�*�›�€�Ô	ð�¦ 
r � f �&�a
�ê�•�*�g�±���½�h�j

�*�g���Ð�×
q�ø�*�›���½�©�…�Ú	Î���Q�f

�•
W�j

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�*�g
t�@�G�Ë�Y
q�ø
�Ð�×�›
°�Ò�[�O�Æ66,460,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ
84,538,000�©�•�‰�I
«� �õ�I�¹�Þ�Ð�ù
q�ø�*�›�¿�I�ü
�Ð�ù�›
°
��q�Y���Ò�õ���S�‚�K�Ô�Þ�–�X�”�Ç�õ�¢��

q�ø�Ð�×�›
°�Y�›
°�f
?�õ�@�»�¾���¿�Ð�×
q�ø�*�›
�”�›	¾�}�d�I�®�!�è�+�©�‰�á
²�1��
�
��q���d�¯�=
�a�ê�f

�£���Ò
¬���˜�¦
r�‚�ô���§�÷0 �� 60�Ú�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j0
�� 60�Ú�•�d
V�÷���Ò�~�I
«� �˜�ë�·�e�¾
��˜�¦�‘�¿�@
�»�µ�ù	¾�}�þ�›�f

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë��

q�ø�Ð�×�›
°�Y�¦
r�A
��¯�=
Y���	
‹�1�õ�•
W34�f

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Ageing analysis

The Group’s exposure to credit risk related to trade and 
other receivables are disclosed in note 34(b)(i).

An ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of 
allowance for credit losses) of the Group is as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Within 2 months �G�H�Ü�« 363,580 14,149
Over 2 months but within 6 months �G�H�Ü�ø�j�(�”
t�@�¬�H�Ü – 27,891
Over 6 months but within 1 year �¬�H�Ü�ø�j�(�”
t�@�S�Ë 93 1,253
Over 1 year but within 2 years �S�Ë�ø�j�(�”
t�@�G�Ë 10 1,297
Over 2 years (note) 
t�@�G�Ë�€�•
W�• 66,460 84,538    

430,143 129,128
    

The ageing is counted from the date when trade 
receivables are recognised.

Note:

As at 31 December 2020, trade receivables aged over 2 years 
amounting to approximately RMB66,460,000 (2019: RMB84,538,000) 
were due from customers which the Group has trade and other payable 
balances with amounts not less than the respective trade receivables 
as at the end of the reporting period. Based on past experience and 
repayment history of the trade debtors, the directors of the Company 
believe that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these 
balances.

Credit terms granted to customers mainly range from 0 to 60 days (2019: 
0 to 60 days) depending on customers relationship with the Group, their 
creditworthiness and past settlement record.

Details of credit policy impairment assessment of trade receivable for 
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are set out in note 34.
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23. �k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
° �€�ƒ�•  

�•
W�j�€�ƒ�•

(iii) �k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
°�f�&�a�ê�½�h�j

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S
�Ú�ß�Ë���Y�k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
°�Y�¯�=

Y���	
‹�1�õ�•
W34�f

(iv) ���½�I�®�!�Ú�‚�‰�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�S�Ü�g�Ú�¿�Z
�g�Z�g�Ë�^�Ü�V�Ú�Y�®�1�Ô�Þ�£�d�I
«� ��
�m�S�û�•�X�D�d�
�<�Ú�‚�‰�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z
�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y�X�D�d�ï�€� �̃X�D�d�ï�™�•�e�Ú�‚�‰
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�g�Ü�d�S�Ú�Y�X�D�d�ï�•�•�¿�Ú
�‚�‰�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�^�Ü�¬�Ú�Y�Þ
â�•
o�-�X�D

�€�U�H�˜�� �D�×�…�X�D�™�•�d�ø�£�G�¤�ù�m�K�g
�Ù�€� �̃-�Ù�™�•���D�×�… PT Sumber Daya Energi

�€�˜ SDE�™�d�S
œ�ì�½�™���5���-�•�q
7�,���M
�Ì�Ó�m�Y�®�!�d�õ�™�5
}�+�i�•
š
®�¿
q�ø�•
�Y 70%�p�Æ�d�<�þ�� �‰385,000,000�™�5�·

�€�´�…�õ�Ò�[�O�Æ190,000�©�•�f�ì�½���D�×�…
�X�D�d�-�Ù�€�õ���D�×�…�+
°�•�Ó���*�‰SDE
�Y�¢
›�p�p���•�.�ÞSDE ���V
/�i�•�<�*
Ž�Y
15%�*�‰�P�;�±	ã�d�ò��
��-�Ù�Y�Æ�;�ø�I

«� �Õ�ù�Y�2�–�¥��5,000,000�Õ�©�€�´�…�õ
�[�O�Æ34,264,000�©�•�*�ê�å�f�I 
«� �Õ�ù
�Y�j���2�–�ø�-�Ù�õSDE �Y�Ò75%�p�Æ�*�ê
�å�d�\�����D�×�…�+
°�•�Ó�‰�ß�f

23. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Allowance for losses of prepayments and other receivables are 
as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Other deposits and prepayments �I�ü�2�–�¿�k�ù�›
° 47,954 36,880
Amounts due from non-controlling 
 shareholders

�Ð�×�¢
›�p�p���›
°
322,703 322,703

Other non-trade receivables �I�ü�¢
q�ø�Ð�×�›
° 22,065 20,422    

392,722 380,005
    

Details of impairment assessment of prepayments and other 
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 
are set out in note 34.

(iv) As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 3 
January 2020 and 7 August 2020, a series of agreements, 
including heads of agreement (“HOA”) dated 31 December 
2019, addendum of HOA dated 11 March 2020 and conditional 
sale and purchase agreement dated 6 August 2020 
(collectively, the “Proposed Acquisition Agreements”) were 
entered by the Group for proposed acquisition of 70% equity 
shareholding of PT Sumber Daya Energi (“SDE”), a company 
duly established under the laws of Republic of Indonesia 
that is engaged in coal mining and trading in Indonesia, from 
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23. �k�ù�›
°�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›
° �€�ƒ�•  
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(iv) �J���D�×�…�+
°�ª�‚���a�ª�J	•�õ�Z�g�Z�g
�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Ð�˜�Ã�•�Ó�d�-�Ù
²�õ�I

«� �ï���·�]�Ú�‚	Î���d�,�Ú�«�£�I
«� 	×
�«��
��2�–�f���½�I�®�!�Ú�‚�‰�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
�d�Z�Ü�d�g�Ú�¿�Z�g�Z�S�Ë�g�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y
�®�1�Ô�Þ�£�d�I
«� �è�+�6�!���Q�™���5��
� - � • � q 
7 � ´ � ë �A � ´ �Å � ˜ � ê � � � » �µ �Y �2 � ­ �Û

œ�f�á�õ�ê���X�.�Û
œ�:�Ó���D�×�…�+
°�Y
�ð�•�‹�Ô
â�•�d�I
«� �~�-�Ù�ã�&�•��
Z�•
�Ó�Ú�‚
}�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�·�—��
�Z�g�Z�S�Ë�¬�Ü�g�d�Ú�f�Ú���I�]�¥	Ì
���
�Œ��
¬�Æ�
�ï�Ú�‚�d���×�…�+
°� �J�•�Ó�f

24. �Š�ê�å�¿�a�"�S�À�›

�õ �Z �g �Z �g �Ë �d �Z �Ü�g �d �S �Ú�d �Õ� � �À
� › � Ò � [ � O � Æ � g � ©� €� Z � g � S � X � Ë � j � [ � O � Æ
333,000�©�•�Š�ê�å�š�Õ���*�‰�S	›�¦
r�Ä
�­�f

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�Õ���À�›
�Ò�[�O�Æ403,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ
723,000�©�•�ª�•
W38(a)(iv)�Ô�Þ�£�Y
a�¤
�û�•�þ�—�"�S�4�\�f

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�‰�Õ�5�´
�ë�®
��Y�¾�ö�ï�•�d�Õ���À�›�Ò�Ò�[�O�Æ
�g�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ14,173,000�©�•
�—�"�S�\�õ�Þ�ë��
��®
��¢���¼���Y�i�•
�8
��t�ø�f

23. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(iv) In the event the proposed acquisition could not be completed 
on or before 31 December 2020 for any reasons, Sellers must 
return the deposits to the Group within 14 days from the date 
of notification from the Group. As disclosed in the Company’s 
announcements dated 13 December 2020 and 31 March 2021, 
the board of the Group noticed that more time is required 
on the approval by the relevant government authorities of 
the Republic of Indonesia. In view that additional time is 
required for the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent 
for the proposed acquisition, the Group and the Sellers are 
agreed in writing to extend the completion date until 30 June  
2021 instead of 31 December 2020. Up to the date when the 
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue, the 
acquisition has not been completed.

24. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

A s  a t  31  D e c e m b e r  2020 ,  b a n k  d e p o s i t s  o f 
approximately RMB nil (2019: RMB333,000) were 
pledged to secure general credit facilities.

A s  a t  31  D e c e m b e r  2020 ,  b a n k  d e p o s i t s  o f 
approximately RMB403,000 (2019: RMB723,000) were 
restricted for use in relation to the litigation proceedings 
as disclosed in note 38(a)(iv).

A s  a t  31  D e c e m b e r  2020 ,  b a n k  d e p o s i t s  o f 
approximately RMB nil (2019: RMB14,173,000) were 
restricted for use in relation to the trading of coal 
business of respective entities located in the respective 
regions in order to support the economic development 
of the regions.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, 
the Group performed impairment assessment on 
bank balances and concluded that the probability of 
defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and 
accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged and 
restricted bank deposits for the years ended 31 
December 2020 and 2019 are set out in note 34.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing 
activities

The table below details change in the Group’s liabilities 
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities 
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.
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26. �Ð�ù
q�ø�*�›
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27. �I�ü�Ð�ù�›
°

26. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of trade payables of the Group 
based on invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Within 1 year �S�Ë�« 484,063 149,380
Over 1 year but within 2 years �S�Ë�ø�j�(�”
t�@�G�Ë 76,307 15,084
Over 2 years �G�Ë�ø�j 110,003 169,483    

670,373 333,947
    

27. OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Current �C�‚
Accrued expenses �Ð��
š�Õ 510,706 441,379
Contract liabilities (note (i)) �¥�Ò��
À�€�•
W(i) �• 94,746 44,850
Amount due to ultimate controlling 
 shareholder

�Ð�ù�ð�^
›�p�p���›
°
161 161

Amount due to ultimate holding 
 company

�Ð�ù�ð�^
›�p�®�!�›
°
10,673 988

Amount due to an associate �Ð�ù�S
œ�L���®�!�›
° 215,275 624,480
Amounts due to directors of the 
 Company

�Ð�ù�I�®�!�è�+�›
°
1,565 1,457

Amount due to a related party �Ð�ù�S�¤�ë�¹�Ù�›
° 141 141
Amount due to a related company �Ð�ù�S
œ�ë�¹�®�!�›
° 100 100
Other payables (note (ii)) �I�ü�Ð�ù�›
°�€�•
W(ii) �• 1,462,238 1,463,140    

2,295,605 2,576,696
Non-current �¢�C�‚
Other payables (note (ii)) �I�ü�Ð�ù�›
°�€�•
W(ii) �• – 20,550    

2,295,605 2,597,246
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27. �I�ü�Ð�ù�›
° �€�ƒ�•

�•
W�j

(i)

�Ô�Þ�¥�Ò��
À�k�‚�õ�S�Ë�«���½�©�‰�×�]�f

�I
«� �·
l�õ���Ò�_
{�i�•�*�Ü
›�S�Æ�Ã�Š�1�i�•�V

/�×�_���Ò100%�Y�ù�›�d�ª�þ�õ�¥�Ò
š�•�Û�*�[�¥�Ò
��
À�d�\���×	B�õ
›�S�Æ�7�t�Û���½�©�f

�¥�Ò��
À�

��½�h�j

(ii) � I � ü � Ð � ù � › 
 ° � 
 � < � Ð � ù � � � � � › 
 ° � Ò � [ � O
�Æ848 ,073 ,000 � ©� €� Z � g � S � X � Ë � j � [ � O � Æ
867,977,000�©�•�¿�Ð�ù�i�$
�
ž�¿
®�$�Æ�›

°�Ò�[�O�Æ292,428,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[
�O�Æ346,755,000�©�•�f

�Ð�ù�I�®�!�ð�^
›�p�®�!�e�I�®�!�ð�^
›
�p�p���e�S
œ�L���®�!�e�I�®�!�è�+�e�S

œ�ë � ¹ �® � ! �¿ �S �¤ �ë � ¹ �Ù �Y � › 
 ° �‰� Ì �ê
�å�e�5�¹�¿�Ì�x�›�”�›�‚�f

27. OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Contract liabilities �¥�Ò��
À
Sale of coal �i�•�V
/ 94,746 44,850
    

All contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within 
one year from dates of receipts.

The Group typically received 100% payment from customers for sales 
of coal before the customers obtain the control of coal products which 
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue 
recognised upon the pass of controls.

Movements in contract liabilities are as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

At 1 January �õ�S�Ü�S�Ú 44,850 91,865
Revenue recognised that was included in the 
 contract liabilities at the beginning of the 
 year

�õ�Ë�‹�Š���]�¥�Ò��
À�Y
 �Š�½�©�×	B

(44,850) (91,865)
Forward sale deposits and instalments 
 received during the year

�Ë�«�×�_�Y�Ã�‚�V
/�2�–�¿
 �±�‚�ù�› 94,746 44,850 
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(i) �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�Þ�ê�å�Õ��

r�›�2�Ë�;��4.75%�� 6.72%���¹�f

(ii) �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�Ì�ê�å�Õ��

r �› �2�Ë�; � � �§�÷5.7%�� 8.80%�€�Z�g�S�X
�Ë�j4.75%�� 8.00%�•���¹�f

(iii) � õ �Z �g �Z �g �Ë �d �Z �Ü �g �d �S �Ú �d � I � ü �> 
 r
�2�Ë�;���§�÷3.90%�� 7.28%�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j
4.86%�� 7.28%�•���¹�f

28. BORROWINGS

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Bank loans �Õ��
r�›
 –  Secured  –  �Þ�ê�å (i) – 296,033
 –  Unsecured  –  �Ì�ê�å (ii) 910,640 932,640     

910,640 1,228,673     

Other borrowings �I�ü�>
r (iii)
 –  Secured  –  �Þ�ê�å 3,634,844 3,056,581
 –  Unsecured  –  �Ì�ê�å 50,870 50,870     

3,685,714 3,107,451     

Total borrowings �>
r�<�X 4,596,354 4,336,124
     

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2019, secured bank loans bore interest at 
rates from 4.75% to 6.72% per annum.

(ii) Unsecured bank loans bear interest at rates ranging from 
5.7% to 8.80% (2019: 4.75% to 8.00%) per annum as at 31 
December 2020.

(iii) Other borrowings bear interest at rates ranging from 3.90% to 
7.28% (2019: 4.86% to 7.28%) per annum as at 31 December 
2020.
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r �€�ƒ�•

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I
«� �>

r�Y�”�›
‹�1�½�h�j

�_�õ�<�À
r�›�ð�U�¿�J�Ð�ï�[�<�Ò�+�•�€�

�<�<�À�t�x�<�Ò
â�›�•�d�<�*�&�=�Ò�‰�[�O
�Æ1,808,207,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ
1,830,501,000�©�•�Y�ð�•�Õ���¿�I�ü�>
r

�€�I�•�<�X�[�O�Æ1,144,567,000�©�€�Z�g�S
�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ1,005,361,000�©�•�Š�C�‚�•�d
�¿�<�X� [ �O�Æ663,640,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X
�Ë�j�[�O�Æ758,700,000�©�•�¿�[�O�Æ�g�©

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ66,440,000�©�•�ì�½
�¢��
r�›�X�D�Ô�1�X�›���Œ�”�›�Û
œ�Œ��
���S�Ú�‚
��¼	Î���±�9
²�õ�S�Ë�«�¿�S�Ë
���µ�”�•�Š�Q�‚�d
²�m�C�µ�”�f

28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2020, borrowings of the Group were 
repayable as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Within 1 year or on demand �S�Ë�«�Ð�2���Ë 1,970,990 2,163,276
Over 1 year but within 2 years �S�Ë�ø�j�(�”
t�@�G�Ë 362,679 560,332
Over 2 years but within 5 years �G�Ë�ø�j�(�”
t�@�ž�Ë 2,262,685 1,612,516    

2,625,364 2,172,848    

4,596,354 4,336,124
    

Due to breach of loan covenants and/or occurrence 
of default events (including the breach of cross 
default clauses), certain bank and other borrowings 
with the aggregate carrying amount of approximately 
RMB1,808,207,000 (2019: RMB1,830,501,000), in which 
the aggregate amount of RMB1,144,567,000 (2019: 
RMB1,005,361,000) was past due, and aggregate 
amounts of RMB663,640,000 (2019: RMB758,700,000) 
and nil (2019: RMB66,440,000) were repayable within 
one year and after one year respectively from the end 
of reporting date based on the agreed scheduled 
repayments set out in the respective loan agreements 
had been due for immediate payment.
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â�›�m�C�µ�”�Y�B
�¤�d�Q�‚�µ�”�Y�>
r�½�h�j

� J � C � ‚ � ( � _ � õ � ï � [ � < � Ò � + � •� €� 
 � < � < � À
� t � x � < � Ò 
 â � ›� •� þ 
 ² � m � C � µ � ” � Y � > 
 r � Ð
�ù � ; � ¹ �± �9 �Ò�‰�[ �O�Æ3,188,000�©�€�Z
�g�S�X�Ë�j�[ �O�Æ16,127,000 �©�•�¿�[�O
�Æ355,983,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë� j � [ �O�Æ
264,318,000�©�•�d�Š���]�I�ü�Ð�ù�›
°�f

28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Borrowings due for repayment, based on the scheduled 
repayment terms set out in the loan agreements and 
without taking into account the effect of any immediate 
repayment on cross default clause are as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Within 1 year or on demand �S�Ë�«�Ð�2���Ë 1,970,990 2,096,836
Over 1 year but within 2 years �S�Ë�ø�j�(�”
t�@�G�Ë 362,679 626,772
Over 2 years but within 5 years �G�Ë�ø�j�(�”
t�@�ž�Ë 2,262,685 1,612,516    

4,596,354 4,336,124
    

The interest payables of borrowings not yet past due  
but due for immediate payment due to occurrence 
of default events (including the breach of cross 
default clauses) and borrowings that have become 
past due amounting to approximately RMB3,188,000 
(2019: RMB16,127,000) and RMB355,983,000 (2019: 
RMB264,318,000) respectively were included in the 
other payables.
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�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�Þ�ê�å�Õ
��
r�›�e�Ì�ê�å�Õ��
r�›�e�Þ�ê�å�I�ü�>

 r �¿ � Ì �ê �å � I �ü �> 
 r �± �9 �Ò� [ �O �Æ�g �©

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ148,534,000�©�•�e�[
�O�Æ247,000,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ
254,999,000�©�•�e�[�O�Æ846,697,000�©

�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ550,958,000�©�•�¿�[
�O�Æ50,870,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[ �O�Æ
50,870,000�©�•�Š�C�‚�¿
²�C�Û�µ�”�f��
�
�>
r�2�Ë�;���§�÷3.9%�� 8.80%�€�Z�g�S
�X�Ë�j4.86%�� 7.28%�•���¹�d�C�‚���u�2
�§�÷1.95%�� 4.40%�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j2.43%
�� 3.64%�•�Y�Ë�;�����Q�X�.�n�¹�f��
��Þ
�ê�å�>
r�ø�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
�*�&�=�±�9�Ò�[�O�Æ305,406,000�©�¿�[
�O�Æ103,687,000�©�Y�i�•
®�$�Æ�ø�¿�J
�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�±�9�‰�[�O
�Æ528,104,000�©�¿�[�O�Æ119,563,000�©
�Y�i�•
®�$�Æ�ø�¿�J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê�•�*�ê
�å�f

�j���Þ�ê�å�I�ü�>
r�[�O�Æ58,514,000�©
�u�_�I
«� �õSuper Grace�¿ Oriental Wise
�Y�p�Æ�*�ê�å�d�(�_�I�®�!�e�I�®�!�Y�ð
�•�•�n�®�!�e�ë�¹�Ù�¿
›�p�p���±�‹�[�*
�Ä�­�f

28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2020, a secured bank loan, an 
unsecured bank loan, secured other borrowings 
and unsecured other borrowings of approximately 
RMB nil (2019: RMB148,534,000), RMB247,000,000 
(2019: RMB254,999,000), RMB846,697,000 (2019: 
RMB550,958,000)  and RMB50,870,000 (2019: 
RMB50,870,000) respectively, that have been past due 
and due for immediate payment. These borrowings 
carried interest at rates ranging from 3.9% to 8.80% 
(2019: 4.86% to 7.28%) per annum and also carried 
additional penalty interest at rate ranging from 1.95% 
to 4.40% (2019: 2.43% to 3.64%) per annum after past 
due. These secured borrowings are secured by coal 
mining rights and property, plant and equipment with a 
carrying amount of approximately RMB305,406,000 and 
RMB103,687,000 as at 31 December 2020 respectively 
(2019: Coal mining rights and property, plant and 
equipment with RMB528,104,000 and RMB119,563,000 
respectively).

Of the above-mentioned secured other borrowings, 
RMB58,514,000 are also secured by the Group’s 
equity interest in Super Grace and Oriental Wise and 
guaranteed by the Company, certain subsidiaries of the 
Company, related parties and Mr. Xu, the controlling 
shareholder.
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7�S
œ���*�M�#�®�!���m
�S �…
 � �Q �X �D�d �ø �Â � ¯ �G 
œ�Õ� � �Ô �7 �+
�J �µ � ” �Õ � � 
 r � › �¿ � ´ �ë � ; � ¹ �¿ �n � ¹ �¥ � •
�±�9�Ò�[�O�Æ4,027,188,000�©�¿�[�O�Æ
582,028,000�©�f�I
«� �M�#�4�©�‰�d
�
�Q �X �D�Y 
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28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group 
entered into the Settlement Agreement with an asset 
management company in the PRC, to reduce the 
amounts of outstanding bank loans assigned by two 
banks and the relevant interest and penalty interest 
amounting to approximately RMB4,027,188,000 and 
RMB582,028,000 in total respectively. The management 
of the Group considers that the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement are substantially different as the discounted 
present value of the cash flows under the new terms 
discounted using the original effective interest rate 
is different from the discounted present value of the 
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability by 
more than 10 per cent. Accordingly, such modification 
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
financial liability. Therefore, the Group derecognised 
the original borrowings outstanding and recognised 
new borrowings measured at fair value as at the date 
of extinguishment. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the borrowings derecognised and the fair 
value of the new borrowings recognised amounting to 
approximately RMB1,904,853,000 is recognised in profit 
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In March 2020, in respect of the above-mentioned 
borrowings, the Group further entered into a legally 
binding supplemental agreement (“Supplemental 
Settlement Agreement”) with the asset management 
company to revise and extend the repayment schedule 
for year of 2020 and 2021. The repayment schedule for 
year of 2022 remained unchanged. The management of 
the Group considers that the terms of the Supplemental 
Settlement Agreement are not substantially different 
from the Settlement Agreement as the discounted 
present value of the cash flows under the revised terms 
discounted using the original effective interest rate 
is different from the discounted present value of the 
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability by 
less than 10 per cent. Accordingly, such modification 
of terms was accounted for as non-substant ial 
modification, and the adjustment of approximately 
RMB10,700,000 to the carrying amount of the financial 
liability was recognised as other losses as set out in 
note 8 at the date of modification.
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28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In December 2020, the Group further entered into a 
legally binding supplemental agreement (“Supplemental 
Settlement Agreement II”) with the asset management 
company to revise and extend the repayment schedule 
for December 2020 and year of 2021. The repayment 
schedule for December 2020 has been changed to 
2023. The management of the Group considers that 
the terms of the Supplemental Settlement Agreement 
II are not substantially different from the Supplemental 
Settlement Agreement as the discounted present value 
of the cash flows under the revised terms discounted 
using the original effective interest rate is different from 
the discounted present value of the remaining cash 
flows of the original financial liability by less than 10 
per cent. Accordingly, such modification of terms was 
accounted for as non-substantial modification, and the 
adjustment of approximately RMB183,651,000 to the 
carrying amount of the financial liability was recognised 
as other losses as set out in note 8 at the date of 
modification. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying 
amount of the Group’s borrowings from the asset 
management was approximately RMB2,788,147,000 (31 
December 2019: RMB2,505,623,000).

The Sett lement Agreement contained a default 
clause which the Group will be required to repay the 
outstanding balance of the original borrowings and 
interest payable of approximately RMB4,027,188,000 
and RMB582,028,000 respectively if the Group fails to 
repay the new borrowings by instalments in accordance 
with the respective repayment schedule. The directors 
of the Company are of the opinion that there is no event 
of default as at the end of the reporting period.
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28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Of the Group’s borrowings, aggregate principal 
amounts of RMB691,848,000 (2019: RMB691,848,000) 
as at 31 December 2020 had been defaulted with 
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28. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s total borrowings are secured by the 
following assets of the Group:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
�•
W �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

Property, plant and equipment �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê 15 590,361 1,017,438
Coal mining rights �i�•
®�$�Æ 16 1,942,800 4,017,884
Inventories �À�¬ 21 1,023 1,015
     

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s total 
borrowings are also secured by other receivables of a 
related company of which Mr. Xu is the shareholder, 
a property held by Mr. Xu, Fortune Pearls equity 
interest in the Company and the Group’s equity interest 
in Huameiao Energy, Xingtao Coal, Fengxi Coal, 
Chongsheng Coal, Xinglong Coal, Hongyuan Coal, 
Shuozhou Guangfa, Super Grace and Oriental Wise. As 
at 31 December 2020, total borrowings of approximately 
RMB4,596,354,000 (2019: RMB4,336,124,000) were 
guaranteed by the Company, certain subsidiaries of the 
Company, related parties and/or Mr. Xu (note 37(b)).
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29. ACCRUED RECLAMATION OBLIGATIONS

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

At 1 January �õ�S�Ü�S�Ú 124,010 114,465
Interest charge on unwinding of 
 discounts (note 9(ii))

�±�Q
h�$�˜�;�¹
š�Õ
 �€�•
W 9(ii)�• 9,910 9,545    

At 31 December �õ�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 133,920 124,010
    

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Within 1 year �S�Ë�« 2,805 3,819
Over 1 year but within 2 years �S�Ë�ø�j�(�”
t�@�G�Ë 926 1,495    

3,731 5,314
Less:  Amount due for settlement  

 within 12 months shown  
 under current liabilities

�¯�j �t
���
À
°�h�•�j�Y 
 12�H�Ü�«�Q�‚
��Q�Y 
 �›
° (2,805) (3,819)    

Amount due for settlement after 
 12 months shown under 
 non-current liabilities

�¢�t
���
À
°�h�•�j�Y
 12�H�Ü���Q�‚
��Q�Y
 �›
° 926 1,495
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(a) �Æ	B�Å�±�
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(b) �p�I

31. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing 
ba lances o f  each componen t  o f  t he Group ’s 
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity.

(b) Share capital

Amount
�–�X

No. of share  RMB’000
�p�p �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each �Ê�p�&�=0.10�¥�©�Y�w�·�p
Authorised �,�›
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 
 2019 and 31 December 2020

�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú�e
 �Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
 �¿�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 20,000,000,000 1,763,000

Ordinary shares, issued and 
 fully paid

�w�·�p�d�Š�ï���¿�®��

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 
 2019 and 31 December 2020

�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú�e
 �Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
 �¿�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 2,493,413,985 211,224
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31. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

On 31 December  2012,  the Company i ssued 
convertible securities to Fortune Pearl with a principal 
value of HKD194,700,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB157,872,000). The direct transact ion costs 
attributable to the convertible securities amounted to 
approximately RMB941,000.

The convertible securities are convertible at the option 
of the holder of convertible securities into ordinary 
shares of the Company at any time after 31 December 
2012 at the initial conversion price of HKD1.65 per 
ordinary share of the Company (subject to anti-dilutive 
adjustments). While the convertible securities confer 
a right to receive distributions at 3% per annum, the 
Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to defer a 
distribution pursuant to the terms of the convertible 
securities.

The convertible securities have no maturity date and 
are redeemable at the option of the Company at 100% 
or 50% of the principal amount of the convertible 
securities each time, on any distribution payment date 
at the face value of the outstanding principal amount of 
the convertible securities to be redeemed plus 100% or 
50% (as the case may be) of distributions accrued to 
such date.

As the convertible securities have no contractual 
obl igation to repay i ts principal nor to pay any 
distributions, they do not meet the definition for 
classification of a financial liabilities under IAS 32. As 
a result, the whole instrument is classified as equity, 
and respective distributions if and when declared are 
treated as equity dividends.
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31. ���I�e�·�ê�¿�p�¹ �€�ƒ�•  

(c) �Q�n�ã	t���l�p�Ç�N �€�ƒ�•  

� Ú � � � Z � g � Z � g � Ë � d � Z � Ü � g � d � S � Ú � ß � Ë
� � �d� I 
«�   �o�¿�1� I �Ë� ��€ 5,841,000�¥
�©�€�´�…�õ�Ò�[�O�Æ4,942,000�©�•�•�¿�@�»
�Ë���€ 17,523,000�¥�©�€�´ �…�õ�Ò�[ �O�Æ
16,224,000�©�•�•�±�|�Ò23,364,000�¥�©�€�́
�…�õ�Ò�[�O�Æ21,166,000�©�•�Y�›
°�€�Ú��
�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß�Ë���j�o�¿
�1���‚
œ�È�·�±�|5,841,000�¥�©�€�´�…�õ
�Ò�[�O�Æ5,208,000�©�•�•�f�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d
�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�(�Ì�]���È�·�±�|�€�Z�g�S
�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�j17,523,000�¥�©�€�́
�…�õ�Ò�[�O�Æ15,624,000�©�•�•���]�I�®�!
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(d) �f�Y

(i) �p�…�P��

�I
«� �Y�p�…�P���*�
�<�j(i)�õ�@
�»�Ë���ï���-�p�…�Ô�*�[�Y�P���i
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�ø�p�…�‰
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Z�Å�±�Ð
�ù � › 
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t���Š�ï��
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 l � \ � � � � � ] �p�…�P
���*�f

31. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Perpetual subordinated convertible securities 
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group 
elected to distribute approximately HKD23,364,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB21,166,000) in respect 
of current year (which amounted to HKD5,841,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,942,000)) and 
prior years (which amounted to HKD17,523,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB16,224,000)) (year 
ended 31 December 2019: elected to defer distribution 
of HKD5,841,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB5,208,000) in respect of the period). As at 31 
December 2020, the accumulated deferred distribution 
of nil (31 December 2019: HKD17,523,000 (equivalent 
to approximately RMB15,624,000)) are included in the 
reserves of the Company available for distribution.

(d) Deficit

(i) Share premium

The share premium account of the Group 
includes: (i) the premium arising from the issue 
of new shares in prior years; (ii) the expense 
incurred in connection with issuance of new 
shares in prior years; (iii) dividends declared and 
paid in prior years; and (iv) amount transferred 
from share-based compensation reserve upon 
exercise of share options.

On 6 January 2016, 215,000,000 shares 
were allotted and issued to the Creditor by 
capitalisation of part of the Payables. The 
excess of the fair value of shares issued totalling 
HKD33,325,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB27,822,000) over the nominal value of the 
total number of ordinary shares issued was 
credited to the share premium account, after 
deducting the issuing expenses.
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31. ���I�e�·�ê�¿�p�¹ �€�ƒ�•  

(d) �f�Y �€�ƒ�•  

(ii) �¥�;�·�ê
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31. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(CONTINUED)

(d) Deficit (continued)

(ii) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the dif ference 
between the aggregate amount of paid-in 
capital of the subsidiaries of the Company and 
the amount of share capital of the Company 
transferred and issued to Fortune Pearl in 
exchange for the entire equity interests in all 
members of the Group as part of a reorganisation 
on 12 June 2009.

(iii) Reserves

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations 
applicable to wholly-foreign-owned companies, 
certain entities within the Group are required to 
allocate certain portion (not less than 10%), as 
determined by their Board of Directors, of their 
profit after tax in accordance with PRC GAAP to 
the statutory reserve fund (the SRF) until such 
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital.

The SRF is non-d is t r ibu tab le o ther than 
in the event of l iquidation and, subject to 
certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC 
regulations, can be used to offset accumulated 
losses or be capitalised as issued capital.
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31. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(CONTINUED)

(d) Deficit (continued)

(iii) Reserves (continued)

Specific reserve maintenance and production 
funds

According to relevant PRC regulations, the Group 
is required to transfer an amount to specific 
reserve for the maintenance and production 
funds and other related expenditures based 
on coal production volume. The movement of 
specific reserve is as follows:

RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�©   

At 1 January 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú 121,742
Provision for the year �Ë�«�a�ê 239,112
Utilisation for the year �Ë�«
��\ (184,297)   

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�¿
 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú 176,557

Provision for the year �Ë�«�a�ê 175,296
Utilisation for the year �Ë�«
��\ (112,817)   

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 239,036
   

(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign 
exchange differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
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31. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(CONTINUED)

(d) Deficit (continued)

(v) Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve represents 
the value of directors and employee services in 
respect of share options granted under a Pre-
IPO share option scheme and a share option 
scheme as set out in note 32.

(vi) Distributability of reserves

The application of the share premium account 
is governed by the Companies Law of the 
Cayman Islands. Under the Companies Law 
of the Cayman Islands, the funds in share 
premium account and contributed surplus are 
distributable to shareholders of the Company 
provided that immediately following the date on 
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, 
the Company will be in a position to pay off its 
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of 
business.

As a t  31 December  2019,  the rese rves 
of the Company avai lable for distr ibut ion 
comprise share premium, contributed surplus 
and accumulated losses of approximately 
RMB102,538,000. As at 31 December 2020, 
the Company did not have any distributable 
reserves.
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31. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital 
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, 
by pricing products and services commensurately with 
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a 
reasonable cost. The Group’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from that of prior year.

The capi ta l s t ructure of the Group consists of 
net debt, which included net of cash and cash 
equivalents, borrowings, as disclosed in notes 25 
and 28 respectively, and equity attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company, comprising share capital, 
perpetual subordinated convertible securities and 
deficit, as disclosed in note 30.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages 
its capital structure to maintain a balance between 
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible 
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages 
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and 
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of 
changes in economic conditions.

(f) Dividends

The directors of the Company do not recommend the 
payment of any dividends to its ordinary shareholders 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the sole shareholders written resolutions 
passed on 12 June 2009, the Company adopted a Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme (the Pre-IPO Share Option) 
whereby the grantees were granted the rights to 
subscribe for shares of the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon 
the exercise of all options granted under the Pre-IPO 
Share Option is 8,400,000 shares which were granted 
on 12 June 2009 with the subscription price of HKD2.52 
per share.

Each option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
has a vesting period of one to three years commencing 
from the Listing Date and the options are exercisable 
for a period of 10 years. The Company has no legal 
or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the 
option in cash.

(i) The terms and conditions of the grants are as 
follows:

Date of Grant
Number of 

options Vesting conditions
Contractual

 life of options


¬���Ú�‚ �…�p�Æ�p�f �å�n
â�•
�…�p�Æ�Y
�¥�Ò�‚�"    

12 June 2009 8,400,000 30% on both of the first and second 
 anniversary of the Listing Date, 40% on 
 the third anniversary of the Listing Date

10 years 

�Z�g�g�X�Ë
 �¬�Ü�d�Z�Ú

8,400,000 �j�9�Ú�‚���K�S�¿�K�Z
„�Ë�i�‰30%�d
 �j�9�Ú�‚���K�g
„�Ë�‰40%

10�Ë
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise 
prices of Pre-IPO Share Options are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Outstanding number of options
� �J���4�…�p�Æ�p�f 

Type of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

Balance at
1 January

2020

Lapsed
during

the year

Balance at
31 December

2020

�Õ
¬�[�ó�9 
¬���Ú�‚ ���4�‚ ���4��
�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë

�S�Ü�S�Ú�Y
��q �Ë�«�0�Ö

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y


��q
HKD ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
�¥�© �w�… �w�… �w�…       

Employees
�‡�p

In aggregate 12 June 2009 12 June 2009 to 
 11 June 2019

1.26 – – –

�<�X �Z�g�g�X�Ë�¬�Ü�d�Z�Ú �Z�g�g�X�Ë�¬�Ü�d�Z�Ú��
 �Z�g�S�X�Ë�¬�Ü�d�S�Ú

1.26 – – –

       

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Outstanding number of options
� �J���4�…�p�Æ�p�f 

Type of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

Balance at
1 January

2019

Lapsed
during

the year

Balance at
31 December

2019

�Õ
¬�[�ó�9 
¬���Ú�‚ ���4�‚ ���4��
�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë

�S�Ü�S�Ú�Y
��q �Ë�«�0�Ö

�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y


��q
HKD ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
�¥�© �w�… �w�… �w�…       

Employees
�‡�p

In aggregate 12 June 2009 12 June 2009 to 
 11 June 2019

1.26 4,800 (4,800) –

�<�X �Z�g�g�X�Ë�¬�Ü�d�Z�Ú �Z�g�g�X�Ë�¬�Ü�d�Z�Ú��
 �Z�g�S�X�Ë�¬�Ü�d�S�Ú

1.26 4,800 (4,800) –
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32. � Æ � ; � i � � � 4 � � � ½ � h � j � € � ƒ � • � Æ 
 ° � h � Y � ‚ � � � … � q l ` ¹ p A � S @ � € � Z � g � S � X � Ë � j � Ì � • � f � Æ � ; � i � õ � q � ¥ � Ò � ‚ � " � ‰ 0 . 5 �Ë�f�õ�ql`€pøÀ�€� �̃…�ql`€pøÀ�™�•�f
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32. �2�Æ	B
��Q�ø�p�…�‰
?�þ�˜�ù�› �€�ƒ�•  

(b) �…�p�Æ���Œ�€�ƒ�•

�ª���4�ì�½�…�p�Æ���Œ�¿�I�®�!�‚���I�ü
�…�p�Æ���Œ�…�Û�Š
¬���ò� �J���4�Y�Ô�Þ
�…�p�Æ���þ��	•�ï���Y�ð	÷�p�…�p�f�d�¯
�Ì�_
{�p���­�X
‹�1�h�d�¥�•�”
{
t�@�”
�Û�Š�ï���p�…�<�p�Y30%�f	ð�¢�¾�p���­
�X�d�I�Æ�d�J
„�p���4�Ú���£�T�[�Œ�-
¬
���…�p�Æ�…�Ú�€�
�<���Ú�•�Ã12�H�Ü�‚
œ�Š
�£���[�{
¬���Ð
Z�š
¬���˜�…�p�Æ�€�
�<�Š
���4�e�Š
W�V�¿�J���4�…�p�Æ�•���d�6�¬�ç
�Š�ï���¿
Z�š�ï���Y�p�…�<�p
t�@�Œ�-
¬
���…�p�Æ�…�Ú�Y�Š�ï���p�…�<�p1%�d�Æ�”

{�£���[�{
¬���…�p�Æ�f

�…�p�Æ���Œ
°�h�Y�…�p�Æ���ì�½�…�p�Æ��
�Œ
â�›�õ�I�®�!�è�+�6�>�›�Y�‚
œ�«�‡�Û
���4�d�þ�Þ�ë�‚
œ��
¬���Ú�‚	Î���”
{
t
�@10�Ë�f

(i) 
¬��
â�›�¿
â�•�½�h�j

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares that may be issued 
upon exercise of all options which then has been 
granted and have yet to be exercised under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes 
of the Company shall not, in the absence of the 
shareholders approval, in aggregate exceed 30% of 
the shares in issue from time to time. Unless approved 
by the shareholders, no option may be granted to any 
person which if exercised in full would result in the 
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon 
exercise of the share options already granted or to be 
granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled, 
and outstanding share option) in the 12-month period 
up to and including the date of such new grant 
exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in issue as 
at the date of such new grant.

An option under the Share Option Scheme may 
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as 
determined by the board of directors of the Company, 
which must not be more than 10 years from the date of 
the grant.

(i) The terms and conditions of the grants are as 
follows:

Date of grant
Number of 

options Vesting conditions
Contractual

life of options


¬���Ú�‚ �…�p�Æ�p�f �å�n
â�•
�…�p�Æ�Y
�¥�Ò�‚�"    

17 January 2012 20,751,196 40% on the grant date, 30% on both of the 
 first and second anniversary of the 
 grant date

10 years

�Z�g�S�Z�Ë
 �S�Ü�d�V�Ú

20,751,196 �õ
¬���Ú�‚�‰40%�d�õ
¬���Ú�‚���K�S�¿
 �K�Z
„�Ë�i�‰30%

10�Ë

30 April 2015 157,500,000 40% on the grant date, 30% on both of the 
 first and second anniversary of the 
 grant date 

10 years

�Z�g�S�ž�Ë
 �,�Ü�g�d�Ú

157,500,000 �õ
¬���Ú�‚�‰40%�d�õ
¬���Ú�‚���K�S�¿
 �K�Z
„�Ë�i�‰30%

10�Ë
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32. �2�Æ	B
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(b) �…�p�Æ���Œ�€�ƒ�•

(ii) �…�p�Æ���Œ�Y�p�f�¿���Æ�;�i���4
���½�h�j
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Share option scheme (continued)

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise 
prices of share options scheme are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Outstanding number of options
� �J���4�…�p�Æ�p�f 

Type of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

Balance at
1 January

2020

Lapsed
during

the year

Balance at
31 December

2020

�Õ
¬�[�ó�9 
¬���Ú�‚ ���4�‚ ���4��
�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë

�S�Ü�S�Ú�Y
��q �Ë�«�0�Ö

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y


��q
HKD ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
�¥�© �w�… �w�… �w�…       

Executive director

B���è�+
Mr. Fung Wai Shing 30 April 2015 30 April 2015 to 

 29 April 2025
0.485 20,000 – 20,000


¹
��Ó�‹�[ �Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú �Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú��
 �Z�g�Z�ž�Ë�,�Ü�Z�d�X�Ú

Independent non-executive director
�ù�m�¢
B���è�+
Mr. Lau Sikyuen 30 April 2015 30 April 2015 to

  29 April 2025
0.485 500 – 500

���|�U�‹�[ �Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú �Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú��
 �Z�g�Z�ž�Ë�,�Ü�Z�d�X�Ú       

20,500 – 20,500       

Employees
�‡�p
In aggregate 17 January 2012 17 January 2012 to 

 16 January 2022
1.50 2,594 (1,112) 1,482

�<�X �Z�g�S�Z�Ë�S�Ü�d�V�Ú �Z�g�S�Z�Ë�S�Ü�d�V�Ú��
 �Z�g�Z�Z�Ë�S�Ü�d�¬�Ú

In aggregate 30 April 2015 30 April 2015 to
  29 April 2025

0.485 56,000 (10,000) 46,000

�<�X
�Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú

�Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú��
 �Z�g�Z�ž�Ë�,�Ü�Z�d�X�Ú       

58,594 (11,112) 47,482       

79,094 (11,112) 67,982
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32. �2�Æ	B
��Q�ø�p�…�‰
?�þ�˜�ù�› �€�ƒ�•  

(b) �…�p�Æ���Œ�€�ƒ�•

(ii) �…�p�Æ���Œ�Y�p�f�¿���Æ�;�i���4
���½�h�j�€�ƒ�•

�Ú���Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß
�Ë��

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Share option scheme (continued)

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise 
prices of share options scheme are as follows: 
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Outstanding number of options
� �J���4�…�p�Æ�p�f 

Type of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

Balance at
1 January

2019

Lapsed
during

the year

Balance at
31 December

2019

�Õ
¬�[�ó�9 
¬���Ú�‚ ���4�‚ ���4��
�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë

�S�Ü�S�Ú�Y
��q �Ë�«�0�Ö

�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�Y


��q
HKD ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
�¥�© �w�… �w�… �w�…       

Executive director

B���è�+
Mr. Fung Wai Shing* 30 April 2015 30 April 2015 to 

 29 April 2025
0.485 20,000 – 20,000


¹
��Ó�‹�[* �Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú �Z�g�S�ž�Ë�,�Ü�g�d�Ú��
 �Z�g�Z�ž�Ë�,�Ü�Z�d�X�Ú

20,-2.222 Td
<0DB90A0303D3038B035B>5.61 gs
537Tf
0 Tc 0B0A370BF7
/C0_1 1 Tf
0.028 Tc -0.028 Tw 13.123 0 Td
<025A0F670253029E03CB032C02DC0267026402DA>Tj
13.123 0 Td
<025A0F670253029E03CB032C02DC0267026402DA0407>Tj
/T1_2 1 Tf
0 Tc 0 Tw 0 -1.111 Td
( )Tj
/C0_1 1 Tf
0.028 Tc -0.028 Tw 1.003 0 Td
<025A0F67025A029E03CB032C02DC025A0264025802DA>Tj
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.003 Tc 0 Tw -27.25 -2.222 Td
Fung Wai Shing*30 AprLau Sikyuen23 0 Td
(30 April 2015 to )Tj
0 -1.111 Td
[( )-721.8 (29 April 025)]TJ
-0.003 Tw 19.009 1.1 11 Td
(0.485)Tj
8.89 0 Td
(20,000)Tj
0 Tc 0 Tw 12.021 10.288d
[( )-5Tf
0.01 Dc -0.0030sT
/G877 -0.15 Td
(20,000)Tj
/C0_1 1 Tf
01.111 c -0.028 T53.043 -2.222 Td
<0DB90A0303D3038B035B>40 021_2 1 Tf
0 T 0 -137C0E55
/C0_1 1 Tf
2DC0267026402DA>Tj
13.123 0 Td
<025A0F670253029E03CB032C02DC0267026402DA0407>Tj
/T1_2 1 Tf
0 Tc 0 Tw 0 -1.111 Td
( )Tj
/C0_1 1 Tf
0.028 Tc -0.028 Tw 1.003 0 Td
<025A0F67025A029E03CB032C02DC025A0264025802DA>Tj
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.003 Tc 0 Tw -27.25 -2.222cm
0 0 m
65.197 0 l
S
Q
BT
/
S
58j
/021_2 1 Tf
0 Tc 0 Tw 5.4 0 0 9 178.3846 441.9423 Tm
( )Tj
ET
/GS0 gs
qQ
BT
/
S
58j93222 441.0493 cm
0 0 m
70.866 0 l
S
Q
BT
9S
58j
/021_2 1 Tf
08.4251 441.9423 Tm
( )Tj
ET
/GS0 gs
q Q
BT
9S
58j93222 441.0493 cm
0 0 m
70.866 0 l

Q
BT
/G
58j
/021_2 1 Tf
08.2913 441.9423 Tm
( )Tj
ET
/GS0 gs
q 
BT
/G
58j93222 441.0493 cm
0 0 m
70.866 0 l
S
Q
BT
5G
58j
/021_2 1 Tf
02.4791 441.9423 Tm
( )Tj
ET
/GS0 gs
q 1 0 0/G
58j93222 441.0493 cm
0 0 m
70.866 0 l
SQ
BT
/
S
58j
/021_2 1 Tf
03.5027 441.9423 Tm
( )Tj
ET
/GS0 gs
q 1 0 08G
58j93222 441.0493 cm
0 0 m
70.866 0 l
S
Q
BT
/G
58j
/021_2 1 Tf
03.5027 441.9423 Tm
( )Tj
ET
/GS0 gs
q 1 0 0 1
58j93222 441.0493 cm
0 0 m
70.866 0 l
S
Q
BT
/G
58j
/021_2 1 Tf
05.55 441.9423 Tm
( )Tj
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.003 Tc 
58j93222 441.0493000
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32. �2�Æ	B
��Q�ø�p�…�‰
?�þ�˜�ù�› �€�ƒ�•  

(b) �…�p�Æ���Œ�€�ƒ�•

(ii) �…�p�Æ���Œ�Y�p�f�¿���Æ�;�i���4
���½�h�j�€�ƒ�•

* 
¹ 
 � �Ó�‹�[ �¿
»
7�÷�‹�[ �±�9�õ�Z
�g�Z�S�Ë�g�Ü�ž�Ú�¿�Z�g�S�X�Ë�,
�Ü�g�Ú�Ø�‚ � I �®�!
B�� �è�+�¿�ù�m
�¢
B���è�+�f

� õ �Z �g �Z �g �Ë �d �Z �Ü �g �d �S �Ú �d
�…�p �Æ� � �Œ
 ° � h � � � � � 4 � p �…�Y �p
�f�Ò67,982,000�p�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j
79,094,000�p�•�f

�Ú���Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß
�Ë���d�…�p�Æ���Œ
°�h�?�Ì�…�p�Æ
��
¬���¿���4�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú� �J
���4�Y�…�p�Æ�Y���Æ�;�i�õ�q�¥�Ò
�‚�"�‰5.2�Ë�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g
�d�S�Ú�j5.2�Ë�•�f�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d
�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú� �J���4�Y�…�p�Æ�Y
���Æ�;�i���4���‰�Ê�p0.52�¥�©�€�Z
�g�S�X�Ë�j0.52�¥�©�•�f

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Share option scheme (continued)

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise 
prices of share options scheme are as follows: 
(continued)

* Mr. Fung Wai Shing and Mr. Huang Guosheng 
resigned as executive director and independent non-
executive director of the Company on 5 March 2021 
and 3 April 2019 respectively.

At 31 December 2020, the number of the 
exercisable shares under the Share Option 
Scheme was approximately 67,982,000 (2019: 
79,094,000) shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no 
share option under the Share Option Scheme 
were granted and exercised (2019: nil).

The share options outstanding at 31 December 
2020 had a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 5.2 years (31 December 2019: 
5.2 years). The weighted average exercise 
price for the outstanding share options as at 31 
December 2020 was HKD0.52 (2019: HKD0.52) 
per share.
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33. 	Ì
��Ä�­�¥�Ò

�õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I�®�!�1
�I�ð�•�I�®�!�•�n�®�!��
¬�Y�S	›�Õ���¦

r�¿�>
r�Ò�[�O�Æ5,936,820,000�©�€�Z�g
�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ5,936,820,000�©�•�£�ð�•
�Õ���¿�I�ü�>
r
À�Æ�[�¦�m�®�!�Ä�­�f�ä
�. �d� � �½�•
W37(c)�Ô�Þ�£�d�õ�Z�g�Z�g
�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�d�I�®�!�¿�I�®�!�ð�•
�•�n�®�!�1�S
œ�L���®�!��
¬�Y�>
r�Ò�[
�O�Æ270,000,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�[�O�Æ
619,090,000�©�•�£�ð�•�Õ���¿�S�¤�I�ü�>

r
À�Æ�[�¦�m�®�!�Ä�­�f

�I
«� �(�J�1�L���®�!�Y�S	›�Õ���¦
r��

¬�Y�Ä�­�½�©�‚���–�D��
À�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j
�Ì�•�d�_�õ�I�®�!�è�+�©�‰�–�D�Ä�­��
À�Y
�–�X�(�”� �}�f

34. �–�D�,�ˆ�M�#�¿�–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�= 

(a) �–�D�ˆ�H�ó�9

33. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Company has executed 
corporate guarantee to certain banks and other 
borrowing creditors with respect to general banking 
facilities and borrowings granted to certain subsidiaries 
of the Company of approximately RMB5,936,820,000 
(2019:  RMB5,936,820,000).  In  add i t ion,  as a t 
31 December 2020, the Company and cer ta in 
subsidiaries of the Company have executed corporate 
guarantee to certain banks and an other borrowing 
creditor with respect to borrowings granted to an 
associate of approximately RMB270,000,000 (2019: 
RMB619,090,000) as disclosed in note 37 (c).

The Group has not recognised any financial liability 
(2019: nil) in respect of the guarantees granted for 
general banking facilities of the associate as the 
directors of the Company considered that the amounts 
of financial guarantee liabilities are immaterial.

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Financial assets �–�D���*
At amortised cost �2�Å�V�Ó�I��
Ž 702,792 330,481

Financial liabilities �–�D��
À
At amortised cost �2�Å�V�Ó�I��
Ž 7,601,506 7,346,477
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34. �–�D�,�ˆ�M�#�¿�–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�= �€�ƒ�•  
 

(b) 	Ì
��,�ˆ�M�#�f�z�¿�A
�

�I
«� �6�¯�M
l�8
��@�û�•�&�Á�¦
r�e�t

����–�e�;���¿�¬�Æ�,�ˆ�f�I
«� �&�Á�Y
��
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest risk and 
currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
businesses. The Group’s exposure to these risks and 
the financial risk management policies and practices 
used by the Group to manage these risks are described 
below.

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s credit 
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables 
and other receivables. Management has a 
credit policy in place and the exposure to credit 
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit 
evaluations are performed on all customers 
requiring credit over a certain amount. In view 
of the history of business dealings with the 
customers and the sound collection history of 
the receivables due from them, management 
believes that there is no material credit risk 
inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivable 
balance due from the customers and other 
d e b t o r s .  M a n a g e m e n t  m a k e s  p e r i o d i c 
assessment on the recoverability of the trade 
receivables and other receivables based on 
historical payment records, the length of the 
overdue period, the financial strength of the 
debtors and whether there is any dispute with 
the debtors. In addition, the Group performs 
impairment assessment under ECL on trade 
receivables individually or based on provision 
matrix. In this regard, the management considers 
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly 
reduced.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited 
because the counterparties are banks/financial 
institutions with high credit rating assigned by 
internal credit-rating agencies.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by 
geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, 
which accounted for 99.9% (2019: 99.8%) of the 
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2020.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by 
customers is 93.3% (2019: 77.1%) as at 31 
December 2020. In addition, 59.26% (2019: 
44.72%) of the net other receivables was due 
from the five largest other debtors as at 31 
December 2020. These five largest other debtors 
include state-owned enterprise in the PRC and 
companies with good past credit records with 
the Group. Other than these, the Group does not 
have any other significant concentration of credit 
risk.

Financial asset with credit risk exposure

Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowance for trade 
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, 
which is calculated using a provision matrix. 
As the Group’s historical credit loss experience 
does not indicate significant different loss 
patterns for different customer segments, the 
loss allowance based on past due status is 
not further distinguished between the Group’s 
different customer bases.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(continued)

Financial asset with credit risk exposure 
(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about 
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for 
trade receivables as follow:

Expected
 loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss  
allowance

�k�‚�f�&�� �*�&�<�= �f�&�a�ê
RMB’000 RMB’000

�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

As at 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
Type 1: Customers within the Group 
 expected that they will pay on time:

�ó�91 �j�k�‚
Z�_�Û�ù�›�Y
 �I
«� ���Ò�j

Neither past due nor impaired �J�C�‚�u�J�*�¯�= 0% 74,460 –

Past due for less than 60 days �C�‚�Ç�õ60�Â 3.35% 367,902 12,311
Past due for more than 60 days but 
 less than 180 days

�C�‚60�Â�ø�j�(�Ç�õ180�Â
– – –

Past due for more than 180 days but 
 less than one year

�C�‚180�Â�ø�j�(�Ç�õ�S�Ë
3.35% 96 3     

442,458 12,314     

Type 2: Credit impaired customer: �ó�92 �j�¦
r�¯�=���Ò�j
Past due more than one year �C�‚�S�Ë�ø�j 100% 43,342 43,342     

485,800 55,656
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(continued)

Financial asset with credit risk exposure 
(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Expected
 loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss  
allowance

�k�‚�f�&�� �*�&�<�= �f�&�a�ê
RMB’000 RMB’000

�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©     

As at 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
Type 1: Customers within the Group 
 expected that they will pay on 
 time:

�ó�91 �j�k�‚
Z�_�Û�ù�›�Y
 �I
«� ���Ò�j

Neither past due nor impaired �J�C�‚�u�J�*�¯�= 0% 86,017 –

Past due for less than 60 days �C�‚�Ç�õ60�Â 6.96% 15,205 1,058
Past due for more than 60 days but 
 less than 180 days

�C�‚60�Â�ø�j�(�Ç�õ180�Â
6.93% 29,753 2,062

Past due for more than 180 days but 
 less than one year

�C�‚180�Â�ø�j�(�Ç�õ�S�Ë
51.87% 2,536 1,263     

133,511 4,383     

Type 2: Credit impaired customer: �ó�92 �j�¦
r�¯�=���Ò�j
Past due more than one year �C�‚�S�Ë�ø�j 100% 127,912 127,912     

261,423 132,295
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(continued)

Financial asset with credit risk exposure 
(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on 
historical observed default rate and are adjusted 
for forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is 
regularly reviewed by management to ensure 
relevant information about specific debtor is 
updated.

Movement in the loss allowance account in 
respect of trade receivables during the year is as 
follows:

RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�©   

As at 1 January 2019 under IFRS 9 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú�õ
7�ç	Ì
�
 ���S�_�Æ�K9 �î�h 253,734

Impairment loss recognised �Š�½�©�¯�=�f�& 40,522
Reversal during the year �Ë�«�a�« (48,523)
Write-off �Û�V (114,155)
Exchange realignment 
Ò�3� �Æ 717   

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 132,295

Impairment loss recognised �Š�½�©�¯�=�f�& 11,855
Reversal during the year �Ë�«�a�« (43,591)
Write-off �Û�V (44,042)
Exchange realignment 
Ò�3� �Æ (860)   

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 55,657
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(continued)

Other receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance equal 
to 12m ECL of other receivables. For those 
balances expected to have significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group 
apply lifetime ECL based on aging for classes 
with different credit risk characteristics and 
exposures.

As at 31 December 2020, included in other 
receivables of the Group are amounts due 
from non-controlling shareholders of aggregate 
gross carrying amounts of RMB322,703,000 
(2019: RMB322,703,000). Loss allowance of 
RMB322,703,000 (2019: RMB322,703,000) was 
provided for these amounts as at 31 December 
2020 since the management of the Group 
considers the probability of default is significant 
in view that these amounts have been overdue 
for a long period of time.

For the remaining other non-trade receivables 
of the Group, the management of the Group 
considers the probability of default by assessing 
the counterparties financial background and 
creditability and accordingly, loss allowance 
of  approx imate ly RMB22,065,000 (2019: 
RMB20,422,000)  was prov ided as a t  31 
December 2020.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(continued)

Other receivables (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in 
respect of other receivables during the year is as 
follows:

RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�©   

As at 31 December 2018 under IAS 39 and 
 1 January 2019 under IFRS9

�õ�Z�g�S�^�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�õ
7�ç
 �6���_�Æ�K39�î�h�¿�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �S�Ü�S�Ú�õ
7�ç	Ì
����S�_�Æ
 �K9�î�h 364,598

Impairment loss recognised �Š�½�©�¯�=�f�& 332
Reversal during the year �Ë�«�a�« (21,876)
Exchange realignment 
Ò�3� �Æ 71   

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 343,125
Impairment loss recognised �Š�½�©�¯�=�f�& 2,414
Reversal during the year �Ë�«�a�« (500)
Exchange realignment 
Ò�3� �Æ (271)   

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 344,768
   

Financial guarantee contract

At the end of the reporting period, the directors 
of the Company have performed impairment 
assessment, and concluded that there has been 
no significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the financial guarantee contract. 
Accordingly, any loss allowance for financial 
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is 
measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. 
No loss allowance was recognised as at 31 
December 2020 in accordance with IFRS 9 as 
the amount is immaterial. Details of the financial 
guarantee contract are set out in note 32.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group 
are responsible for their own cash management, 
but the borrowings are subject to approval 
by the parent company’s management. The 
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity 
requirements and its compliance with any 
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains 
suff icient reserves of cash and adequate 
committed lines of funding from major financial 
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in 
the short and longer term.

The fo l lowing tables show the remaining 
contractual maturities at the reporting date of the 
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and 
lease liabilities which are based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows (including interest 
payments computed using contractual rates or, 
if floating, based on rates current at the reporting 
date) and the earliest date the Group can be 
required to pay.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2019
�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

Within
one year or
on demand

More than
one year

and
less than

five years

Total
undiscounted

cash flow
Carrying
amount

�S�Ë�«�Ð
�2���Ë

�S�Ë��
�(�ž�Ë�«

�J�±�$�$�–
�t
Ž�<�X �*�&�=

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©      

Current �C�‚
Trade payables �Ð�ù
q�ø�›
° 333,947 – 333,947 333,947
Other payables �I�ü�Ð�ù�›
° 2,533,691 – 2,533,691 2,531,846
Lease liabilities 	a�#��
À 4,032 – 4,032 3,819
Borrowings �>
r 2,403,028 – 2,403,028 2,163,276      

5,274,698 – 5,274,698 5,032,888      

Non-current �¢�C�‚
Other payables �I�ü�Ð�ù�›
° – 23,055 23,055 20,550
Lease liabilities 	a�#��
À – 1,525 1,525 1,495
Borrowings �>
r – 2,319,111 2,319,111 2,172,848      

– 2,343,691 2,343,691 2,194,893      

5,274,698 2,343,691 7,618,389 7,227,781      

Maximum exposure of financial 
 guarantee contracts (note 33)

	Ì
��Ä�­�¥�Ò�ð�}�,�ˆ
 �€�•
W 33�• 335,895 297,090 632,985 619,090
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for f inancial 
guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts 
the Group could be required to settle under the 
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if 
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to 
the guarantee. Based on expectations at the 
end of the reporting period, the Group considers 
that it is more likely than not that no amount will 
be payable under the arrangement. However, 
this estimate is subject to change depending 
on the probability of the counterparty claiming 
under the guarantee which is a function of the 
likelihood that the financial receivables held by 
the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer 
credit losses.

The table below summarises the maturi ty 
analysis of borrowings and financial guarantee 
with respect to borrowings granted to an 
associate with a repayment on cross demand 
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments 
set out in the loan agreements. The amounts 
include interest payments computed using 
contractual rates. As a result, these amounts 
were greater than the amounts disclosed in the 
on demand time band in the maturity analysis 
contained in the above table.

The directors of the Company do not consider 
that it is probable that the bank and other 
borrowing creditors will exercise their discretion 
to demand immediate repayment.  The directors 
of the Company believe that such borrowings 
of the Group and an associate will be repaid in 
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates 
set out in the loan agreements. 
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity analysis Borrowings and financial
guarantee with respect to borrowings granted to

an associate subject to a repayment on cross
default clause based on scheduled repayments

�Q�‚�Ú�±���1�ì�½���Œ�”�›�a�2�t�x�<�Ò
â�›�µ�”�•�"�Y�>
r�¿

¬�š�S
œ�L���®�!�>
r�Y	Ì
��Ä�­�¥�Ò

Within
one year or
on demand

More than
one year

and
less than

five years

Total
undiscounted

cash flow
Carrying
amount

�S�Ë�«�Ð
�2���Ë

�S�Ë��
�(�ž�Ë�«

�J�±�$�$�–
�t
Ž�<�X �*�&�=

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©      

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

Borrowings �>
r 2,242,030 2,916,392 5,158,422 4,596,354
Maximum exposure of financial 
 guarantee contracts

	Ì
��Ä�­�¥�Ò�ð�}�,�ˆ
270,000 – 270,000 270,000

      

At 31 December 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú

Borrowings �>
r 2,403,028 2,319,111 4,722,139 4,336,124
Maximum exposure of financial 
 guarantee contracts

	Ì
��Ä�­�¥�Ò�ð�}�,�ˆ
335,895 297,090 632,985 619,090

      

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 
ne t  cu r ren t  l i ab i l i t i es  o f  app rox ima te l y 
R M B 4 , 2 0 4 , 7 4 9 , 0 0 0 .  A s  d i s c l o s e d  i n 
note 28, certain borrowings amounted to 
RMB1,144,567,000 have yet been renewed or 
rolled over upon maturity and carried interest at 
3.90% to 8.80% per annum. The liquidity of the 
Group is dependent on its ability to implement 
the measures to improve the Group’s immediate 
liquidity and cash flows as described in note 2.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily 
from pledged and restricted deposits, cash and 
cash equivalents and borrowings. Borrowings 
issued at variable rates and at fixed rates expose 
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair 
value interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s 
interest rate profile as monitored by management 
is set out as below:

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile 
of the Group’s net borrowings at the reporting 
date:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Effective 
interest rate 

per annum
Carrying

value

Effective 
interest rate 
per annum

Carrying
value

�¼�ç�Ë�;�� �*�&�= �¼�ç�Ë�;�� �*�&�=
RMB’000 RMB’000

�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©      

Fixed rate borrowings �x�›�;���>
r�j
Borrowings �>
r 4.91%-8.80% 4,034,195 4.75%-7.28% 4,012,800

Variable rate net 
 borrowings:

���
�;���>
r���X�j

Borrowings �>
r 3.90%-5.7% 562,159 4.35%-5.70% 323,324
Pledged and restricted 
 deposits

�Š�ê�å�¿�a�"�S�À�›
0.00%-0.35% (403) 0.00%-0.35% (15,229)

Cash and cash equivalents �$�–�¿�$�–
����J 0.00%-0.35% (154,904) 0.00%-0.35% (159,695)      

406,852 148,400      

Total net borrowings �<�>
r���X 4,441,047 4,161,200
      

Net fixed rate borrowings 
 as a percentage of total 
 net borrowings

�x�›�;���>
r���X�&
 �<�>
r���X�Y�õ�±�â

90.84% 96.4%
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

It is estimated that a general increase/decrease 
of 100 basis points in the interest rates of variable 
rate net borrowings prevailing at the reporting 
date, with all other variables held constant, 
would decrease/increase the Group’s profit after 
tax and accumulated losses by approximately 
RMB4,080,000 (2019: RMB1,626,000) for the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the 
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after 
tax and consolidated equity that would arise 
assuming that the change in interest rates had 
occurred at the reporting date and had been 
applied to re-measure those floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group which 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate 
risk at the reporting date. The impact on the 
Group’s profit after tax and consolidated equity 
is estimated as an annualised impact on interest 
expense of such a change in interest rates. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2019.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(continued)

(iv) Foreign currency risk

RMB is not freely convert ible into foreign 
currencies. All foreign exchange transactions 
involving RMB must take place through the 
Peoples Bank of China or other institutions 
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The 
exchange rate adopted for the foreign exchange 
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by 
the Peoples Bank of China that are determined 
largely by supply and demand. The Group 
is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily 
through purchases giving rise to cash balances 
that are denominated in USD, while all the other 
operations of the Group are mainly transacted in 
RMB. Changes in exchange rate affect the RMB 
value of purchase costs of commodities that are 
denominated in foreign currencies.

The following table demonstrates the Group’s 
exposure at the reporting date to currency risk 
arising from recognised assets or liabilities 
denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the entity to which they 
relate.

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

Denominated
in USD

Denominated 
in USD

�ø�Õ�©���= �ø�Õ�©���=
RMB’000 RMB’000

�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Cash and cash equivalents �$�–�¿�$�–
����J 480 514
    

No sensitivity analysis has been presented as, 
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
the foreign exchange risk associated with the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities will not be 
significant.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Fair values of financial instruments

The carry ing amounts of the Group’s f inancial 
instruments carried at amortised cost are not materially 
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2020 
and 2019.

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At each repor t ing da te,  cap i ta l  commi tments 
outstanding not provided for in the consolidated 
financial statements are as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Property, plant and equipment �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê 34,966 9,653
    

36. OPERATING LEASES

Leases as lessor

The future minimum lease payments receivable under 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Within 1 year �S�Ë�« 2,427 8,397
    

The Group leases vessels under various agreements 
which typically run for an initial period of 20 to 30 days 
(2019: 13 to 105 days). The agreements do not include 
an extension option.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has conducted certain transactions with 
related parties of the Group, including (i) Mr. Xu, the 
controlling shareholder of the Company, and his close 
family members; (ii) Mr. Xu Da, an executive director 
and his close family members; (iii) Qinhuangdao Qinfa 
Industry Group Co., Ltd. (“Qinfa Industry”), a company 
controlled by Mr. Xu; (iv) Yuanfan Technology Co., 
Ltd. (“Yuanfan Technology”), a company controlled 
by Mr. Xu Da and Qinfa Industry; (v) Tongmei Qinfa, 
an associate; (vi) Bo Hai Investment Limited (Bo Hai 
Investment), a company controlled by Mr. Xu; and (vii) 
Fortune Pearl, the ultimate holding company of the 
Company.

Particulars of transactions between the Group and the 
above related parties for the year are as follows:

(a) Recurring transactions

Transaction amount for 
the years ended

 31 December
Payable outstanding 
as at 31 December

�Ú���d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�ß
�Ë���Y�t�ø�–�X

�õ�d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú
� �J�Õ�ù�Y�Ð�ù�›
°

2020 2019 2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë �Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©      

Sales of coal to �V
/�i�•�š
 –  Tongmei Qinfa  –  �•�i	b�ï – 83,253 – 29,753
Chartering 	a�#�š
 –  Tongmei Qinfa  –  �•�i	b�ï – – 1,141 1,220
Purchase of coal from 
®�…�i�•��
 –  Tongmei Qinfa  –  �•�i	b�ï 47,304 – 176,335 149,031
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37. �ë�¹�Ù�t�ø �€�ƒ�•

(b) �ë�¹�Ù�d�6�Y�Ä�­

(c) �d�6�š�L���®�!�Y�Ä�­

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Guarantees provided by related parties

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Guarantees of borrowings provided 
 by Mr. Xu and his close family 
 members

�±�‹�[�¿�I�\�û�K�n�d�6�Y
 �>
r�Ä�­

7,069,620 6,934,130
Guarantees of borrowings provided 
 by Mr. Xu Da and his close family 
 members

�±�:�‹�[�¿�I�\�û�K�n�d�6�Y
 �>
r�Ä�­

5,859,830 5,662,830
Guarantees of borrowings provided 
 by Qinfa Industry

	b�ï�¼�8�d�6�Y�>
r�Ä�­
2,756,250 2,756,250

Guarantees of borrowings provided 
 by Yuanfan Technology

�Ã�É�Å�¦�d�6�Y�>
r�Ä�­
152,000 152,000

Guarantees of borrowings provided 
 by Bo Hai Investment

�²	��³���d�6�Y�>
r�Ä�­
2,035,000 2,035,000

Guarantees of borrowings provided 
 by Fortune Pearl

�œ�E�d�6�Y�>
r�Ä�­
2,800,000 2,035,000

    

(c) Guarantees provided to an associate

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Guarantees given by the Group for 
 borrowings obtained by Tongmei 
 Qinfa

�I
«� �1�•�i	b�ï��
{�Y
 �>
r�d�6�Y�Ä�­

270,000 619,090
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(d) �ë�Ÿ�M�#�4�[�{�G�–

�ë�Ÿ�M�#�4�[�{�8�\
Ÿ�Ð
œ
Ÿ�¹�Þ�•�Œ�e
�8�¬�¿
›�S�I
«� �z
��Y�Æ�b�¿�ª�‚�Y�[
�{�€�
�<�I�®�!�è�+�•�f�ë�Ÿ�M�#�4�[�{�Y
�G�–�½�h�j

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel are those persons holding 
positions with authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, 
directly or indirectly, including the directors of the 
Company. Key management personnel remuneration 
are as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Directors fee �è�+�š�– 4,347 4,823
Salaries, allowances and benefits in 
 kind

�Z�–�e�u
h�¿�¼�J�E�;
17,129 15,767

Contributions to retirement benefit 
 schemes

	×�~�E�;���Œ�6�›
477 358

Share-based payments �ø�p�…�‰
?�þ�˜�ù�› – –    

21,953 20,948
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) Outstanding litigations

(i) Litigation claims relating to repayment to 
non-controlling shareholders of Xingtao Coal 
Mine, Fengxi Coal Mine and Chongsheng Coal 
Mine 

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 
there were litigation claims initiated by the 
non-controlling shareholders of Xingtao Coal 
Mine, Fengxi Coal Mine and Chongsheng Coal 
Mine against the Group to demand immediate 
repayment of funds provided to the Group in 
2011 with an aggregate amount of approximately 
RMB134,414,000 before the acquisit ion of 
these coal mines by the Group. The amount of 
approximately RMB134,414,000 had already 
been recognised and offset with the amounts 
due from respective non-controlling shareholders 
in the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2020. The directors of the 
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Outstanding litigations (continued)

(iii) Litigation claims relating to repayment to 
default of repayment of bank borrowing

Subsequently to the end of the reporting period, 
on 5 February 2021, a bank filed lawsuit against 
the Group to demand immediate repayment 
of the bank borrowing with carrying amount of 
approximately RMB247,200,000 and accrued 
interest of approximately RMB2,940,000 up to 5 
February 2021. The principal of approximately 
RMB247,200,000 and respect ive interest 
charges of approximately RMB1,799,000 had 
already been recognised as borrowings and 
accrued expenses included in other payables 
respectively in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2020. Up 
to the date when the consolidated financial 
statements are authorised for issue, these 
litigation claims are still in progress.

(iv) Litigation claims relating to the performance 
of the contract execution between Yu Lin 
Zhong Kuang Wan Tong Construction Limited 
Company (“Yu Lin Zhong Kuang”) and 
Hongyuan Coal

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 
Yu Lin Zhong Kuang initiated a litigation claim 
against the Group to demand for economic 
l osses i n  re la t i on  to  the suspens ion o f 
construction project of coal mining infrastructure, 
of which amount are related to compensation 
to the staff costs and equipment costs incurred 
during the implementation of the project. The 
claim amount is approximately RMB19,899,000. 
The directors of the Company are of the 
opinion that the Group has a valid ground to 
defend against the claim, and no provision for 
the litigation claims has been provided in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2020. Up to the date when the 
consolidated financial statements are authorised 
for issue, these litigation claims are still in 
progress.
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Outstanding litigations (continued)

(v) Litigation claims relating to the performance 
of the purchase contract execution between 
Shanxi Yunxin International Trade Co., Ltd 
(“Shanxi Yunxin”) and Huameiao Energy, 
Xingtao Coal, Fengxi Coal and Chongsheng 
Coal

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 
there was a litigation claim initiated by Shanxi 
Yunxin against the Group to demand immediate 
repayment of overdue payable in relation to 
purchases of consumables and equipment 
by the Group. The overall claim amount of 
approximately RMB71,862,000, which including 
the aforesaid payable to th is suppl ier of 
approximately RMB54,124,000 and late penalty 
interest of approximately RMB17,738,000. Up 
to the date when the consolidated financial 
statements are authorised for issue, the litigation 
claim is still in progress. The directors of the 
Company are of the opinion that the provision 
for the above l i t igation is suff icient in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2020.

Other than the disclosure of above, as at 31 December 
2020, the Group was not involved in any other material 
litigation or arbitration. As far as the directors of the 
Company were aware, the Group had no other material 
litigation or claim which was pending or threatened 
against the Group. As at 31 December 2020, the Group 
was the defendant of certain non-material litigations, 
and also a party to certain litigations arising from the 
ordinary course of business. The likely outcome of 
these contingent liabilities, litigations or other legal 
proceedings cannot be ascertained at present, but 
the directors of the Company believe that any possible 
legal liability which may be incurred from the aforesaid 
cases will not have any material impact on the financial 
position of the Group.
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial guarantees issued

As at the end of each reporting period, the Group has 
issued the guarantees to certain banks and an other 
borrowing creditor in respect of borrowings made by 
Tongmei Qinfa, an associate of the Group. Under the 
guarantee, the Group that is a party to the guarantee 
are jointly and severally liable for any of the borrowings 
of Tongmei Qinfa from those banks and an other 
borrowing creditor.

The maximum liability of the Group at 31 December 
2020 under the guarantees issued is a portion of the 
outstanding amount of the borrowings of Tongmei Qinfa 
amounting to approximately RMB270,000,000 (2019: 
RMB619,090,000).

(c) Borrowing default clause

The Settlement Agreement entered into between the 
Group and an asset management company contained a 
default clause which the Group will be required to repay 
the outstanding balance of the original borrowings 
and interest payable if the Group fails to repay the 
new borrowings by instalments in accordance with 
the respective repayment schedule. Particulars of the 
Settlement Agreement are disclosed in noted 28.
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of 
the Company at the end of the year is as follows:

2020 2019
�Z�g�Z�g�Ë �Z�g�S�X�Ë

RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©    

Non-current assets �¢�t
����*
Investments in subsidiaries �õ�•�n�®�!�˜�³�� – 322,895

Current assets �t
����*
Other receivables and prepayments �I�ü�Ð�×�›
°�¿�k�ù�› 421 –

Amounts due from subsidiaries �Ð�×�•�n�®�!�›
° – 138,437
Cash and cash equivalents �$�–�¿�$�–
����J 37 52    

458 138,489
Current liabilities �t
���
À
Other payables �I�ü�Ð�ù�›
° (13,009) (3,314)    

Net current (liabilities)/assets �t
��€��
À���X�•�J���*���= (12,551) 135,175    

Net (liabilities)/assets �€��
À���X�•�J���*���= (12,551) 458,070    

Capital and reserves �p�I�¿�·�ê
Share capital �p�I 211,224 211,224
Perpetual subordinated convertible 
 securities

�Q�n�ã	t���l�p�Ç�N
156,931 156,931

(Deficit)/surplus �€�f�Y�•�J�®�q (380,706) 89,915    

Total (deficit)/equity �€�f�Y�•�J�Æ	B�<�X (12,551) 458,070
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors of China Qinfa Group Limited on 31 March 
2021.

Xu Da Bai Tao
�±�: �c�ñ

Director Director
�è�+ �è�+
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual 
components of equity between the beginning and the 
end of the year are set out below:

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Perpetual 
subordinated 

convertible 
securities

Contributed 
surplus #

Exchange 
reserve

Share-based 
compensation

reserve
Accumulated

losses
Total 

equity

�p�I �p�…�P��
�Q�n�ã	t

���l�p�Ç�N �®�]�®�q # 
Ò�3�·�ê

�ø�p�…
�‰
?�þ�˜
�G�–�·�ê �]���f�& �Æ	B�<�X

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
�[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�© �[�O�Æ�w�©
Note 30(b) Note 30(d)(I) Note 30(c) Note 30(d)(iv)
�•
W30(b) �•
W30(d)(l) �•
W30(c) �•
W30(d)(iv)          

At 1 January 2019 �õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú 211,224 344,186* 156,931 658,719* (31,786)* 16,677* (898,793)* 457,158
Loss for the year �Ë�«�f�& – – – – – – (8,174) (8,174)
Other comprehensive income �I�ü�Œ�&�×�]
Foreign currency translation 
 differences

�.�Æ�l�Q�¨�X
– – – – 9,086 – – 9,086          

Total comprehensive income �Œ�&�×�]�<�X – – – – 9,086 – (8,174) 912          

Transactions with equity 
 shareholders, recorded 
 directly in equity 

�~�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�˜�t�ø�d
 �õ�Æ	B�\
Ÿ�•�*

Share options lapsed �Š�0�Ö�…�p�Æ – – – – – (6,600) 6,600 –          

Total transactions with equity 
 shareholders

�~�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�˜�t�ø
 �<�X – – – – – (6,600) 6,600 –          

At 31 December 2019 and 1 
 January 2020

�õ�Z�g�S�X�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú�¿
 �Z�g�Z�g�Ë�S�Ü�S�Ú 211,224 344,186* 156,931 658,719* (22,700)* 10,077* (900,367)* 458,070

Loss for the year �Ë�«�f�& – – – – (13) – (421,874) (421,887)
Other comprehensive loss �I�ü�Œ�&�f�&
Foreign currency translation 
 differences

�.�Æ�l�Q�¨�X
– – – – (27,568) – – (27,568)          

Total comprehensive loss �Œ�&�f�&�<�X – – – – (27,581) – (421,874) (449,455)          

Transactions with equity 
 shareholders, recorded 
 directly in equity

�~�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�˜�t�ø�d
 �õ�Æ	B�\
Ÿ�•�*

Distribution relating to perpetual 
 subordinated convertible 
 securities

�Þ�ë�Q�n�ã	t���l�p
 �Ç�N�˜�±�|

– (21,166) – – – – – (21,166)          

Total transactions with equity 
 shareholders

�~�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�˜�t�ø
 �<�X – (21,166) – – – – – (21,166)          

At 31 December 2020 �õ�Z�g�Z�g�Ë
 �d�Z�Ü�g�d�S�Ú 211,224 323,020* 156,931 658,719* (50,281)* 10,077* (1,322,241)* (12,551)
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��·�ê�*�
�<�õ�I�®�!	Ì
��K�1�Œ�«�Y�f
�Y�[�O�Æ380,706,000�©�€�Z�g�S�X�Ë�j�®�q
�[�O�Æ89,915,000�©�•�f
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40. ���S�‚���+
°

�Þ�ë��
/�S�4�u�t�Y�ô���t�ø 

�õ�Z�g�Z�S�Ë�g�Ü�d�Ú�d�I
«� �~�ù�m�K
�g�Ù���m�X�D�ê�™�}�d�ø��
/�_�I�®�!
œ

Ÿ�Œ� � � • �n �® � ! � ¹ �Þ �Y �S �4 �u � t �d �$ �–
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96,951,000�©�•�f�Ú��
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

* T h e s e  r e s e r v e s  a c c o u n t s  c o m p r i s e  t h e  d e f i c i t  o f 
RMB380,706,000 (2019: surplus of RMB89,915,000) in the 
statement of financial position of the Company.

# Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference 
between the net asset value of Qinfa Investment Limited 
acquired pursuant to the reorganisation and the nominal value 
of the share issued by the Company in exchange.

40. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Major transaction in relation to the disposal of a 
vessel

On 10 March 2021,  the Group en tered in to a 
memorandum of agreement with an independent 
third party to dispose the vessel owned by an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at cash 
considerat ion of approximately USD14,900,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB96,951,000). Up to 
the date when the consolidated financial statements 
are authorised for issue, the disposal has not been 
completed.
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